Welcome to the rather late 2nd ever edition of

MG’s Almost Annual Too Bloody 
Big By Half Worldcon Report

Yes this is late, almost redundant by now, but as I understand it some of you crazy people actually look forward to reading this tediously detailed and overly long report of mine. Someone, naming no names (cough, Sophelia, cough), actually said that “nearly as many people look forward to this report as those looking forward to ADWD.”  Erm, well I don’t know about that but let’s hope I can avoid a “Montrealesse” knot and actually get the report finished this year....
Photographs to accompany this report can be found at MG’s BWB Photo Gallery.
This report aims to not only be a thorough and complete review of everything that took place during Worldcon 2009 including details blatantly stolen from other boarder’s posts, but also a personal account of what took place prior to the Con in New York City and after the Con in Niagara Falls and Toronto. If you want to skip to a part of this enormous bloody report that you are actually interested in you can use CTRL+click on one of these handy little jumplink thingies below to take you there.
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Pre-Con: New York City

Monday 3 August 2009

My journey started at 9.30 am with a taxi to Basingstoke rail station, a train to Reading then a train to Paddington and a train back out of London to Heathrow Terminal 5 and you know what that means.  Yup, I flew British Airways and yes my flight was overbooked.  What that means is the system could not book my seat on the plane and I was forced to stand around by the check in desks until the computer decided whether there just might be a spare seat somewhere on board for me.

With the benefit of hindsight what I should have done is checked in via the Internet the night before but for some reason this idea, as convenient as it is, just does not sit well with me. I just don’t get it. How can you check in for something until you are actually physically there in person? This fails to make sense to me. Clearly this is a sign that I am getting old.
So I waited. As a reward for waiting I was given a £3 voucher for the nearby Café Nero. I bought myself a breakfast ciabatta (which I also waited for) and a bottle of water (which I did not need to wait for) and settled down to wait. The waiting for the ciabatta almost caused me to miss the end of my wait for the wait for a seat on the plane. But fortunately the waiting was not in vain and I was awarded with a seat.

Rushing through security control I then had to run, bypassing any opportunity for duty free shopping to make it to my gate on time. I need not have bothered. Six people who had successfully checked in had failed to make it to the gate and so their luggage had to be found and removed from the aircraft before we could leave. More waiting. Everyone waited for another half hour until eventually the plane taxied out to the runway and finally took off.
It was a pleasant flight. I started reading ‘The Scar’ by China Miéville which I greatly enjoyed. The meal was edible. The kind American grandpa next to me even passed me an extra sandwich which his wife in the window seat could not manage. Are you starting to see what I mean by tediously detailed?  Are you people still reading? Oh man.

We landed at JFK International and I joined the long line for passport control. Removing my mobile phone [US translation: cellphone] from my bag I switched it on to send a text to Lucky Pierre to let him know I had landed. But despite having a good signal I kept receiving a ‘Text could not be sent’ message. I continued trying all through the wait for passport control and the wait for my baggage. I was straight through customs and heading for the AirTrain service before I tried again. Still no text sent. After failing again at the Subway station while waiting for the train there I decided not to bother trying again.
So you can imagine my surprise when 5 minutes out of the station I receive a text from LP asking if I have landed yet. Not knowing if my reply would work I sent the following message: “yes I have landed but my phone won’t let me text!” which on reflection was not the most sensible thing I could have texted back since it did actually work this time. There was much confusion and amusement had by LP, Dracarys and Ben Iowa waiting for me at the Marriott Marquis Hotel in Times Square which is where I was on the way to.
After successfully changing subway lines I made it out and into Times Square and dragged my heavy laden luggage behind me, battling my way through the throngs of tourists gazing upwards at the pretty lights like flightless zombiefied moths. I made it to the hotel and following the instructions LP left on the board I took the elevator to the 8th floor to check in.
Now despite meeting LP the previous year in Denver I actually did not know his real first name. He was either Lucky Pierre, LP or just ‘J’. So when the receptionist asked me the name of the person who had made the reservation I actually could not give it to her. She then said to me with a trace of amusement “do you often stay in hotel rooms with men you don’t know the names of?”  “But I do know them,” I protested, “they are my friends.” I don’t think she was convinced but she gave me the keycard anyway. Clearly she thought I was meeting up with a bunch of homosexual men for a big gay orgy in her hotel.

So I turn around to leave and there is Drac striding across the lobby towards me and we have a big man-hug greeting right there and then.  Oh what timing.

After quickly dumping my luggage in the room on the 30 something or other floor we return to the 8th floor to find the bar and there sat by the window overlooking Times Square is LP and Ben. More man-hugs, yeah. We have a quick drink and catch up on things. LP has been in NYC a few days, already met up with Zabzy for lunch, been to see ‘Billy Elliot’ on his own and then ‘Hair’ complete with full frontal nudity with Drac. That’s the actors who were naked not Drac. I heard a rumour that Ben had actually had an alcoholic drink, but I am not sure I believe it…..
Ben then left us for a bit, he went to ‘The Strand’, the biggest bookshop in New York City. I like to imagine he fell to his knees and wept openly at the sight of so many beautiful books gathered in one place and available for purchase. Later I asked him – “did you buy any books?”  This was the wrong question. The correct question should have been - ‘how many books did you buy?’ The correct answer was six.
With Ben gone, LP, Drac and I went up to the room so that I could change and then we took a Subway ride downtown to find somewhere to have dinner. Knowing that we would be spending the evening at ‘The Comedy Cellar’ we picked ‘The Olive Tree’ restaurant right above it. They have very cool tables made of blackboard slate and even provide chalk so you can doodle while you eat. I had a very nice burger and we scrawled our names on the table to mark our territory.

Now it is getting close to the time when The Comedy Cellar opens. This place was recommended to us by Zabzy and it was Lugajetboygirl who phoned up and booked 5 tickets for us all (that is LP, Drac, Ben, MG and Luga – no Zabzy yet even though I have mentioned her name twice already). So we mention to our waiter that we are going to the club downstairs and since the restaurant and comedy club are essentially the same place, and being a pretty helpful chap, the waiter asks about our booking and offers to go downstairs and collect our tickets for us. Therefore he needs the name we booked under and LP gives Luga’s name, her real name obviously, and while most people reading this will know her real name it is bad form to write that down in a place like this without asking which is why I will always be using board names for everyone mentioned in this report, though of course there are some strange people whose board names are their real names – Tycho I’m looking at you dude!
The waiter upon hearing LP giving a girls name looks at him kinda funny and LP feels the need to explain that he is not Luga. The waiter smiles and says “of course” as he leaves to go get the tickets. At this point two coincidental events occur. One: Luga comes in through the door of The Olive Tree to join us. Two: LP’s phone rings and he goes outside to take the call. So one minute later when the waiter returns with the tickets he finds Luga sat where LP was previously to which he says “Damn, you guys are good. Do you do matinees?” [image: image1.png]



The Comedy Cellar
Time to head down to the Comedy Cellar, which is the point we are reunited with Ben, who is carrying a large bag of newly purchased books, arriving at just that very moment. We take our seats, get drinks and wait as the place starts to fill up. It is a cosy feeling narrow kind of place with a stage along one side and a row of tables right up against the stage edge with a walkway space behind that to some more tables against the wall. We are sat in a booth towards the left (as we sit) of the stage, the other side of the entrance which is almost opposite the stage and close to the bar which is at the end, though there is a waiter service so that nobody need stand up and block the view.
Our compeer [US translation: emcee] for the night was a comedian named Arty and he was really funny, lots of energy and he really got the crowd into it.  Predictably he asked people where they are from and when he asked our group Drac answered and said “Minnesota”, to which Arty said “so this is the first time you’ve ever seen a black man, right.”  Arty introduced several comedians who came on and did 10-15 minute sets.  Not sure how many guys there were, about 8 or 9 I think and they were all very good. Some famous guys from appearances on US TV including one bitter old fuck whose jokes about how he appeared on ‘Ellen’ turned his career one way and he is now a total failure.  Dark humour for sure but it seemed a little too close to the truth for comfort really.
At one point during the evening some guy arrives in the club, apparently a regular of the club that Arty knows and he says “Hey Greg, is this your date for the night?  Wow.  Is this your first date? And you brought her here?  To a place where you can get free entrance?  See honey he is a cheap mother fucker you know what I am saying.  Don’t expect to much from him see.  So how is the date going so far Greg?”  They both laughed their asses off and had a great time as did everyone else.

One very memorable guy did a piece about how some girls like to say hello by giving their friends a “chest-bump”.  To which he said, “What the fuck? Guys don’t go around doing things like that. Or perhaps we should. Perhaps I should take my trousers down and dick slap this entire front row in the face.”

As you might expect there was a lot of material about race during the night.  One of the last acts of the evening got on stage and asked the crowd “Hey where are all my black homies at”. Total silence. The entire crowd is white. “Oh shit, it’s like that is it!” Later on he said, “Is Arty doing alright, give it up for Arty.” The only person in the club who cheered was LP. “Ah there you go, just one gay dude.” [image: image2.png]



At about 11 pm the gig is over for us. They offer to let people stay for the second set which runs later into the night at a reduced price but they cut us off at the bar and LP is not happy about this so we leave. I was feeling pretty jetlagged by this point and most of the others are getting tired so we head for the subway station. However LP decides he is not done and we leave him in The Village. Luga goes back to her hotel and Drac, Ben and I return to the Marriot Marquis and go to bed.

LP accidentally wakes me up a little after 4 am when he gets back to the hotel room after doing whatever it was that he had been doing with Enrique. Ahem.
Tuesday 4 August 2009

Tuesday started early for us and indeed this is something that you will notice pretty often throughout this review. This was not a trip of staying in bed till midday at all.  Practically every day was up and out by 9 am. Our reason for being up early today being that we had to meet Lany Cassandra who would be arriving in New York at around 11 am.
So for breakfast we went to ‘Ellen’s Diner’, another recommendation of Zabzy – who has now been mentioned three times so far in this review without actually making an appearance, but fear not, she will soon so keep reading. Ellen’s is a diner which employs out of work stage show singers as waiting staff and all day long they take turns to sing their favourite songs for the customers. Their hope is to get out of the diner and back into a Broadway show as soon as possible. Not sure how often those dreams gets realised but they certainly all performed well for us while we were there.
I ordered blueberry pancakes which made me happy.  LP had a steak which was huge and he only had half of, so I finished it off for him. Ben had some maple syrup pancakes which came with a big dollop of cream which for some reason mine didn’t, but Ben did not want the cream so he gave that to me.  Drac had a cooked breakfast but could not finish off his eggs, so what else could I do but help him out with those.  Yes I was full afterwards.

To wash it down I had a real strawberry shake which did not arrive immediately and I wondered where it had got to. Then I saw our waitress was the current singer and she was making her way over to me carrying my shake on a tray in one hand and the microphone in the other. It was oddly touching to be served with a strawberry milkshake by a waitress singing ‘Lipstick on your Collar’, like she was singing just for me or something. During the chorus at the end of the song she sang “Lipstick on your collar told a tale on you, told a tale on you” pointing at me.  Don’t believe a word of it folks, I’m totally innocent. Really.
By the time we were finished with breakfast Lany’s train had arrived. Fortunately somebody was there to meet her at Penn station and help Lany with her many large and heavy bags – Quoth. Not many people know this but Quoth is quite a shy old bird who needs coaxing to BWB events and had he known that he would be meeting a bunch of us today he might not have shown. But he has been away from the board for a while and he thought he was just meeting Lany today. A cunning plan indeed!
After arranging to meet on a street corner en-route between Penn Station and the Americana Inn where Lany would be staying tonight, we made our way there and stopped in the shade to wait for Quoth and Lany to arrive. Eventually they appeared on the other side of the street from us and we waved hellos until the lights changed. LP and Ben rushed out and hugged them both hello right there in the middle of the street. The traffic stopped just a few feet from them waiting impatiently for the red light to change to green. “Maybe we should get out of the street?” someone said and they made their way over to where Drac and I were sensibly waiting. More hello hugs and kisses. It was so great to finally meet Lany after missing her the previous year.
Lany’s room in the Americana Inn was barely big enough to fit a single bed in. The hotel itself is not particularly great, sorry to say, but it was cheap. Lany checked in and dropped off her luggage and we then walked a few blocks to take a subway ride downtown. Our destination – a Mexican restaurant in Little Italy where we intended to have lunch. This being only a little over an hour since my huge breakfast, not good planning on my part. However when we got there we discovered that the Mexican restaurant was closed, the owners away on vacation. So we picked a very smart looking Italian restaurant a couple of doors further down and had lunch there.
Beautiful food, too good to leave and so I forced myself to finish my bolognaise. We asked the waiter to take a group photo of us and he reacted like he had never seen a camera before in his life. He did look kind of strange using it but it was all a joke and he managed to take a couple of nice pics for us. From here our group split up, Ben went to the Natural History Museum for the afternoon while the rest of us wandered the Times Square area looking for a Costume shop that LP was sure he had seen somewhere around there.

Drac left us and headed back to the Marriott, I think he was tired and needed a nap or something. LP was ripping on Drac most of the day because when he woke up that morning Drac had built a divide down the middle of the double bed with the pillows. “That’s it, you hide in your little pillow fort” LP would say. This later led to LP saying he would tunnel his way in, make a little ‘glory hole’ for him to squeeze through. In one morose moment LP said “I am just a glory hole for your feeling and affection.” Deep and yet wholly disturbing at the same time…
Anyway, where was I? Oh yes, the costume shop. So we finally found the costume shop and it has to be said this is the biggest and most impressive costume shop I have ever been in. They had everything in that place, any type of costume you can imagine - they had. This is where LP bought his now infamous hat. He did also buy some stockings that he intended to wear but never did. Let’s all be thankful that event was averted somehow.

LP, Lany, Quoth and I spent the rest of the afternoon in a Celtic Pub, talking, drinking and having fun. There were some Cajun fries and a little bit of kissing involved, but I won’t tell you who was kissing who. Suffice to say it did not involve me….
Drac eventually left the hotel and joined us at the pub for one drink. Then it was time to start making our way to the ‘Gingerman’ where the BWB would be assembling tonight. First we stopped by the Marriott quickly to drop the hat off and pick up beads and glo-sticks. We also brought along LP’s laptop with the idea being that we would set up a webcast of the event for the Pebble that Hides in Montreal, but in the end that did not happen, we could not get things working right.

We then needed to go over to the Americana so Lany could get changed. At this point things became a little confused. An already drunk LP and a not so drunk Lany and Quoth took a taxi from the Marriott, while Drac and I walked there. See if you can guess who got there first. Yup we were sat outside Lany’s hotel room for a good 15 minutes before they finally arrived, minus LP. Apparently he had decided to wait in the Australian bar just down the street. So a quick change later the four of us go down there to retrieve LP only to discover he had already left. We had no idea where he was at so we just walked on down to the Gingerman where we ran into Ben who was waiting outside and then we found LP inside chatting with Stego and Lady Stego, who had been the first to arrive.
BWB NYC Meet up @ The Gingerman

We secured a few sofas in the back room area which the BWB successfully held for the entire evening. There was a waitress assigned to our area who took our orders and brought food and drinks throughout the night, she worked like a trooper for us all and I believe she got a lot of big tips from us at the end of the night.
The first boarder to arrive after we had gotten ourselves comfortable was BJT who brought her husband along with her. I spent a little bit of time talking with BJT and I discovered that she works as an administrator for a children’s literacy charity in NYC called Teachers & Writers Collaborative. The light bulb went on in my head. The reason being that in my luggage I had brought with me 9 books for a Prize Draw Event to be held at our BWB party on the Saturday night and when I asked people what kind of charity we should donate our proceeds to they said children’s literacy and well, I had not arranged which one yet. Clearly this was a predestined fate. More on the prize draw and our donation to TWC later.
Next to arrive was Turinqui Calima who also brought her husband. For those that did not know - TC got married in May 2009 and she kept this pretty quiet from the board. He has not yet met any of her family, but they plan on making a trip to Sweden soon so he can meet everyone. He struck me as a really cool guy and they both look really happy together. Glad you dragged him along TC, even if we did give you guys hell for keeping it quiet. As I told TC “next time you get married we expect to be well informed, ok?” [image: image3.png]



Our next arrival was Fitheach who did not bring her husband. I had a good long chat with Fitheach about the books and the TV series, and also about the bicycle company she runs. They build classic style bicycles, so if you’re looking for a beautiful classic style bike in NYC with friendly service you know where to go. It turns out that Fitheach is also going to be in Montreal at the weekend, not specifically for the con, I think she was coming up to visit friends or family or something, but she would be coming along to the BWB party on Saturday which is cool. A short while later Luga arrived too.
At long last Zabzy makes her first physical appearance in this review! She came dressed smart from an important day in the office, her husband had made his first argument in High Court today and the HP (Husband Person as she calls him on the board) arrived later on with some other lawyer friends to celebrate in the same place we were at. How handy!

Yagathai was the next to arrive. He was sat chatting with Mrs Stego and Luga at first and then decided he had to jump onto the sofa to sit where Stego had just been between Zabzy and Fitheach (even though he had never met either of them) saying “I need to sit here” and insisted we took his picture.
At around 9 o’clock BJT and her husband left because they had to get home and had an early start the next day. Quoth also left a short while after this to get back to New Jersey. Lucky Pierre spent most of the evening giving away beads and glo-sticks to all BWB folks and also to any other person who came to sit down in the back room area of the Gingerman. In fact LP spent more time chatting with non-BWB people as he did chatting with actual BWB peeps.

I was trying to keep my eye out for the friend of the X’s that they had said would be coming along to the meet. He has read the books but does not post on the board. The description we had was “If you see a friendly looking guy with multiple piercings and wearing (most likely) a t-shirt for a metal band wandering around, that's probably him”.  I saw one likely candidate at around this time and my suspicion was confirmed when X-Ray and Mr X arrived and he came over to join them. Since the meet up he has joined the board, I guess we made a good impression on him, and his board name is Moose (not to be confused with Moosicus the Mad Moose of course, just Moose).  There was a lot of talk about the plans for the party on Saturday, lots of catching up and good times.
But we were still missing someone – Pod! To help summon him Lany was sold a “Blame Pod” t-shirt to TC and she put it on. Lo and behold just a few minutes later Padraig arrived and everyone shouted “POD!” to greet him.  I asked Pod if he had seen TC’s shirt and he said “It is a black hole to me, I see nothing.”

Getting towards the end of our time at the Gingerman now and it was somehow decided that we should have a group photo taken. LP asked one of the guys from the other group in the back room area to take some pictures for us and he was given about four cameras to take pictures with. We all assembled in one area and then Mr X decided to sprawl out across Mo, Stego, Drac and Luga. The pictures turned out really great as you can see in the Gallery.

Right after this Lany left because she was starting to feel very tired and us party train peeps had an early morning to contend with the next day. TC and her husband left as well. Soon everyone else decided it was time to move on to someplace where they could get food and they made plans to go to a diner. I would have liked to go with but LP was pretty far drunk at this point and not really in a fit state for sitting in a diner, so Ben and I took one for the team making sure LP got back to the hotel alright. Zabzy stayed at the Gingerman with her HP and was the last person we said goodbye to as the others had already left by this point and so Ben and I walked LP back to the Marriott. He was pretty out of it really but we got back ok.
Drac stayed out with the others at the diner and I gather a good time was had by all there. It was about 1.30 am when Drac came back in, I know because I had to remind him to shut our dodgy hotel room door which needed to be properly closed by hand rather than leaving it to close itself like a proper hotel room door should. Drac decided not to make a pillow fort like he had the previous night. Probably because he discovered LP had fallen asleep completely naked. So instead Drac chose to sleep on the floor.

Wednesday 5 August 2009

Which is why Drac was the first one awake in the morning. He was up, showered and packed before everyone else at about 6 am. Gradually the rest of us woke up and did the same. Then we took a taxi down to Penn Station, we were there at 7.20 having bagels for breakfast and wondering where Pod and Luga were at. Alright we were there an hour early but it was a good job because there was quite a queue for passport inspection and plus we had to say goodbye to Ben because he was catching a train back to Iowa. Shame he could not make it to Worldcon this year but it was good to see him in NYC anyway
Eventually Pod made his arrival and we pointed him in the direction of the ticket machine and the passport control desk, but we did not see him after that and nor did we see Luga at all. You see we were waiting for our gate to be announced but unbeknownst to us Pod and Luga had found each other in the queue and were there at just the right time when the passport control desk was moved to the gate where everyone would be boarding from, this means they were at the front of the queue getting on the train first, and they did not let us know. By the time the general announcement was made we were way further back down the queue.

The upshot of all this was that Pod and Luga were sat in the furthest back carriage, a few rows down on the right, while LP, Lany, Drac and I were one carriage up from them. Well Luga had called “dibs” on sitting next to Pod the previous night anyway, I guess she got her wish. A row further back and on the left from those two was Ser Knight of Somerville who was also on the train with us. In our carriage the four of us had a row of seats across the train, two on each side. A quick word on the seats, they were large, spacious and comfortable. Loads of leg room and we would need it to squeeze in a few extra people during the journey.
The train left Penn Station a little late but it did not matter our journey to Montreal had begun.

Party Train – Woot! 

Well, that was the plan anyway, but ya know in all honesty I don’t think it ended up being like that at all. I guess 12 hours of being on a train is not that much fun. Or maybe it had something to do with all the other people in our carriage of the train….

I should explain that something like 75% of the people on this train were going to Worldcon and about 75% of those people were above the age of retirement. Now I don’t want to come across as being some kind of ageist. Far from it, some of my best friends are really old. These people are sci-fi fans, which make them cool, but let’s just say they were not at all ready to get the party started.
But at that stage we were so up for it. Excited to be on our way and to be together. We talked. Loudly.

Pod and Luga came forward to find our row of seats and stayed with us for a good couple of hours chatting and laughing. LP had already paid a visit to the dining car and was working his way through a small bottle of red wine. Or three. LP had his laptop on and the wireless Internet going. We were taking turns browsing the board, catching up on what had been going on in Montreal the night before and working out what the plans were for the evening. There was laughter and good times.
I can’t say I blame the other people on the train really. Not only were we loud but the talk was rude. Not rude as in being disrespectful to other people, but rude, as in we were swearing, talking about our lives, talking about sex. The kind of personal stuff we talk about on the board all the time and don’t really think too much about, but in this public setting and with six people talking at once and some of us become louder and drunker, to be honest, I am not sure how long I would have tolerated it either.

So finally the guy in front of us said something. He had been interjecting himself into our conversation a few times through the journey, asking if we were going to Worldcon, what group we were with, where we were staying. Just general friendly things but now his voice took on the sound of the put upon and not going to take it any more. A voice used to speaking his mind and getting his way on such matters. Here is what he said:

“That’s enough of the Con talk, I barely got any sleep last night and I think we could all use a little peace and quiet for the rest of this trip. Thank you.”

Now Lucky Pierre, being a Lucky Pierre who was on his third bottle of wine before noon was not about to take that kind of thing and he replied “This party is only just getting started my friend. Nobody is going to shut me up.” 
But something had changed. God love LP, he is such a sweet guy most of the time, but when he is drunk he is not a ‘friendly’ drunk. The conversation he had been having with Lany had been slowly taking over our group and I think most of the rest of us had been feeling somewhat apprehensive and worried about the situation. To avoid a confrontation with these old timers going to their 20 or 30th Worldcon the rest of us did shut up. Luga and Pod scarpered back to their own seats. Smart move.

Maybe we should have stood up and fought for our right to swear and drink and talk loudly on the train. But that’s not really us. I for one like peace and quiet and respect other people’s rights to having it. I am not the type to go looking for a fight with anyone. Just not my style.
We did not talk much with that guy the entire rest of the journey, but we definitely saw him a couple more times in Montreal. Look out for references to ‘That Guy from the Train’ throughout the rest of this review, especially at The Hugos [image: image4.png]



For most of the morning I was on the Board, uploading photos of the New York meeting the previous night and posting updates on our progress in the Worldcon thread and TTTNE. That’s what I was doing when the train pulled into Albany and Tycho came aboard to join us. The train was stopped in Albany for about half an hour because Amtrack was serving cake in the station. What’s that? Cake you ask – yes they were really.  You see on this particular day Amtrack was celebrating not only the 35th anniversary of Amtrack but also the 40th anniversary of this route along the Hudson opening up.

And so to celebrate there was cake. And chocolate.

Some friendly Amtrack employees walked through the train giving out free bars of Hershey’s chocolate to anyone that wanted them. I must have had 3 or 4 bars myself, oh yeah! This helped lighten spirits again and we felt quite comfortable chatting and now Pod, Luga and Tycho were sat or stood with us, seats were pretty much interchangeable for us at this point. We were not as loud as before, almost sensible you might say.

This was about the time some of us wandered up to the dining car for lunch. Tycho and Drac took their books with the intention of reading and I joined them there and completely distracted them with chit chat. I found out that Tycho was only a few days removed from having his wisdom teeth taken out. All four of them. I did the same thing a couple of years ago and was on pain killers, off work and not going anywhere for two weeks afterwards and yet here was Tycho on his feet, carrying a huge bag and a crate of beer on his way to Worldcon. I really don’t know how he managed it. Tycho I salute you as a true con hero, yet again! :salute: 
As the afternoon wore on we travelled through some beautiful landscapes. Along the winding River Hudson, past beautiful green hills and blue lakes, little white boats sailing here and there. It was a lovely day.

But we were beginning to tire of the journey and just wanted to be there already. That was about the point where we realised the train was running late, about an hour behind schedule and we had still not crossed the Canadian border.
At length customs forms were distributed and filled in. Tycho had to move his bag and crate of beer from near us to take a seat in another carriage further up. We were told to stay in our seats, answer the questions and if you are asked to accompany the officers and open your bags to do so. A little after 5 pm the train stopped and border/customs officials came aboard to check passports and customs papers. By the time the officer checking our carriage got to us he was so bored of asking “What are you going to do in Canada? Oh you’re going to this convention too.” [image: image5.png]


 
There were no problems at the border and right on 6 pm we were on our way again, leaving New York, USA behind and heading into Quebec, Canada. Those last couple of hours travel seemed to take forever but eventually we arrived in Montreal, passing the ‘Delta Hotel’ on our right on the way into the station. We disembarked the train happy to be finally at our destination.
Arrival in Montreal
Our next challenge was to escape the train station. Seriously, how hard can it be? At the top of the stairs inside the main concourse we took a right because that was the direction we knew we needed to go in, but there was no exit out onto the street. We walked down a long corridor filled with closed shops, certain that there would be an exit at the end, but there wasn’t. Worse yet a whole bunch of the other con goers, including ‘That Guy from the Train’ followed us. They thought we knew where we were going!

LP did find us a way out though, into an HSBC bank, then a couple of escalators up to the bank lobby at street level. The hotel looked really close when we passed it but it seemed to take a long time to walk there. Eventually we were in the lobby of the Delta and signing in.

OK try and follow this now because I am going to try to explain where some of us were staying. LP, Lany and Drac were in one room and on this night would be joined by Mandy. The following night Mandy would move out to spend the rest of her stay with Ghost of Nymeria & dajamieson at the ‘Intercontinental Hotel’, and Ser Scott A Ellison would then move in to take the bed Mandy just vacated. Yes, that is a very unusual combination! I was sharing a room with Pod. Luga was staying at a different hotel with Kat, a small place in Old Montreal, close to the place where Pebble and Blue Rose were, so Luga left to go find it. Tycho was also staying elsewhere, the ‘Auberge Alternative Hostel’ not far from the Delta (where Mich would also be staying) and he left his crate of beer with us at the Delta (a foolishly brave decision) so that he did not have to carry it back here for the party (did I mention the Delta is the party hotel? I think I just did). Tycho took his bag and went off to claim his bunk. Hope that wasn’t too confusing for you all, be careful there might be some sort of test on this shit later you know [image: image6.png]



We all went up to the ninth floor which by coincidence is where both our rooms were allocated. Pod and I went left, the other three went to the right. After quickly dropping our bags in the room it was not long before Pod and I were back down in the lobby to wait for everyone to get back from whatever bar they were at. I thought we had been pretty quick in dropping our stuff and getting back only to find that LP and Lany were in the bar with LP already on his second glass of wine….

Drac joined Pod and I on the lobby sofas and then LP came over to complain loudly that we should be joining them in the bar instead of waiting in the lobby, just as ‘That Guy from the Train’ was stood right behind him. That poor bastard just could not get away from us! [image: image7.png]


 
9.00 pm was the time we had arranged with Pebble to meet up with the group of nine boarders already in Montreal. Apparently they went to a pizza place and then a bar. So there we are waiting for ‘The Nine’ in the lobby, dead on 9.00. No, this was not a Goodkind reference. We were starving hungry from not eating since about 1 pm. Dammit where could they be? Apparently they had to stop at ‘just one more bar’ on the way back. Typical. 

Close to 9.30 a large group of boarders finally arrived: Mandy, Pebble, Tenalpia, Mormont, Paedar (as in the famous published author Paedar Ó Guilín no less), Pat (from Pat’s Fantasy Hotlist), Fenryng, Regina and last but by no means least Kat. We all trooped through to the bar where most of the hugs and hellos took place. Luga and Tycho both returned from their respective lodgings for another round of hellos.
There was some serious hunger going on with some of us, myself in particular, but all the non-party train people had already eaten and wanted to go to the Reno Party on the 5th floor. Lany and LP had just eaten some snacks in the bar, Luga was happy with party food which left just four of us, four hungry men to go out on the streets of Montreal in search of a good meal. It was a long and challenging quest. Street after street we wandered with nary a restaurant in sight. Those we found were closed or just closing. Getting desperate we made our way to Chinatown and at last found our satisfaction in a low-rent, nasty restaurant with tablecloths that felt like cheap bin liners. But the food, it was good, real good. The four of us sat in silence savouring the wonderful Chinese food. It was a true moment of male bonding. With fortune cookies and everything.

Fortified we walked back to the Delta Hotel, passing the ‘Palais des congrès de Montréal’ (the Convention Centre) for the first time. We walked through the road tunnel that passes to one side of the centre and found ourselves bathed in a bizarre fluorescent yellow light. It was totally surreal. Then we found the fountain of fire – so cool!  This was just across the street from the front of the centre. The entire front wall of the convention centre is covered in panels of coloured glass which looks beautiful all lit up at night or during the day with the sunlight shining through on the inside.
After admiring the place we would be spending a whole lot of our time at over the next few days we returned to the Delta Hotel and took the elevator up to the 5th floor. We easily found the Reno Party as it was the only party open that night, only to discover none of our friends there. Just then Kat bounded up to us with a big grin on her face, she even had her hands up in front of her looking just like an excited little puppy asking us to come play. She told us that everyone was in the bar and had seen us coming in but could not get our attention so they commanded Kat to go run and catch us. Later on I checked Kat for fleas and gave her worming tablets for good measure.
Down in the bar we pulled up a sofa and joined in the conversation. We had a good catch up with everyone and had some laughs. One by one people began drifting away to their rooms or other hotels. Mormont was staying with Paedar on the 14th floor of the Delta, Tenalpia was actually staying in a real gypsy caravan out the back of the small hostel type place Pebble was staying at in Old Montreal. Poor Pebble was tired and since she was volunteering for registration work in the morning she wanted to go to bed really, but she needed to wait up for Blue Rose whose flight got in at midnight and had been delayed a little too. Eventually Pebble left and I hear Blue finally arrived about 1.30 am or something, but it was ok.
This left just Kat, Drac, Pod, Mandy, LP and MG in the bar. The staff were closing up and at 1 am we were pretty much kicked out. Kat walked back across town on her own to her hotel and the others went out for a smoke leaving me to make sure a very drunk and morose LP made it up to his hotel room. I have spoken several times about the amount of red wine consumed by Lucky Pierre and his resultant behaviour. I have to admit we were worried about him right then. He might hate me for mentioning this so much but the thought was there that this was becoming a real problem, but thankfully that was the last time. The entire rest of the con the sweet, friendly, lovable Lucky Pierre was back and he was joy to be around, and a huge help to everyone, especially at the party on Saturday. More on that later, right now I needed sleep, for in the morning the Convention would truly kick off!

Worldcon 2009: Montreal

Thursday 6 August 2009

Pod and I were up at 8.30 and decided to go register ourselves for the con before breakfast. We met Mormont in the lobby of the Delta and he joined us as we made our way down Rue Saint Antoine to the convention centre. We had no problems registering and picked up our bag of goodies which included a wallet-like con badge, the convention guides and two sampler books.
Sometimes you have to wonder why they bother printing convention guides in advance because there are always so many changes it renders the whole thing pointless. The updated schedules were printed on A3 paper – not exactly pocket sized and they were printing daily change sheets that you needed to pick up if you wanted up to date information. Why so many changes you wonder? Well, that is in part due to pretty bad organisation like booking an author on two different panels at the same time. A little bit of common sense and the use of a spreadsheet program would make a huge difference to the organisation of Worldcon. In fact the sheer lack of technical competence in certain areas is rather shocking for a convention filled with science-fiction geeks. You would think they would take advantage of all this modern technology stuff, make the most of what computer power and the Internet can offer.
But enough about Worldcon’s bad points for now, let’s concentrate on the good, like meeting up with old friends and making new ones.

Pod, Mormont and I hiked our way over to old Montreal where we met Tenalpia and went for breakfast in a little café. You should have seen the sticky chocolate croissant I had, it was very messy but oh so delicious. We talked Hitchhiker’s Guide to the Galaxy, Prince of Nothing and ASOIAF. After breakfast Tenalpia went back to her gypsy caravan lodgings while Pod, Mormont and I made our way back to the convention centre.
Just outside the dealers room we ran into George and Parris. As we walked up to them Mormont said “George, I bring you – Pod!” and he was delighted to see Pod again. I said hello again but I am pretty sure George did not recognise me from Denver. I did not notice at the time but someone told me later on that Parris was wearing a badge which said ‘GRRM is not your bitch, he is MINE!’ [image: image8.png]


 

There were not many sellers in the dealers room this year, crossing the border and dealing with various financial hassles had put a lot of them off. At the Nightshade Books stand Paolo Bacigalupi had a shipment of his book ‘The Windup Girl’ held up at customs meaning he had nothing to sell. I think it was on Friday when some delivery guy brought up a box of books and I was there as Paolo declared his undying love for him and was overjoyed to finally sell some books, several of them to our boarders. Luga, X-Ray and Paedar all bought copies and got them signed.

Anyway, I digress, back to Thursday and looking round the dealers room. Lany bought a copy of ‘The Graveyard Book’ by Neil Gaiman for him to sign as a present for her son, Brat (as he is known). There was one particular dealer with a good selection of books who was selling lots of old ‘Wild Cards’ books and the BWB bought up almost everything he had. I picked up books I and III myself, much to the chagrin of Blue Rose who arrived at just that moment. *hugs*
While we were perusing the books right then one of the real con weirdoes came up to us and made a loud honking sound like a distraught goose to make us move out the way to let him in so he could look at the books rather than us. Total freakazoid, in fact that is what I will call him even though his real name is Darryl. It was noticed when we saw him around that the ‘Freakazoid’ would look pointedly at the names on people’s con badges. Some people took to turning the badge around so he could not see.
After that we went down to the ground floor where there were some couches in the middle of the floor space. This would become our meeting point for this year. The Big Blue Bear’s Crotch of 2009 (reference to the meeting point from Denver in 2008).  It was at this point that I was introduced to Silverstar’s Head, a small furry mascot representing Silverstar who could not make it to the con and had asked Pebble if she could be stowed away in her luggage. Pebble had even gone to the effort of making a Con Badge for it! Pebble was also busy taking photographs of everybody’s knees – a Pebble eyed view of the con. At some point I plan to put together a webpage with a competition for “whose knees are these?” Will let you know when Pebble and I get around to sorting that out.
Some of us wandered along the ground floor shops to buy some food and it was at this point that we ran into several other boarders for the first time. Tyria and Mr Tyria had been around the previous night but had failed to find anybody. Filippa Eilhart and John (cute couple) were there as well, although I did not see them again after that until Friday night. We made our way back to the meeting spot and not long after that it was time to take the escalators up to the 5th floor for our first panel which really got the Con started.
The Werewolves of Brigadoon

Panel: Paedar Ó Guilín, Kari Sperring, George R.R. Martin
So the first panel of the con and our very own Paedar is the moderator. Here is how he introduced things; “This panel is about American writers and Hollywood film executives appropriating Celtic mythology to their own ends. My name is Paedar and I have written a book called ‘The Inferior’ which is one of the top five books about cannibal faeries ever written. As you can tell from my accent I am indeed Irish. I am the injured party. To my left is an evil American, one George R.R. Martin who will defend the United States writers who have abused our history and mythology.”
Kari who could make an entire quilt from her medieval history degrees got things started off with a long rant on the portrayal of the Celts as Lesbian-Poetess-Goddess-worshipping-Monk-haters. Colleagues of hers, who had tried to counter this false view of history, had been threatened with death by distraught hippies. Kari questions the value of historic fiction which fails to be accurate. ‘The Mists of Avalon’ was brought up several times as a prime case in point. The Celts were never really a group of people from a specific place, they were driven west out of mainland Europe into the remote parts of Ireland and Scotland over the course of a couple of centuries and she said that it could even be argued that the Celts are not really a people at all, but more of a culture, an identity that anyone could belong to.
George then spoke about growing up in the American "melting pot", which has now became the American "salad bowl" in modern PC terminology, but he still prefers the melting pot analogy. He spoke about the myths that arose in such situations, like for example the idea that John Dillinger had been betrayed by "the woman in the red dress", when in fact she had really worn a different colour entirely. The myth, however, was more interesting than the truth and it was a perfectly legitimate choice for a writer to use it.
George’s counter argument was therefore that adhering too strictly to historical fact is in some ways missing the point. Works of fiction like ‘The Mists of Avalon’ can lead interested readers to seeking out scholarly works which give them the real history and that can only be a good thing. For me the surprise here was that Paedar agreed with this opinion, “Does it really matter?” he said, “a few Hollywood transgressions with blue face paint aside, the historical details are not that important, so long as it is doing its job of entertaining. It is fiction and is meant to be fun.”

George also argued against the "ownership" of stories by any narrow cultural group, calling for us to emulate the science fiction he read as a youth that viewed us all as Earthmen (and Earthwomen).
It was a fun and lively panel and the audience were keen to get their say too. Paedar as moderator said about half way through “George gave me some advice on running a panel earlier and he told me not to go to questions from the audience too early because that is like admitting defeat.” But despite saying that he then allowed several people to ask questions including one woman who was the person who had originally had the idea and petitioned for the panel to be included in the programme after she had read a book about some werewolves who lived in a castle in Scotland which was just awful trash. Paedar argued is the book trash because it steals and gets details wrong or is it trash because it is badly written? Although someone in the audience did say “It sounds awesome, I want to read it now.” I think that may have been the real turning point in drawing to the conclusion that it doesn’t really matter that much in the end.
Human Battleships
A half hour after the Werewolves panel started four boarders, Lany, LP, Pebble and Scott, left to go to something very different – Human Battleships!  The game was organized by a Japanese group and the rules had to be translated into English which slowed the process down a bit as there were a lot of questions about how to play the game and unfortunately the organisers did not fully know the rules themselves.
Basically, each team has an even number of players and one captain. The players represent the ships and are blindfolded and armed with various inflatable weapons. The captain rolls the giant blue fluffy die and then tells one player to move that number of steps forward. Steps are either large (high speed) or small (slow speed). At the end of the steps the captain could tell them to turn and fire. One of the major debates that kept everyone waiting for ages was whether telling a person to “turn” should count as a step or not. “Fire” meant bopping the enemy “ship” over the head with a blow up weapon. Since nobody could see what they were doing getting hit actually hurt because you were not braced ready to take the hit and people were swinging down harder than they otherwise might do.

The game was fun but at times it was just too slow. In fact it was more fun to watch than play judging by the laughter of the audience. But we can’t complain about the outcome – the team with our boarders on won the game with LP left as the last ship afloat!
Lany said she would love to play again some day, but with a few changes. Water pistols would totally rock and eliminate the need to “turn” (but also increase the space needed). Steps should be in any direction. Have the captains timed so they don’t take too long making the decisions. Oh and make sure EVERYONE knows all the rules before the game starts.
Question Time with Neil Gaiman
Everyone from the Human Battleships game got back to the Werewolves panel just as it was finishing up and a large group of boarders congregated in the corridor. Mich had arrived at some point during the panel so this was the first time a lot of us were introduced to her. What can I say about Mich that has not been said before? She is smart, funny, kooky in that cute Canadian kind of way and has extremely good taste in music. I could tell from the ‘Disturbed’ T-shirt she was wearing.
At this point we had a choice, go for lunch or go to the Question Time with Neil Gaiman panel. One person made the right choice and that was Luga. She just moved off at speed and was gone while the rest of us were still dicking around trying to make a decision. So the rest of us went to lunch, more on that below.

Apparently the room was packed, it was one of the biggest rooms available in the centre but it was completely full, people were standing at the back and outside the door, they could not get in. Neil was led in by the Moderator like some kind of coronation and then he did a big joke by putting down his name tag as if people would not know who he was. One reporter thought ‘oh no is he going to be all full of himself?’ but no, he could not have been nicer. The panel was a hilarious and raucous affair, people in the genocide panel next door were wondering what the heck was going on in there.

Fans submitted questions beforehand and the most interesting ones were picked. One question was about whether because Neil is such a big name author now whether he considers how his audience will read his books just because it is him and does his writing change because of that. His answer was that he always imagines himself as someone who has never read his work before, so he is writing for an idealised version of himself.
Neil spoke a little about working with Terry Pratchett on ‘Good Omens’ and how they had a rule that they would “make mock” of important things and when the book was released they were surprised that the public were not more upset by it. They thought it was going to be somewhat controversial but people just thought it was hilarious.
Another question asked was “which medium would you most like to work in?” an interesting question given that he has worked in comics, novels, TV, movies and children’s books. His answer was – haunted houses! That’s right, Neil wants to design and build his own haunted house. Can you imagine how incredible that would be? I so want to go to Neil Gaiman’s Haunted House.

But more than that I really wish I had gone to this Q&A – Luga said it was “AWESOME man! One of the most AWESOME things I have ever seen.” When Luga says the word awesome it is always capitalised. “Neil just talked about stuff, and oh it was AWESOME. He spoke a lot about Good Omens and working with Terry Pratchett. Neil is such a great speaker, so funny and so interesting and so AWESOME. When he spoke it was like he was personally speaking to you but he also, like, included everyone. You should have all been there, I mean what the fuck? It was AWESOME.”

Apparently I get the impression we missed something quite awesome. I have to ask - Luga was it you that wrote this on the message board for Neil? Come on you can admit it now…
Speaking of the message board this seems like an appropriate time to relate a notice that Mormont spotted from someone looking for accommodation in Montreal. It read: 'Room required. I have only two bags and will really only be around to sleep and shower. Non-smoker, over 35. I have three Star Trek Next Generation Starfleet tunics.' Clearly he put down all of the most pertinent information because you do need to know he has 3 Star Trek uniforms so that people know that they really don’t want to room with this guy! [image: image9.png]


 
Lunch at Les 3 Brassuers (The 3 Brewers)
But what can I say, we were hungry, so 15 of us traipsed through the streets of Montreal to find this brewery/restaurant that Pat had recommended. After several stops to consult a map with everyone standing around wondering where we were going we found the place and the staff managed to put together enough tables for us all to sit together.
Time to reel off the list of boarders who were there, starting with me at the head of the table going clockwise: MG, Mr Tyria, Kat, Mich, Pod, Mandy, Lany, Regina, LP, Scott, Pebble, Tyria, Blue Rose, Mormont and Tenalpia.  :deep breath:

The food was great, the service was great and we had a great time. Not much else to say about it really. Right at the point where we finished eating Luga arrived and ordered some lunch. She was sat at the complete opposite end of the table from me but I could hear her use the word “AWESOME” several times.

At this point two things happened: 1) most people decided it was time to leave, and 2) it started to absolutely chuck it down with rain [US translation: rained heavily]. The sensible people stayed at the restaurant to continue hearing about how “AWESOME” Neil Gaiman is while the crazy ones went out in the rain with no coats and got soaked. In fairness to them they did take to the underground precincts and did not get that wet in the end. They found an SAQ on the way and bought a goodly supply of alcohol for later on.

So back at The 3 Brewers MG, Kat, Luga, Lany, LP, Pebble, Regina and Scott waited out the rain. Well Luga was still eating and we did talk about a few things other than the awesomeness of Neil Gaiman. After about half an hour we decided we could not wait any longer so we decided to brave the rain, at which point it stopped raining entirely. Result!

I was walking with Kat and Luga back towards the conference centre when I realised the others were going back to the hotel and had gone across at the last junction when we turned. The girls were going to a panel for some dead author I had never heard of and the others had been calling me so I went up and across to join the larger group and walked back to the Delta Hotel. You would think I had learned my lesson the first time, because that panel for some dead author turned out to be…

The Life and Work of John M. Ford

Panel: Authors - Neil Gaiman and Jo Walton. Editors - David Hartwell, Teresa & Patrick Neilsen Hayden, Beth Meecham and Harriet McDougal (widow of the late Robert Jordan)
And yes this was also “AWESOME” and “MOVING”. In fact many people including both Kat and Luga report being misty eyed at several points during this bittersweet panel, especially during Neil Gaiman’s poignant reading of Ford’s prophetic ‘The Last Connection’.
So the question is why do so few people know the work of John M. Ford when he is considered by many critics a true genius of the Sci-Fi genre? Well, Ford avoided repetition not only of the work of others, but also of his own work. As Neil Gaiman pointed out during the panel Ford never wrote the same kind of work twice. This reflected his genius and aversion to doing what people expected, but sadly also meant that few people have heard of him because he never stuck with a recognisable style. He recreated himself anew with every piece he published.
The panellists recounted several stories behind John’s many award-winning works, told personal tales, and read unpublished verses, many of which had been posted online or emailed as responses to online discussions. Both Luga and Kat were moved and inspired by this panel and left feeling like they really should go and read some John M. Ford books, and you know what, I think we should probably all join them too.
Dinner at Pizzadelic

So you may be wondering where I was through all this, as mentioned above I returned to the Delta with a few others where as luck would have it we ran into the earlier group who had been to SAQ to buy alcohol. After that we ended up in Lany and LPs room though I don’t really remember why. Then we walked to the convention centre to join a large group of boarders congregated at the meeting place with the intention of having dinner and going back to the Delta Hotel for tonight’s parties.
We were specifically waiting for two people, Sophelia and Mentat. They had spent most of the day on a coach coming back from Quebec City where they had a wonderful time. I say coming back because they had already spent a day or two in Montreal before taking that trip. After the con they would be going to New York City for a few days, kind of the mirror opposite plan to what I would be doing. In case you had not guessed it, yes they are now a couple, the cat is well and truly out of the bag. I think back at the York Meet in May things were kind of new for them and they were not so open about it there, but now they are very comfortable and happy with each other. Definitely another cute board couple to add to the growing collection we have.

The thing about large groups of people at Worldcon is that things don’t really go according to any kind of plan. The things you end up doing, the people you end up hanging with is just really very random. Chaos theory in action you might say.
The reason I say this is that I had every intention of going with the rest of the group but when we left the convention centre, Soph, Mentat, Kat and I were at the back of the group as they disappeared off down the street towards the Delta Hotel and we decided we were hungry and did not want party food, so we decided to split off in search of a restaurant. For a while we had trouble finding anywhere, but then up towards Old Montreal we found a pizza place called Pizzadelic. We had some good pizza and made plans for when and where we could fit Live Mafia into our schedule. The only real opportunity was Friday at 5 pm when there was a stunning lack of interesting panels taking place.

A little while later we called Pebble to let her know we would not make it back to the Delta Hotel for the start of the parties and it turns out she was only just leaving herself and was hungry. So she came to join us and had an enormous burger. Kat left to go and get changed for the party. By the time she got back we were ready to go.
Thursday night parties

We made a tour of the other parties, Reno, Chicago, Texas, Tokyo – but decided that the best party of the night was the Tor Party. We completely took over one corner of the room for a while, close to the snacks table.
At some point during the party X-Ray and Mr X arrived. They had driven up from New York City today and it took a couple of hours longer than normal due to difficulties finding a place for dinner in Plattsburgh and an hour wait to get over the border. At least they had an entertaining story to relate about the border guard that dealt with them. When they told him they were on the way to a science fiction convention, he asked if they had anything with them besides clothes in the car, such as "ray guns or phasers," adding that if they did, "I have to ask you to set them on stun - we don't want lethal phasers in Canada." Oh what a comedian!

Some random guy came over to our group and said hi, most of us just kind of ignored the weirdo but Kat said hi back and ended up in a long conversation with him about how he does improv poetry on the streets in places like Paisley and Slough. He also believes highways should all be raised ten feet to avoid death by deer. Mr X said “But... the deer would just go up the ramps...” Mormont replied “Let it go, Doug.” Several times through the rest of the con she ran into him again and he would always say “Hi Kat” and she would be all embarrassed and creeped out about it because she had forgotten his name.

There was chat, laughs and good times. I promised to get up early the next day and attend the Intellectual property and Creative Commons panel with Mich – getting up early, what was I thinking? At length various people drifted away and went to bed. Around 2 am I left myself and went to bed, but for some reason I was completely unable to sleep that night. I got maybe 2 hours in total. Just the excitement of the con or something I guess.
Friday 7 August 2009
Both Pod and I had promised to go to the IP and CC panel this morning with Mich. Pod was up and gone to meet Mich for breakfast before I was even out of bed. I got up had my shower then went for breakfast on my own. I took the underground precinct to the convention centre and stopped for an omelette on the way. Arriving at the convention centre I found Lany at the meeting point and said good morning. She had been up for hours and had a workout at the Delta Hotel’s gym. Some creepy guy was staring at her while she was working out. Lany had also picked up a ticket to this afternoon’s Neil Gaiman signing. Due to his immense popularity the organisers were forced to limit the number of fans and limit each fan to two autographs each. The tickets were supposed to be given out from 10 am and so Lany had arrived early to make sure she was not so far back down the queue, but they started giving out the tickets early. I am sure there were some people who missed out because of that.

While Lany and I were chatting Ghost of Nymeria and dajamieson arrived and we said hello. They had arrived the previous night but I think I had missed them at the parties. I left the three of them there because it was time to get to the panel where I found Mich and Pod already there. 
Intellectual Property and Creative Commons
Panel: Laura Majerus, Patrick Nielsen Hayden, Cory Doctorow
This panel might as well have been called “Cory Doctorow is giving away his book for free don’t ya know” since in a lot of ways that was exactly what this was all about. This became a bit of a hot topic of discussion in subsequent panels and between ourselves throughout Worldcon.
For those not in the know, Cory is a huge opponent of DRM and a huge proponent of file sharing and copyright liberalisation. He was the first author to release a novel under a Creative Commons Licence – ‘Down and Out in the Magic Kingdom’ in 2003. This was followed by ‘Eastern Standard Tribe’ in 2005 and in 2008 by Hugo nominated novel ‘Little Brother’.  The digital versions of these novels are released at the same time as the print version via Cory’s website/blog http://craphound.com and are distributed under a Creative Commons Attribution-Noncommercial-ShareAlike license. This allows users to legally copy, share and distribute the book and also adapt or remix it in whatever form they wish provided:

1. it is attributed to the original author (Cory)

2. it is non-commercial, so remixed work cannot be sold

3. it must also be published under the same or similar license
Cory’s argument for doing this crazy thing is that the biggest problem for a writer is not piracy, its obscurity. Getting your name out there and becoming well known through word of mouth is more important than a few lost sales. Most people who did not buy the book did so because they had not heard of it. However, the interesting thing here is that by giving away the book it helped build up a buzz about it and this actually generated book sales. Patrick Nielsen Hayden who is an editor backed this up with solid numbers saying “If we give away 250,000 copies via the Internet to sell 65,000 books in stores then we will take that trade off every time.”
Perhaps it is something of a surprise to us readers that worldwide sales figures for SFF books are so relatively low. For example to be considered a massive mega-hit best seller in the genre a book would only need to sell half a million copies worldwide, which is not that much when you compare it to music or DVD sales. This might lead you to believe that this is an industry that cannot afford to lose sales by giving products away but the figures indicate that a good percentage of people who downloaded the novel will also go out and buy a print copy. Either because they prefer books in physical form or because they realise that the author deserves payment for something they have enjoyed. In fact Cory was forced by public demand to add a donate option to his site so that fans who wanted to pay him for the books could. Basically most people deep down are good human beings and will do the right thing most of the time.
“But what about enforcing the IP law?” asks Ser Scott from the back of the room. Scott does not hold with Cory’s statement that his fans will say ‘hey you stop’ to those who break the terms of the Creative Commons License. Cory’s response was that people are going to copy and share eBooks anyway and rather than fighting it like record companies do why not embrace it and make it work for you. Essentially Cory is happy with the situation and the success he has had with it. In fact in the New Media panel later today he stated that he “could not conceive of producing material that is not intended to be widely copied by end users.” For Cory the connection he gets with fans who remix his work and write fanfiction is so much fun and a big part of the kick he gets out of his work these days.
Contrast this with George’s opinion. He does not agree with Cory’s methods at all and could not conceive of giving his novels away for free and he also strongly disapproves of fan fiction, believing it to be copyright infringement and bad exercise for aspiring writers. But I think their positions are not contrastable. George is one of the mega-hit bestseller authors, already well established in the field and soon to be even more well known, provided HBO do sign up for a full season of ‘Game of Thrones’. George does not need to give away entire novels in order to build up a fanbase, he already has one.
Something to keep in mind here is the fact that George was a struggling writer trying to make a decent living for a long time before finally achieving success. Isn’t it only fair that he earns what his work is worth now? That is the goal of the American Dream after all and I think George is a great believer in that and is also a great example of how far your talent can take your career if you believe in yourself. George touched on this topic a little in the Writing for a Living panel on Sunday and also in some comments made at the tail end of the BWB party on Saturday.
But for fresh young authors who are trying to get into that position I think this is definitely a viable model to start a career. Patrick Nielsen Hayden would go even further than that, he believes that ePublishing is going to become much more important in the near future, read this recent interview Patrick gave with io9 on the Future of SF books. He also said that “Almost all publishing houses have come to the conclusion that DRM is not a viable means of protecting intellectual property” which is quite a statement to make. Patrick is an editor at Tor Books and was the one who urged Tor to take a chance on publishing Cory’s first novel via CCL in 2003. I think this has almost certainly played a part in Tor embracing the web and making so many great short stories available for free on its website.
During the panel Patrick mentioned that while recently putting together a collection of stories to be freely released on the Internet he said that rather than having to work hard to convince people to sign up for it a lot of authors were approaching him and asking, nay begging, to be included in the project. “Yes please give my work away for free” they would say. But at some point you figure the publisher and the author needs to get paid. Otherwise how can they continue operating?
For Cory I don’t think he could go back to a traditional book sales model, even if he wanted to, which of course he doesn’t. Because if he did that would make him a hypocrite and he speaks with such passion on the subject that there is no way he would do that. Perhaps the CCL model will lower his long term income potential but I have a feeling his financial future is going to be pretty secure.
But what about other authors following this new model who are not well known bloggers and journalists, who don’t have that prestige of being the first to tread the path? I don’t think it will change things that much in the end. It is certainly easier to publish your work now using the Internet, anyone can do it, but it is still just as hard to actually get paid for it. The battleground may have changed but the war is still the same.
But one thing is for sure eBooks are actually starting to gain some momentum. I think it was on the last day of the con that Paedar had his Sony Reader with him and a large group of us gathered round to take a look. I have to say the eInk Technology does look really great and the ability to carry around dozens of books in one slim device is definitely a good thing. But this does not mean the book is going to disappear, not by a long shot. There is just something right about holding a book in your hand, something tangible and tactile and real about it. The feel and the smell of it is really important to a lot of people. Plus you can’t exactly ask your favourite authors to sign your Kindle or your Reader when you meet them at cons can you.
After the panel Scott and Mich briefly continued the discussion. They are on absolute opposite sides of the debate here with Mich firmly supporting Cory who she has an enormous fangirl crush on. But we needed to leave the room and then we all went separate ways. Mich and Pod went to the ‘Ethics of Dollhouse’ panel, but since I have not yet seen the show (UPDATE: After Worldcon I bought the DVD and have now finished watching season one. Dollhouse is an awesomely good show and in a large way it’s the dubious ethics that make it so interesting, I highly recommend it.) I decided to return to the Delta to write up some notes on the previous day. This was something I tried to do every day, but from Sunday onwards I failed at that. So if Sunday and Monday seem less detailed you know why. Next time I definitely need a laptop with me so I can work on this review while still at the con so that this damned thing does not take so long to write.
WSFS Business Meeting
At the same time as the above panel was the Preliminary Business Meeting of The World Science Fiction Society. Ghost of Nymeria and Lugajetboygirl attended the meeting and their experience here became another point of discussion through the rest of the con. The preliminary meeting was mainly to discuss the agenda and set the debate time for the main meeting to be held on Saturday. But there was also a lot of debate related to the classification of Hugo Awards and the fact that some awards given out at the ceremony are not considered Hugo’s when many believe they should be. There is a 110 minute video of the meeting that you can watch if you are so inclined.
While we are about it let’s skip ahead to Saturday and cover the Main Business Meeting as well. Feel free to watch this 132 minute video of the main meeting.

During the main meeting there was a furore over the proposed elimination of the semi-prozine category from the Hugo’s for a minimum of 2 years and Luga decided she wanted to get more involved and volunteered for a committee that was formed to deal with the issue. 20 or so other people volunteered so Luga is not sure if she will be allowed to participate in any meaningful way, especially since she has not reached Secret Master of Fandom (SMOF) status yet. 
After the meeting Luga and Ghost both said that had more BWB members attended the meeting and voted we could have made a real difference and got some things changed, things that really need to be changed. I think a lot of the BWB got all political activist over this and I get the feeling that more of us will be at the next meetings, if not Aussiecon next year then definitely Reno in 2011. Lucky Pierre was especially inspired and during a drunken discussion with Heather Urbanski at the Hugo Winners and Losers Parties on Sunday they mapped out a plan for the BWB to take over the running of Worldcon on a napkin. This for me was definitely a contender for most unlikely thing to happen at the con. If you were not there you would not believe it I think.
I for one welcome our new Zombie Overlords
Panel: Tony Pi, Trisha Wooldridge, Dan Wells, Heather Urbanski
Speaking of Heather Urbanski she pops up here on one of the most fun panels of the con. She is the author of ‘Plagues, Apocalypses and Bug-Eyed Monsters: How Speculative Fiction Shows Us Our Nightmares’ and is a teaching fellow at Lehigh University, PA. The other members of the panel included Tony Pi who was nominated for the John W Campbell Best Newcomer Award, Dan Wells who is a funny and articulate guy - the author of ‘I am NOT a serial killer’ and the panel was moderated by Trisha Wooldridge.
The premise of this panel was to discuss the rise of the ‘fast zombie’ in recent cinema (for example: ‘28 Days Later’, ‘I Am Legend’) and Simon Pegg’s assertion that “the fast zombie is bereft of poetic subtlety”. This was his reasoning for going with the traditional shambling zombie in ‘Shaun of the Dead’ and thus allowed for many amusing moments of comedy genius. The panel also discussed various topics related to zombie apocalypse and also made recommendation for good zombie literature and films (although sadly I can’t remember any of them right now).
I was feeling particularly brave and asked a question of the panel: “A piece of literature I would like to bring up is Max Brooks’ ‘World War Z’ which deals with a worldwide zombie apocalypse and this is set 10 years after the event with everything portrayed through a series of interview transcripts and it deals with the political and social aftermath of a zombie uprising. I wanted to ask the panel how they think the world would deal with the aftermath of a zombie apocalypse.” To which Trisha said “Good question”.

Dan Wells answered first saying he thought only small pockets of civilisation would survive and begin rebuilding. Heather talked about the psychological efforts of rebuilding and Tony wondered whether it would be possible to rebuild at all. As I said it was a fun panel despite the fact that the audience turnout was quite low. One possible reason for that could be another panel that was on at the same time with an All-Star Line up:
New Media
Panel: Melissa Auf der Maur, Neil Gaiman, Ellen Kushner, Tobias Buckell, Steven R. Boyett, Cory Doctorow
Melissa is a musician, former bass player with Hole and The Smashing Pumpkins, she is now a solo artist with one album under her belt, ‘Auf der Maur’ released 2004, and is at Worldcon to showcase her fantasy short film inspired by the music of her second album ‘Out Of Our Minds’ due for release early 2010. I am a huge fan of Melissa and was at the showing of OOOM later this evening. I really should have gone to this panel as well, serves me right for not thoroughly reading the damned Convention Guide I suppose. Oh well.

You can read a good account of this panel on the blog of Amy H. Sturgis (eldritch hobbit) or on the blog of Mark Rayner. You can also check out this YouTube video from the panel of Cory Doctorow explaining his reasons for embracing new media, and this video of Neil Gaiman discussing the resurgence of audio books through new media. One other person to note on this panel is Steven R. Boyett who is a DJ in addition to being a novelist. I was at Steven’s reading later today and he was also at Melissa’s showing of OOOM, in fact I was sat next to him. Steven has also written a review of his Friday at the con on his blog which included this panel.
Writing Excuses – Live Podcast
Panel: Howard Tayler, Brandon Sanderson, Dan Wells, Mary Robinette Kowal
Unlike Dan Wells I did not go straight from the Zombie panel to this one, instead I first went for lunch with Pebble to the secret rooftop restaurant. The reason I call it that is because hardly anyone went there and it was the greatest place because of that. On the top floor of the convention centre there is a huge cafeteria style restaurant with outdoor seating on the roof. Pebble said Mandy had been looking for a patio area like this where we could have all sat together, eating, drinking, smoking, whatever, but had not been able to find one. Unfortunately we never did arrange a meet up here but that’s how things go sometimes. I had a couple of nice lunches up here, I never had to queue and the food was pretty good. Why the place was not better advertised and signposted in the convention centre I really don’t know, it could and should have been much more popular.

After we finished eating Pebble and I went down to the panel and sat at the back of the room. Blue Rose is a huge fan of this podcast and was sat near the front with Drac. Writing Excuses is an episodic Podcast produced by Brandon, Howard and Dan discussing the process of writing, editing and producing SFF fiction. Their special guest for this Live at Worldcon recording was Mary Robinette Kowal.

I have already introduced Dan Wells above. Howard Tayler is a cartoonist who produces the excellent daily online comic space opera Schlock Mercenary. If you don’t know who Brandon Sanderson is then you must be living under a rock or at least a long way from an Internet [Educational Note: the capital “I” in Internet is deliberate and is because The Internet is spelt this way to differentiate it from generic internetworks] connection and have failed to hear the ire of Stego the last year or so. Brandon is one of the most prolific authors of the decade and is also the man chosen by Harriet McDougall and Tor to complete Robert Jordan’s fantasy epic ‘The Wheel of Time’.

You can be forgiven for not knowing Mary Robinette Kowal but not for too much longer I think. Mary won the John W Campbell Award for Best Newcomer at Worldcon 2008 in Denver and she has worn the beautiful tiara throughout every con she has been to since then to prove it. Mary is best known in the literary world for her short story work including the Hugo nominated ‘Evil Robot Monkey’ which I heard her recite during her reading on Sunday. Her first novel ‘Shades of Milk and Honey’ will be published spring 2010 by Tor and is something I am definitely looking forward to reading next year. But Mary is actually better known as a professional puppeteer and has worked on ‘Sesame Street’ and the movie ‘Elmo in Grouchland’. Mary held a puppetry demonstration on the Saturday of Worldcon.
A lot of the regular listeners of this popular podcast have commented to say this was the best episode they have had in their three season history and that is entirely thanks to Mary. She is such a sparkling and engaging speaker that she really made this special. She spoke about the Four Principles of Puppetry and how they can be applied to writing and it really was awesome to see the looks of astonishment and epiphany that the other three wore, especially Brandon who was practically flabbergasted. Mary also spoke about the advantages of writing with Open Office and using an expanded outline to avoid distractions while working.
They recorded a total of three podcasts during the 90 minute panel. Each one is supposed to be “Fifteen minutes long, because you're in a hurry, and we're not that smart” as their tagline states, but they went well over that time limit on a couple of the recordings. They offered the audience an opportunity to ask questions to the panel and this made up about half the second podcast and the entire third one.

They also offered the audience a chance to record an advertisement for anything they wanted, a website they wanted to promote, a book, an upcoming event, anything – but nobody volunteered, despite the fact that it was free and they usually charge a couple of hundred dollars for the real advert slots. So instead it was decided to have Mary read out the cover blurb that Brandon wrote for Dan’s book, ‘I am NOT a Serial Killer’, in her ‘Sexy Telephone Voice’ grrrrrrr!  It is no word of a lie to say that sexy voice of hers gave everyone chills and some of the men in the audience were forced to cross their legs. Seriously, hot damn!
Listen to these episodes of Writing Excuses here: Episode 14 | Episode 15 | Episode 17
After the panel was over we all went up to the front to let the guys know how much we enjoyed the podcast, well to be honest Blue did and if she had not I don’t think the rest of us would have. Dan had several copies of his book that he was selling and we all bought copies and got them signed, well not Blue she already has a copy of course. We also got badges from both Dan and Mary to add to our Con Badges.

Reading: Paedar Ó Guilín
Panel: James Alan Gardner, Paedar Ó Guilín, Steven R. Boyett
The BWB gathered en-masse for Paedar’s reading. Before the reading some of us were waiting outside the room, Paedar was signing a copy of his book for someone and we were making jokes about how she was his only fan there, since the rest of us were actually borrowed from George. More people began arriving so we went in and took our seats.
The three authors had very contrasting styles which made this an interesting panel to be at, whether we knew one of the readers or not. James Alan Gardner read first, I am not sure what the story James read was but it was like a 1940s film noir/fantasy crossover with a detective going to an upmarket gentleman’s club to investigate a murder. A description I would give is that it was fluffy. A lot of the characters and their dialogue and the way he read it gave it an air of whimsy that made the reading comical. It was pretty unusual but interesting.
Paedar was up next and he was really nervous, maybe because he knew we were all there to hear him read. His hands shook. The paper he was holding flapping about. But his voice never wavered. He read confidently and loudly. At a couple of points the characters swore and Paedar said “fuck” proudly, owning his words. Paedar read from a new story that he is currently working on, what will be his 3rd novel, rather than the sequel to ‘The Inferior’ which is currently with his publishers awaiting publication. The story seemed to be set in Ireland in the present or at least recent past. From the chapter he read it seemed like the fantasy elements were there hidden beneath the surface. But for the most part this was about a detective going to a murder scene and trying to piece together what happened and a confrontation with his superiors along the way. Paedar did point out that it is very much a work in progress at the moment so it may be a long while before we get to read the finished novel.
Last to read was Steven R. Boyett. Before he got started he explained that his first novel ‘Ariel’ was published in 1983. Described as a “classic timeless novel”, sadly I can’t say I had heard of the book before but it has a fascinating premise. On a seemingly normal day the laws of physics suddenly changed. Electronic devices just stopped working, most of humanity vanished and supernatural creatures and monsters now wander an almost deserted world. Pete Garey survived the Change and the ensuing chaos and has been wandering the south eastern United States, scavenging, trying to survive. He meets a smart-assed unicorn with serious attitude who he names Ariel and together they begin a journey from Atlanta to Manhattan to confront the sorcerer who wants her horn.
Since 1983 Steven has become a well known DJ on the Californian music scene and regularly plays club shows and festivals including ‘Burning Man’. He produces three of the most popular music podcasts in the world and was one of the first people to make a living in this field. 26 years later Steven has finally completed his follow up book ‘Elegy Beach’ and to celebrate the release his publisher is reprinting ‘Ariel’ and putting together a big promotion which includes a great website where you can follow the path the characters walk via interactive maps. He also gave out bookmarks and postcard sized promos for the books.
Steven read a chapter from ‘Elegy Beach’ while sat precariously on the back of his chair. This story is set 27 years after the events of ‘Ariel’ and is about two men, Fred and Yan, who are experimenting to learn the laws of magic, new scientists of their age. When their inevitable break occurs the repercussions are unexpected, dangerous and global forcing them to leave San Diego and make a journey northwards up the coast of California. The chapter he read is from part of that journey as Fred and Yan walked along a stretch of the beach and observed a crashed cargo ship off the coast. He read well despite saying he did not practice it beforehand as he normally would. He has a very smooth and quietly dramatic style which is kind of at odds with the hyper-cool DJ appearance he has. One might expect his writing to be flashier and over the top but I guess he channels all that stuff into his music.
‘Ariel’ was rereleased on 25 August and was at No.1 on Amazon’s movers and shakers list, 185th overall, for a few days. Steven credits Cory Doctorow’s review on Boing Boing for the success, but the one he is really waiting for is ‘Elegy Beach’ which will be released on 3 November 2009. Cory has also given this a great review saying “it was worth the wait.”
Steven was at the Melissa Auf der Maur concert later this evening where he came and sat next to me and we had a chat about his reading. He also held a Dance Party on Sunday after the Hugo Awards which he recorded and posted on his blog if you want to listen to it.

Preparing to write a Series
Panel: Fiona Patton, Joe Halderman, Joshua Palmatier, Laura Anne Gilman, M.D. Benoit, Minday Klasky, George R.R. Martin
At the same time as Paedar’s reading George was on a panel in the room next door. Kat and Mentat were there throughout and during the Q&A session at the end some guy who is an aspiring writer asked a long winded question to which he tacked on a question about Jon’s parentage. George replied that he would not answer that sort of question.

Kyle Cassidy was also in the audience of this panel. Kyle is an amazing photographer and is currently Neil Gaiman’s official photographer. Kyle is a friend of our very own Yagathai, I believe they used to be flatmates in Philadelphia. So what happened is Kyle sent Yags a text message saying that someone was asking George for spoilers. Yags then sent a text message to X-Ray and as the panel ended a large group of BWB jumped on Kat in the hallway demanding to know who was asking for spoilers and can we go beat them up please. 
Signing: Neil Gaiman

At the same time as the two events above Neil Gaiman was doing his first of two signings. Mormont, Scott and Lany queued up and got some books signed. Mormont had two books for friends which he got signed. He had another book of his own but due to the two book limit restriction was not able to get it signed. He hoped to be able to get a ticket to the second signing on Monday, read here to see if he did. Lany was waiting for almost an hour. She had bought ‘The Graveyard Book’ in the dealers room for her son and Neil drew a tombstone and wrote “To Alex, enjoy the ghosts” which I gather the Brat loved.
Live Mafia
An enormous group of BWB members gathered at our meeting point where we had arranged to meet for Live Mafia at 5 pm. At first we thought “oh shit, is everyone playing, how will we all fit into Kat’s hotel room?” But in the end only 10 of us played Live Mafia. This included Lord of Oop North who is perhaps better known as Limecat after his avatar. Limecat arrived earlier in the day but this was the first time I saw him in Montreal. Another boarder who arrived at this point was Mina Martell. She is a Montreal local and a big time lurker on the board who only really posts in Mafia. She maintains she is quiet and sensible and yet it was her who turned up for Live Mafia carrying a case of beer and then proceeded to drink most of it herself! Mina stayed with Pebble and Blue for a couple of nights even though she had an exam on Monday that she needed to study for. Also newly arrived (but not playing Live Mafia) was Chataya who had dragged along her husband known only as “Darling”. I think he had a good time, it was hard to be sure really. Chataya definitely made an impact with some truly memorable attire throughout the next couple of days.
Most of the rest of the group went to the International Hotel where they met George in the absinthe bar. They spoke about the HBO series and pondered casting choices. George confirmed that Jaime had been cast but would not be drawn out on naming names or commenting further. Another group of boarders went out on the town and discovered the Metal Bar – an awesome place which they would revisit on Sunday night for some schwanking.
The ten Mafia players took a slow walk to Kat’s hotel in Old Montreal. The reason it was slow is because we had to use “Pebble Steps” which is the pace you need to walk at if you are with Pebble. I got very used to Pebble Steps by the end of my time in Canada. And when I say “used to” I mean “sick of”. [image: image10.png]



We got back to Kat and Luga’s hotel room and rearranged the furniture to suit us better. Luga was supposed to have joined us for her first Mafia game but for some reason she ducked out on it. Tycho sat on the floor, Pebble and Limecat took the sofa and MG and Mina were on one of the beds (photo). Blue Rose, Lany and Soph took the other bed (photo) with Mentat and Kat sat on a chair and table respectively (photo).
Kat moderated the first game and organised roles for everyone on pieces of paper. We played with two killers, six innocents, one seeker and one vigilante. Kat told us there might be a healer too but that turned out to be just a rumour. Right at the start of the game Limecat pretty much gave away the fact that he was one of the killers by making too much noise when he looked up to confirm his identity with the other killer. I knew he was definitely a killer and perhaps I should have gone after him from the get go but I wanted to see if I could flush out the other killer early and voted for Soph. Some of the others were not sure who had moved and the vote went the way of Pebble who got lynched first.
The killers took me out on the first night, a clever move which threw suspicion on Soph. However, it was Mentat who was lynched on the second day. Blue was the seeker and she identified Limecat as a killer on the second night, but before she could use that information she was killed. Finally Limecat got what was coming to him lynched on day 3. But Kat was keeping roles of those out of the game hidden from the players so they were unaware that the next round would be end game. Soph was killed that night but during the same phase Mina chose to use her vigilante kill. She took her time deliberating but then correctly chose Lany as the other killer, thus winning the game for herself and Tycho.
At this point Tycho and I left, I was heading back to the convention centre to see Melissa Auf der Maur while Tycho went to the International Hotel to join the other group at the absinthe bar. The others carried on with a second game. Mina and Pebble were killers in this game and again one of them gave it away by moving too loudly when looking up during the first night phase. This time it was Mina making too much noise on the bed and she then exacerbated the problem by being overly aggressive during the day phase which resulted in her being lynched first. Maybe it was all that beer she drunk catching up with her. Just saying.
But it took the innocents a long time to find the second killer. Kat was targeted first night, Blue was lynched day two and Pebble then picked Mentat to kill on night two. I am not sure who the vigilante was in this game but they wrongly used their kill on Lany. In the end game Limecat and Soph both voted for Pebble to win the game.

A little while later the 8 Mafia players left Kat’s hotel, ran into another group of roving boarders and went for dinner at an Italian restaurant in Old Montreal. Kat had pizza for the third time in 3 days. Some left there early to go to the Coraline screening and the others stayed a while longer before roving over to the Delta for the Friday night parties.

I think it was at this point that Blue Rose received the Blue Rose pendant that Zabzy had bought her as a gift. Lany brought it up from New York on the train for her. Everyone commented to say how beautiful and appropriate it was for Blue – nice find Zabzy!
Melissa Auf der Maur – Out Of Our Minds
When I found out Melissa Auf der Maur was going to be at Worldcon I was really excited because I am a huge fan of her music and decided I was going to be at this whether any of the other BWB members were going to be there or not. And yes I was the only one there. When I arrived there were maybe 20-30 people sat in the audience, but I was a bit early. I took a seat in the second row, left hand side. Melissa was on stage, kneeling down, eating some takeaway Chinese food and poring over pages and pages of notes which she had strewn around the microphone stand where she would be talking and performing from.
The audience began to grow steadily, there could have been anywhere between 50-80 people there in the end, but I did not turn around to look really. Somebody joined me in the second row, it was Steven R. Boyett. He sat down and started eating a sandwich wrap which seemed like a great time for me to interrupt and mention that I had enjoyed his reading earlier on. He said thanks and then went on to say he really enjoyed the other two authors’ readings as well, saying it was an interesting contrast of styles.
On stage Melissa got up, went backstage and then appeared on the main floor to the side of the stage. She walked across the front with a bag over her shoulder, I guess on her way to the bathroom before getting started. As she walked past Steve called out “Speech!” to which she turned her head sticking her tongue out at him. Great little moment! At the time I did wonder if he knew her because of his music connections but later found out they had met on the New Media panel earlier that afternoon. On her way out Melissa said hello to the people sat on the right side of the auditorium and asked them to move over to the left side since she would be presenting everything from that side of the stage.
A little while later she was back, the lights dimmed and Melissa walked out on stage. The sound of the stage creaking under her boots was sadly louder than the reception from the crowd, who I think were not really sure things were starting since there was no introduction. And I think that’s what really stood out in this presentation, the fact that she was doing this entire thing on her own. Even as a solo artist she usually has a band with her but right here, in this moment it was just her, the microphone, and later on, her bass guitar.
Melissa started out by thanking everyone for coming and she was thrilled to be at Worldcon in her home town to present her short film ‘Out Of Our Minds’. The first full showing of the film was at the Sundance Film Festival back in January 2009 and it went down very well. In her own words “Out of our minds is a 21st century concept album. It started as a song which turned into an album, which turned into a film, which turned into a comic, which is turning into various web portals and will soon turn into a full on live rock show”, and for those lucky few who were there that night it would be a sneak preview of all that.
She then spoke about herself, where she came from and how she got here. She studied photography, art and media at Concordia University, Montreal. At the time she was playing bass in a local band with her boyfriend when one day she wrote a letter that changed her life forever. Most people who write letters to their favourite bands do not hear back from them, but when Melissa wrote to her favourite band, ‘The Smashing Pumpkins’, to apologise for a friend throwing a beer bottle at them, Billy Corgan not only wrote back but became her friend. This was back in 1991 before the Pumpkins even had a record out and were playing their first shows in Canada to about 20 people for a dollar. In 1993 Melissa’s band ‘Tinker’ opened up for the Pumpkins on their ‘Siamese Dream’ tour. Billy impressed with her talent and cool attitude said to her “You're a great bass player and one day you will be in my band.”

But instead of being in his band he introduced Melissa to Courtney Love when she was looking to recruit a bass player for her band ‘Hole’ after the death of Kirsten Pfaff. This was in July 1994, just three months after the death of Kurt Cobain, so as you can imagine that was a pretty traumatic time to step out on stage with one of the biggest rock bands in the world and play to some of the biggest crowds in the world, including The Reading Music Festival in the UK as the headline act in August 1994. Melissa spent five years as a member of Hole and worked on the album ‘Celebrity Skin’ released in 1998.
When her five year contract with Hole expired in October 1999 Melissa thought she would finally have a chance to work on some music of her own, but by some act of cosmic coincidence, less than a week later bassist D’arcy Wretzky left The Smashing Pumpkins and Billy called Melissa up and asked her to be in his band, his prediction finally coming true. She worked incredibly hard to learn the huge back catalog of songs, Billy being such a prolific songwriter, and she was further challenged by the ambitious live shows with changing arrangements and keys of songs, almost making each performance unique. In Melissa’s opinion this full on and demanding challenge made her a better musician and was worth the 15 months she spent with the band on their ‘Sacred and Profane’ tour. As Melissa puts it she “toured the world with two of the biggest egos in music and lived to tell the tale.”

From 2001 Melissa finally got a chance to begin work on various solo projects including a photography exhibition, a Black Sabbath covers band and eventually completed the recording of her first solo album ‘Auf der Maur’ in 2004. It was at this point I really became aware of her music from impressive first single ‘Followed The Waves’ and I was fortunate enough to see her play at Reading Music Festival in August 2004. It was quite an emotional gig for her and she said on stage that she “feels like this is her second home” since this was where her career really started with Hole ten years ago.
The second solo album has been a long time coming, Melissa says she has had the album finished since 2007 but really wanted to follow this idea of having her music and art converge and crossover into different forms of media. Auf der Maur recruited director Tony Stone after seeing a rough cut of his film ‘Severed Ways: The Norse Discovery of America’ (2007), a take on the Viking story, which has a partly black metal soundtrack, and this provided a great source of inspiration for OOOM with Vikings featuring in a big way.
Melissa explained that the chorus line for the song “Out of our minds and into our hearts, standing by” was the core of the project and that everything we would see in the 28 minute film was derived and inspired from that. So with the introduction complete the lights went out and the film began. The music throughout is a hypnotic, rhythmic, thrumming bassline with chanting vocals and occasional percussive rattles and taps, which it was revealed, were played by banging on trees and tin cans and fence posts. A few times I closed my eyes and just drifted to the music which was very calming, especially through the slow build up at the start of the film.
A car travels through an autumnal forest. A red headed woman (played by Melissa), searching for something, at the wheel. A blue flatbed truck with a large cut tree trunk chained down on the back is thundering along from the opposite direction. As the two vehicles get closer together the music picks up its pace, building towards a crescendo, reaching a climax at the inevitable collision on a blind corner. The woman’s hand hangs limply from her crumpled and wrecked open door. On the ground there is blood flowing from somewhere.
Now we are taken somewhere new. A beautiful serene forest. Dreamlike. A remote cabin in the woods where an injured woman is being tended by another woman dressed in a medieval or Viking robe. She makes a poultice which is placed tenderly on the injured red-head’s back. Now we see two Viking warriors wading through the swamps, wearing furs and heavily armed, making their way to an ambush I think.
And it’s at this point that the video cuts out completely. It had skipped a couple of times a few minutes before but this was a complete stop. Unfortunately the first of many technical problems. Melissa came back on stage to apologise and to say they would try to get the video back as quickly as possible. We try again but it only gets a minute or two further along before blacking out again. I felt so bad for her and I wasn’t the only one. A lady further back called out “it’s really beautiful” as Melissa came back on stage and I think she took heart from the encouragement. This time we were waiting quite a while to fix the problem. It is a real credit to Melissa that she kept her cool throughout all the technical glitches. Had this been me I would have probably been swearing and kicking stuff, making a big scene. Instead Melissa began answering questions from the audience such as who was the director and where it was filmed. I think she said the forest road is on some remote land owned by a family member where they could film uninterrupted for free. She also spoke about the costumes and make up effects but did not want to say too much to avoid spoiling the rest of the film.

And I will do the same. Suffice to say that after about 4 or 5 attempts we were able to get past the middle third of the film that the laptop was having trouble with and the rest was smooth from there. Bleeding trees and all.
Hellbound reviewers Laura Wiebe Taylor and Jonathan Smith who were also there for the show describe OOOM as “bleeds heathen metal imagery […] intertwining trees, cars, mysticism, fur-clad marauders, and a lot of blood in a half hour of visual poetics”.
After the film Melissa gave the audience an exclusive first showing of the almost complete video for the single ‘Out Of Our Minds’. For this video they reshot the car/truck crash scene at night giving the video a very different look to the autumnal daylight of the film. The music of the single is also very much in stark contrast. Where the film score is psychedelic, haunting and ethereal, the single is heavy guitar, pounding bass notes and powerful siren-like vocals. You can watch a video teaser on Melissa’s website which combines the opening part of the song with a video montage from the film. Just to confuse you further.
But the real treat of the night came at the end of the presentation with Melissa performing three tracks live on stage. “Just a girl and her bass” she pre-warned the audience “shouldn’t play rock music without a band”. In a post on her website a few days later she revealed she was terrified of doing this. She had been rehearsing a set of bass and vocal only tracks at home because she knew she would need to be able to perform without a band over the coming months as she tours various film festivals and shows. She decided to “face her fears and step up to the challenge and no better place to do it than with a clan of sci-fi maniacs!”
The first track she played was the forthcoming single ‘Out Of Our Minds’. This was accompanied on the screens by images from the OOOM comic/graphic novel that will be released alongside the album next spring. You can watch a recent live performance of the entire song from Dundas Square, Toronto on Youtube. Usually the bass is hidden beneath glossy layers of wailing guitar, pounding drums and crashing cymbals, but listening to the unfettered resonating growl of Melissa’s bass really showed how essential it is to rock music. I think bass players get a lot of disrespect sometimes but it really is the foundation on which guitar based music is built. UPDATE: You can now download the track ‘Out Of Our Minds’ for FREE from Melissa’s website.
At times I was surprised by how much of each track she could play on the bass alone, this was especially noticeable for me on second track ‘Followed The Waves’ which I know well enough to fill in the gaps with. Yeah I was tapping my foot and nodding my head to this one, big smile on my face. You can watch this performance of Followed The Waves on Youtube. On reflection it does start kind of wobbly, what with her forgetting to tune the bass down to D, how embarrassing. But she settled down after that and began to show what I consider the strongest of her many talents, the spine tingling, haunting call of her voice. I had to laugh when she filled in part of the song with “imagine guitar solos, raging drum solos right here, amazing epic music happening right now, besides a girl and her bass”. [image: image11.png]


 
She played one more track after that, the name of which completely escapes me. She did say it was one of the first tracks she ever wrote way back when, so this was something like a progression backwards in time through the three track set. It may have been named something like ‘Best Intentions’ or ‘Best Wishes’? I left a comment on Melissa’s blog asking what the track was but sadly no answer, I guess I should not be surprised, she is a very busy woman.
After the show she began handing out badges and postcards from the stage. People gathered round for autographs. I heard one guy say “you’ve made a fan of me here tonight” and I followed him up by saying to her “I was already a fan, I saw you play at Reading Music Festival.”  “Oh wow,” she replied signing my postcard, “which one was that?” “Like five years ago” I said. “Oh yes, that was the anniversary of my first big gig. Did you travel here just for Worldcon?” I said yes and also to meet some friends. “Thank you for coming and maybe I will come back and play Reading again next year”, to which I said, “That would be AWESOME!”
Okay, I will admit it - that was my total fanboy moment of the Con. I took my signed postcard, shook her hand and let someone else have theirs.
Coraline – screening introduced by Neil Gaiman
I left the convention centre to go to the parties, mostly because I was hungry but had I known that loads of boarders were coming down to the auditorium I had just left to see Neil Gaiman introduce a screening of ‘Coraline’ I might have stuck around. Yet again I missed another AWESOME Gaiman thing.
Neil introduced the film and was, as always, a master of presenting himself and his work. He explained a few things regarding production, why it took so long to film, and discrepancies between the film and the book. Neil also talked about the script for ‘The Graveyard Book Movie’ and how he embraces changes to the original story since books and movies are different media.
Unfortunately the laptop playing the bluray disc had the same technical problems Melissa Auf der Maur had suffered earlier that evening during her showing of ‘Out Of Our Minds’. But this time someone actually went out and found a DVD copy of ‘Coraline’ from somewhere and this played smoothly without problems. So the film started about an hour late but the crowd stayed and still enjoyed it because it is such a fantastic film to see.
Friday night parties
So instead of seeing ‘Coraline’ I made my way back to the Delta and took the elevator to the 28th floor to find I was the only boarder there. However this was a good night to be here early. Apparently someone on a Montreal radio station had been talking about the con and casually mentioned that there were parties going on at the Delta Hotel that night. On a normal Friday night of Worldcon the parties are extremely popular and the queues for the elevators get pretty long at peak times (10 pm-midnight), but by all accounts this particular night was extra crazy-busy. In fact the hotel actually made a decision to stop letting more people up until some others came back down and left. Naturally this did not go down very well.

In addition the hotel staff also closed down several parties outside the designated party floors. Only the 5th and 28th floors were allowed to have public parties but some people had booked rooms on various other floors with the intention of hosting parties. A couple of parties for actual publishers were lucky to get rearranged to rooms on the designated floors. I think in many ways The Delta Hotel Montreal were not ready for what Worldcon was bringing them and I suspect they will think twice before hosting another event like this in the future.
Many boarders were caught in the chaos in the lobby and could not get up to the parties. I think some gave up and came back later on. But Scott found an ingenious way around the problem and this would be crucial for getting people to our party on Saturday night. He realised that you could take the stairs if you wanted to, the fifth floor was not that much of a climb after all. So he started climbing the stairs and then noticed that there was a service elevator right next to the stairs that nobody was using. For sure it was a lot slower moving than the main elevators but with no queue it was massively quicker to get to the party floors this way. Good work Ser Scott!

So there I was the only boarder on the scene. I investigated all the parties going on, including scoping out the suite we would have tomorrow night. But I was hungry and left in search of food. In the Japanese party there was a man frying up some stir fry type thing and so I had a big helping of his first batch of the night, hot and fresh. I have no idea what it was, something fishy I think, but it was delicious.
I decided it was not worth leaving and so I hung around outside the elevators on the 28th floor figuring that when someone I knew finally arrived I would see them. It was only a few minutes later when Pat arrived and we had a good chat for a long while there about various things. Soon after Paedar jumped out the elevator at us and the three of us made our way down to the UK Party which was being held in the big suite where the Tor Party was the previous night. We had a good long conversation about books and blogs and other goings on.
At length several other boarders finally arrived. Like Chataya and Kat, Blue Rose and Mina Flip and John, Scott and Pebble – I think Scott had just been kicked in the nuts in that photo!

A little later on we decided to go down to the 5th floor in search of the “Angry Robot” party because this sounded pretty interesting – it turned out to be totally AWESOME! Angry Robot is a new YA publisher that is just launching and to promote themselves they put on a party and hired this incredible piece of kit. Basically it is a remote operated robot with a speaker that can output voice communication via mobile phone, or music clips. We could never decide if it did have a video camera somewhere on it or if the operator was hidden somewhere nearby. The guy operating it was hilarious, a total genius and I think everyone who met him had a great time.
To get an idea of what he was like in action checkout this Youtube clip of Angry Robot being flirty rather than angry and chatting up author Lauren Beukes.
As you can see Angry Robot can be driven around, his arms move, his head goes up and down and when he is talking the faceplate lights up. When he met Pebble and Mina the head dropped down to its lowest level to talk to them. Both Kat and Luga had a great time flirting with the robot. Limecat also tried out one of his lines but with rather less success.
We took over a corner of the Angry Robot party for a while. I had some delicious chicken legs from the steam cooker close to us, the meat just came right off the bone [image: image12.png]



After that people began to drift away and go to bed. I ended up back in the UK party where they were giving away towels with ‘Froody’ on them – a ‘Hitchhikers’ Guide to the Galaxy’ joke in case you are somehow unaware. This was a raffle prize draw with rather limited success. In the end they were just giving them away to anyone who had a number remotely close to the one picked. Hell they were not even checking I could have just shouted yes and I would have won a towel. George was also there and Luga was right beside him hanging on his every word. I’m not saying she hogs his attention or anything, but….

Somewhere after 2 am I decided it was time for bed. I slept much better this night for which I was very glad.
Saturday 8 August 2009
Mich threatened that she would jump on me if I was still asleep by the time she arrived at the Delta Hotel in the morning. Unfortunately I was awake by the time she knocked on the door and Pod let her in. Our reason for being awake early today was a group photograph of boarders with Kyle Cassidy, Neil Gaiman’s photographer. A short while later Pod, Mich and I left the Delta and walked toward the convention centre in bright sunshine. Mich donned her sunglasses and I remarked that she was only doing so to look cool. Her immediate retort: “If I was bothered about looking cool I would not be walking with you guys.” Ouch!
Neil’s Photographer Photographs You
Kyle Cassidy is an incredibly talented photographer and is in fact Neil Gaiman’s official photographer. As Yagathai puts it “he takes so many pictures on a daily basis that he knows light like a fish knows water.” Kyle spent Saturday morning taking photographs of SFF fans. He has that special knack of getting people to relax and capturing them at just the right moment to create a snapshot that is not only beautiful but a revelation of the subject.

When we arrived there was already a small group of boarders there including The Bastard of Godsgrace who had made the trip over from Poland to be here. I did not realise at the time but he is actually the Polish translator of ‘A Song of Ice and Fire’ which is pretty cool. He was not the only ASOIAF translator we would meet that day.
We were waiting on more people to arrive including Kat and Luga who were in fact the two people who had suggested we do this in the first place. But we had a dozen boarders there and could not really wait around all morning. Clearly there were too many people for the small backdrop and light bloom rigged studio area Kyle had set up for the regular shots he was taking so he took our group picture in front of the glass windows of the convention centre. In order to put the photo on his site he needed our written permission to do so and we did start to queue up and do this, but Kyle stopped us and said he would be at our party later tonight and we could sign the release then. Needless to say this did not happen. We should have known, signing stuff at our party? It was never gonna happen and as a result the group shot photo did not make it into the official gallery with the others. But Kyle did make it available to us on Flickr.
Most of our group followed Blue’s suggestion and went to a panel with Patrick Rothfuss and Brandon Sanderson which had already started. Some time after we left Kyle Cassidy, Kat and Luga finally arrived. Apparently they had overslept! This, despite telling everyone to be there at 10 am and not to be late. I don’t know, what are they like? Kyle took a picture of these two slugabeds anyway. Kyle also managed to photograph the ever elusive Aoife who I did not see much of at the con but she was definitely there as the evidence shows.
Archetypes without Stereotypes
Panel: Patrick Rothfuss, Brandon Sanderson, Ben Jeapes, Nalo Hopkinson, Doselle Young
I am so glad Blue suggested we go to this panel. To sum it up in short; it was fucking hilarious! I wish I could remember more of what was said because it really was brilliant. The entire audience was kept laughing throughout. This panel discussed what makes a good archetype without it being a stereotype and also the character stereotypes that they hate.
Brandon spoke about Patrick Rothfuss’ book ‘The Name of the Wind’ and said he was half way through before he realised this was simply a book about a wizard who goes to a school for magic. Because the story was being told in such an interesting and fresh way this realisation creeps up on the reader and you don’t notice the stereotype in play. Brandon went on to say that he was trying much the same approach with his ‘Mistborn’ series. It begins as the story of a group of thieves who attempt to steal something and fail. Then from there the story becomes a larger save the world type quest, which is of course a traditional fantasy stereotype. By telling it in a different way he could in some ways mask that stereotype and keep it from becoming a huge distraction for well versed readers.
Patrick moderated the panel well and shook his mod fist a few times to keep things moving along. He mooted the question about stereotypes the panel hate. Brandon said that he really hated the dark lord who wants to destroy the world, because why would anyone want to do that. The irony of this being, as he himself pointed out, that in ‘Mistborn’ there is a dark lord type baddie to defeat but at least he did not want to destroy the world he merely wanted to rule it.

There were also some great answers from Nalo Hopkinson and Doselle Young. Doselle is a comic artist with an incredible sense of humour and he said so many amusing things which I sadly can’t remember because I was laughing too much to memorize. One thing I do remember was that Nalo had been saying she disliked the stereotypical femme fatale character with the dozen knifes hidden in her clothing. Doselle said “oh hell no, I love the sexy femme fatale, mmm, she can come fleece me any time” or words to that effect. This lead to a discussion of female characters looking into a mirror to describe themselves and Nalo thought this was just a male author’s fantasy as they get to describe their character as having fine pert breasts and the like.
Patrick Rothfuss interjected to say that he used to think that was the case but then related a tale about his girlfriend who he had caught in the act of checking herself out in the full length bedroom mirror. Patrick stood up to give a demonstration of what he had seen through the ajar bedroom door. Before he started he warned the audience not to film this “Seriously my girlfriend is 7 months pregnant and she will kill me if she sees this on Youtube.” Patrick then adopted a pose looking back over his shoulder as if checking out his right butt cheek in a mirror. He made appreciative faces to the amusement of the crowd. Then he told us that in order to go from checking out her right cheek to look at the left instead of simply turning to look over the other shoulder his girlfriend actually jumped in the air and spun 300 degrees around to land looking over her left shoulder. Patrick demonstrating the move as he said it, “Don’t film this!” he cried again pointing to someone at the back of the room. [image: image13.png]


 

After the panel was over I decided I really needed some breakfast and so I went up to the secret rooftop restaurant for a quick bite to eat. Lany came along for something to eat as well and the two of us sat in the sun enjoying some food and a chat. At some point a man came up on the roof, wandered around a corner and did not come back for a while. I think he was probably having a smoke. Lany said that once we finished eating we should go take a look to see what was round the corner. We discovered the top of a nearby building on the edge of Chinatown which had the most amazing Chinese Pagoda on the roof of it. Then we noticed that this building is in fact the Holiday Inn [image: image14.png]


 
Fantasy = Realism?
Panel: Elaine M. Brennan + two random fans
When we came back down from the rooftop restaurant Lany and I went back to the room we had just left where Kat and Mina had stayed on for the next panel. This panel was supposedly about how modern fantasy is trying to be more realistic in the way its worlds are portrayed, detailing complex aspects of finances and society dynamics and asking whether this is necessary. On paper this sounds potentially interesting.
The problem was that only one of the assigned panellists showed up for it and so she picked two random volunteers from the audience to actually get up and sit on the panel with her. To make matters worse the “Freakazoid” Daryl was there and he literally took over the panel with constant questions and interruptions. Mina had gotten bored and left long before we arrived but Kat was still doggedly sitting through this crap until we came in and rescued her.

There was not long till the end of this panel and we definitely wanted to be at the next panel that would be in this very same room (yup 3 panels in a row, very strange) so we just hung out in the hallway outside for half hour or so chatting about how much of a con-freak the Freakazoid is. Eventually the people from that panel including the Freakazoid left and a lot more BWB members showed up so we went in to take seats before the room got too full.

We Are The Knights Who Say F***!
Panel: Patrick Rothfuss, Mark Gascoigne, Guy Gavriel Kay, David Anthony Durham, Ellen Kushner
Patrick Rothfuss took the same chair he had sat in for the Archetypes without Stereotypes panel earlier on but this time he would not be moderating the panel. Guy Gavriel Kay took charge of this outstanding all star panel and really showed how a panel should be moderated. I am not saying Patrick did a bad job of it earlier on, far from it, but I think he may have learned a thing or two from Guy about how to press the other panellists to dig deeper and examine their answers and opinions in new ways. As much of a learning experience for them as it was for the audience.
Guy opened the panel by reading a classic Ursula Le Guin quote about how “Elfland is not your home, it is not a nice place, it is not Poughkeepsie”. He then read a passage from Le Guin’s canonical “change four words” essay ‘From Elfland to Poughkeepsie’ in which just four words are changed from fantasy names and locations to real world equivalents and thus poses the question does the language, diction and terminology used make a difference between a work of fiction set in the real world and a work of fantasy set in an imagined world?
Ellen Kushner speaks about the strongly opposed views she had when Le Guin’s essay was first published and how she decided to sit down and write a complete rebuttal of all of its points. By the time Ellen finished her essay she found she completely agreed with everything Le Guin had said. Quite the turnaround of opinion. However, Ellen went on to say “The ways in which we use language in fantasy have changed since Le Guin wrote that essay. I’m in sympathy with what she says, but I’m not sure how it relates to the modern genre.”

David Anthony Durham said that he feels like he's not writing novels of the modern, but writing novels of history. At the time I took him to mean that he only writes historical fiction but judging by his fantasy epic ‘Acacia: The War With the Mein’ this is clearly not the case. David said “You couldn’t change four words in my book and make it a contemporary novel, but you might be able to change four words and make it into a historical novel. I’m not sure what I think of that yet. And I’m not sure how non-fantastic fantasy fits in.”
Mark Gascoigne says one of the thrusts behind his new publishing group, Angry Robot, is fantasy for a “post-YA” audience and that the assumption is that they will have grown up with computer game fantasy and terminology. “For them the idea that fantasy should transport is crucial. But it can’t have the same plot as, say, a crime novel.” He goes on to say that “although one might copy Le Guin's trick, it doesn't invalidate the quality of the work.”
Patrick Rothfuss had a harder opinion on this saying he feels “Le Guin is really pulling a stage magician trick and is guilty of reductionism. For a certain type of fantasy, the payoff for the reader is the Sensawunda [fandom slang: ‘sense of wonder’], but to say that that's the only goal of all fantasy is not something I think she means to say. The wonder and delight that she speaks of is a certain kind of fantasy and that she might be right about, but it’s not all fantasy. When it comes to fantasy that is evaluating aspects of our reality from the distance that fantasy provides she might be quite wrong.”
Guy follows this train of thought linking it to another Le Guin point about fantasy being a metaphor for travel. “Are perceptions of travel different today? Is there more of a desire to explore the remote but remain anchored in the familiar? Do we have a generation of readers who have grown up with that as their default and who cannot read in the way Le Guin wants?”

Patrick responds with “It’s always been an issue. Much of the Sensawunda type fantasy falls under stories of the fae, and most urban fantasy also belongs to that genre. It's the intersection of that supernatural and mundane worlds that makes the genre and much other recent fantasy so compelling to many new readers.”
Guy asks Ellen about the language and diction used in cross-world fiction. Ellen quotes Gaiman that every book is made of words and the diction you use is what defines that reality. “We talk about worldbuilding a lot, and worldbuilding doesn't always use all of the senses, the music of the words you choose isn't often discussed as part of that.”
Guy then turns to Mark and asks if there's more emphasis on the language used in fantasy published for younger readers. Guy thinks pace might be a more important issue and cites Tolkien as an example of slow pace. Mark replies that as an editor he finds it is necessary to guard language and sometimes he “must hide the broccoli under the burger. We all think that the adult thing to do is to grow and experience everything the world can give us, some might argue that that's didactive. We're not telling the young to do things just because they're good for them, but also because there's joy and wealth to be found in those things.”

Guy then cites a discussion he read on a librarian’s email list that some books might show you things that are outside your experience (window books) but that this sort of book is losing ground to books that reflect back on the reader their experience and language (mirror books). Is this a loss of sensitivity to language among readers, a desire for a mirror of the familiar? He asks David, where fantasy sounds like history, would Le Guin have an issue with it?

David says when he was writing historical fiction set in our world it was easy to seek out period terminology and use that. When it came to writing fantasy outside of our own world he tended to want to move away from diction that was either too familiar to us or to make one up that was specific to that imaginary place.
Pat thought about this same issue during his worldbuilding and said that ‘A Clockwork Orange’ helped him with this because he appreciated it but didn't really enjoy it. “What you’ve done here is impressive, but I don’t want to fight this hard” and so he wanted to create something that was easier to get into and understand.
He goes on to talk about teaching Children's Lit and says that you always want to push children to read at the top of their reading level and adults don't always try for that same extreme of their abilities. After teaching about three classes of his Children's Lit University course a student, who had previously been home-schooled, comes up to him and objects that “these things just can't happen, it is impossible.” She was completely lost by depictions of the fantastic. She was not equipped to understand the imaginary or expand her mind to accept the concept of the “other” in that way. As Patrick put it “she was the equivalent of milk-fed veal.”
Guy then asked Ellen “do we need to differentiate between challenges of language and challenges of theme or content?” She replies that “when you're bringing in people from another world it's really necessary for them to speak with a different manner, and that the author must be fluent in both dictions. One of the joys of doing something like urban fantasy is making those two languages dance together and that you can distinguish the people from the other world by their use of language. Two guys walk into a bar, and you can tell who the elf is by how they talk.”
Guy then brought up two examples in the BBC TV production ‘Merlin’ and the movie ‘A Knight’s Tale’ where there is an obviously deliberate mash-up of historical/mythic and modern tone, diction and dialogue. For some the payoff is to hear Arthur saying “Screw you” while to others that's an unpleasant betrayal of the original version. Mark comments that “Shakespeare was writing in his time’s contemporary English”, Ellen interjects with “But his language was glorious! Much more metaphorically rich than ours is”. Mark responds with a comparison that “Ben Johnson was the venal gutter writer. The Joe Abercrombie of his age.” Mark goes on to say he is torn and that both are valid, and both are potentially valid tools but either is as capable of failing or succeeding gloriously. Ellen brings in a food metaphor of hot dogs in the ballpark vs. duck l'orange. Sometimes you want one over the other but you know which type of place they belong to.
David speaks up to say that his kids are homeschooled and they know a lot of fantasy stories, oh and they also love broccoli.
After the laughter died down Guy returns to Shakespeare to point out that his Greeks and Romans never try for anything like Greek or Latin language, but then here's Caesar saying “Et tu, Brute,” Why just that line of dialogue in Latin? But the point is that the language isn't flattened or simplified, it's every bit as deep as it could be, but Pat speaks up and says that at the same time it's completely clear at multiple levels and not opaque at all. Mark points out that Shakespeare certainly wasn't averse to using crass and silly humour when it wasn't an obstacle to the story. But as an author you need the ability to move between the two modes we’re discussing.

Ellen says she doesn't want to see this turned into a debate about whether it's OK to use modern language. Guy says “It’s fundamentally true to say that it's all in the execution, if the author inspires confidence in the reader that they know what they're doing they can proceed however they choose. But there are situations where we can say it’s a good thing to make the reader work, to make them comprehend the alien.”

David says it is one thing when the two worlds mingle but there needs to be a difference in diction, but what about when the diction is unique to the created world. Guy mentions a series with a completely invented language that is deliberately inaccessible. He says that the idea that language should be constrained for younger readers could be an obstacle to writers.

Pat says that occasional opacity via a foreign vocabulary can be useful and valuable. In terms of the language, we talk about the music and sound of the language. Pat says that he spent a great deal of time creating idiomatic insertions from the different cultures in his world. “Pulling my leg” has no place, no meaning in a secondary world, it must have its own idioms. Patrick then references the panel title while saying that he has the most fun creating vulgarities because what a culture regards as taboo reveals so much. A vulgar idiom that he included in ‘The Name of the Wind’ was “shit in God’s beard!” [image: image15.png]


 “Shit in God’s beard? Did he really just say that?”

Patrick goes on to say “That’s what got me about Abercrombie’s books (which I like) – he has references to Shakespeare in his titles, epigraphs from our world. Is that a cheat?” Ellen replies that “Fantasy is in the end made up. I’m a fantasist second and a contemporary novelist first. I’m not going to be able to create from whole cloth, I make something new out of parts.” “So you’re playing? I’m with you on that” said Guy, “If the reader never questions it you’re doing your job” says Ellen.
David says that even though Pat's phrases sounded in place in that world, it didn't really feel alien. He wonders if they'd ever say something that seemed really incomprehensible to our readers. Patrick confirms that there will be more foreignness in the second book.
Ellen says she often thinks like she is writing in translation. Guy said he used that same metaphor in ‘Song for Arbonne’ and consciously tried to write verse that seemed like it had been competently translated into English.

Guy asks about language used to hook the reader on page one. Is it always a good thing to have an immediate approachable “hook”? To what extent is that an assumption in contemporary fantasy? Pat said it has to be legitimate, not a trick. It was really difficult for him and it took a long time to set his hook, it wasn’t until he found the narrative framework he wanted to use for the book that he was able to work out what the hook should be.
Guy asks Mark about boredom, whether the threshold is more readily reached in younger readers. “We’re not used to lengthy prologues, as readers. What we expect is a good story right from the start, we as a mass media consumption culture have changed and that to some extent is a cause of the vernacular used in Hollywood.”

Dave says “I’m aware of having to promise that what comes later will be action-y and exciting. I don’t necessarily have that immediate hook, but I feel that need.” Ellen said “I think language may vary, mileage may vary, for different readers at different times. I couldn’t read Jane Austen until I was in my 20s. You can learn. I suspect that contemporary genre fantasy can be a gateway to older works and different ways of using language.”
With only a short time left Guy now accepted a couple of questions from the audience. Firstly someone asks about Mary Renault's ‘Claudius’ books. Guy says that the dialog can be as contemporary as it can possibly be if the pace and the depiction reflect the setting appropriately. That one must elicit the trust of the reader. David says he reads Graves and enjoys it but that it's an English guy playing a Roman, but he doesn't disconnect from it any more than that, for Renault it's a much more dramatic change in perception. Ellen says it's about the rhythm of the language used.

The second and final audience question was about translation. David says he is not bilingual and so has to trust what his translators tell him. Guy says that as a writer you are astonishingly vulnerable to the translator and he has no way of personally knowing if most translations of his work are any decent reflection of his voice. He has a friend that says that Twain reads better in the original Hungarian.
Patrick then told us something which I personally found interesting and that is that he has set up his own wiki site just for the translators working on ‘The Name of the Wind’ so they can ask him questions about what he meant in any particular scene. This is especially important in languages like Chinese and Japanese where there are many different ways of referring to oneself depending upon what you are talking about. While taking the trouble to keep up with the questions is time consuming he hopes the benefit of this will be worth it in the end.
This really was an excellent panel, thoroughly interesting throughout and all the panellists had good points to make. By the way I did not memorise all this stuff, there are several scattered reports about this panel on the net and I pieced things together from these and my own recollections. From here most of the group went shopping to buy the beer for the BWB party later tonight.
Reading: Neil Gaiman
This time I decided I was not going to miss Neil Gaiman and so I left the group in the corridor after the panel and rushed over to the large room where Neil would be reading to make sure I got in before it was too packed to even get in the room. As I stood at the back looking around for some friendly faces I spotted Luga right down near the front on the right hand side waving franticly at me. When I got there I also found Lucky Pierre in the row behind Luga and there was a spare seat next to him which I was very grateful to sit in. Mich was also there for the reading but I believe she was stood at the back of the room.
Neil was running a bit late and came into the room in quite a rush to the applause of the assembled crowd. I just think he knows how to make an entrance. Neil read two short stories. He reads with such flair and character. With his right elbow tucked in firmly holding the microphone in place close to his chest he does not waiver or lose concentration except for at one point early on where he asks the audience not to take flash photographs since that does distract him. He says this looking directly at me as I raise my camera just about to take a photo. But I was not going to use the flash, it was some guy in front of me who had taken 2 or 3 in a row right before I did who was using a big flash on his camera.

First up was his Jack Vance inspired short story that will be included in the George R.R. Martin and Gardner Dozois edited ‘Songs of the Dying Earth’ tribute anthology. Not being familiar with the work of Jack Vance would be considered a cardinal sin by George who regularly cites Vance as the greatest author he has ever read, however I have to confess to being guilty of this sin, and therefore unable to really tell you where Neil’s short story fits in with the Dying Earth mythology. I can tell you it was about a man who lives at the end of the universe’s existence with his family and has a time travelling doorway in his private library which leads to another world, another time where he has another family. The man’s son living at the end of time witnesses his father’s death and must escape from the killers through the doorway. There was something of the comic about the way the story was told, especially regarding the clever way the character of the son talks his way out of trouble on the other side.
The second short story Neil read was from a collection of love letters released for Valentine’s Day 2008 entitled ‘Four Letter Word: Invented Correspondence from the Edge of Modern Romance’ edited by Joshua Knelman. To quote Luga this was completely “AWESOME!” I would guess Neil has read this a few times because he totally nailed this with subtle pauses and perfect tone and pacing throughout. This is a love letter that a man writes to the woman he loves which begins thus:
"Let us begin this letter, this prelude to an encounter, formally, as a declaration, in the old-fashioned way: I love you. You do not know me (although you have seen me, smiled at me). I know you (although not so well as I would like. I want to be there when your eyes flutter open in the morning, and you see me, and you smile. Surely this would be paradise enough?). So I do declare myself to you now, with pen set to paper. I declare it again: I love you."
You might think that from there this becomes a sappy love letter but Neil so cleverly turns the narrative around and the ending is so utterly creepy that there were audible gasps and shivers from the audience. A thoroughly enjoyable reading and it has to be said totally AWESOME.
The Enslaved of Paedar Ó Guilín
At the same time as Neil’s reading there was something extraordinary going on in the signing area of the Dealers Room. Earlier that morning Paedar brought along five copies of his book ‘The Inferior’ which he sold to members of the BWB including Pebble, Kat and Lany. Everyone of course wanted signed copies but most decided they would come to his signing in the afternoon to help make him feel more popular. We are so nice to him aren’t we? However, Kat was planning to be elsewhere at that time so Paedar began signing her book, only he wrote "Lany you are so _______" instead, oops. But in his defence he was distracted. Kat and Lany just swapped books, no problem.

But then Lany noticed that she could not read the last word Paedar had written. The word was actually "awesome" but Lany thought it looked like "enslaved". At the signing Lany asked him what it was and Paedar replied that he could not remember. When Lany told him what she thought it was he blushed and said “maybe I was having a fantasy” [image: image16.png]


  
When Pebble arrived at the signing she ran in squealing “PADDDAER” as loudly as she could and while holding the book out in front of her she tripped, dropping the book on the floor. It tumbled to a stop by the horrified authors’ feet. After that she even had the temerity to ask him to sign her cleavage much to the amusement of author Ben Jeapes in the background. Pebble has no shame I am telling you.
After the signing Lany and Pebble went into the dealers room and asked the person on the badge making stall to make a badge which read “Enslaved by Paedar Ó Guilín” (which you can see here modelled by Silverstar’s Head). Lany bought 4 badges and gave them to the other ladies who had bought his book. I think it was Sunday when they got the T-shirts made and this was also when Paedar went to the badge stall to check it out for himself. Apparently the button guy noticed him standing there awkwardly and finally said "You look like you have a question." To which Paedar replied that he wanted a few of that button. When asked how many he replied "I'll need quite a lot." The button man realized suddenly and announced "It's you, isn’t it!" Paedar admitted that it was, and bought a bag of buttons. I find it so funny that Paedar was rumbled while buying copies of his own badge.
Paedar gave “enslaved” badges to various BWB ladies including Mich when Limecat pointed out that was sexist and so became enslaved himself. In addition it appears several non BWB con attendees also bought the badge, it seems to have really caught on. In fact I think we have totally started a fan phenomenon here, Paedar’s fanclub will have to be called “The Enslaved of Paedar Ó Guilín”, he is going to need a website of the same name and in fact I highly recommend that he starts work on a major series of novels about slaves immediately. 
Party Setup
At 4 pm the BWB assembled outside suite 2815 of the Delta Hotel to start setting up for our party. Before we touched anything Luga took photos of the room so we could see where everything was meant to be, this would prove vital for clear up the following day. Here I am scoping out the view from the top of the stairs. The X’s had brought along the party gear which included two electric fans – these really were very important, cloths to cover tables and paintings, blue fairy lights, blue curacao for tonight’s drink – Blood of the Kraken. They had also brought tape, bin bags, poster putty, posters, pens, blank paper and the huge plastic crates they brought everything in would be where the ice and drinks would be stored later on.
We rearranged the furniture so that the tables that would become the bar went in the downstairs lounge area and that meant that we needed to pick up and move the very heavy sofa up the stairs to the bedroom area. But before we could to that of course we needed to remove the bed, at first we thought it might have been fixed in place but fortunately we were able to take it apart and move it out into the service corridor on the 29th floor. When we removed the base unit of the Queensize bed we discovered loads of old rose petals on the floor. Luga lay down as if to luxuriate in them and Pod picked some of the petals up and threw them over her! We acquired a vacuum cleaner from the service corridor and Lany cleared up the dirty floor for us.
So having got the furniture arranged the way we wanted and the TVs, phones and other stuff from the suite safely stored away in the upstairs cupboards we got down to the finer details. Pebble and Kat started putting blue fairy lights around the columns of the upstairs bedroom area, Tycho and Drac put the lights around the bar area. More lights were wound round the stair banister and finally Kat and Tycho hung the last set of lights from the archway between the two sections of the downstairs lounge area.
Lucky Pierre had brought along beads to be given out to all our party guests and he also brought glo-sticks for everyone. He had plenty of help tying the neckstrings to the glo-sticks from Scott and Soph, Flip and John. However, I then took Soph away from this task to help me with setting up the posters that would advertise our party. Soph has neat handwriting and so she wrote the room number and arrows on to the beautiful flyers that X-Ray had produced for us. We set them up by the elevators on the 28th and 5th floors and also one in the hotel lobby. There were two big posters which we put up one in the corridor pointing the way and the other right outside the party suite’s doors.
After this pretty much everything was done and so X-Ray gathered everyone together to give a short thank you for your help and let’s have a great party speech. She advised everyone to go eat now so they don’t crash out later on and that is what most people did. However, I realised I had still not made the signs I needed to for my Charity Prize Draw Raffle. So I sat down and using up the last of the paper I created some fairly shitty looking handwritten signs for the event. But they did the job. Pat came by and dropped off a large bag of 8 books that he donated to the cause. I added these to the list of 9 books I had brought and so we had a total of 17 prizes to give away. While I was working on the list the hotel staff delivered our ice which was dumped into the bathtub. I got the signs finished and tacked up on the wall and then stashed the books into the upstairs cupboards out of the way and went off to find some dinner.
Dinner – Limecat’s beef gingerman
I wandered all the way out to the downtown area where we went for lunch on Thursday and found a diner opposite the Eaton Shopping Centre. I enjoyed a half chicken half pork ribs BBQ meal with a strawberry shake, it was delicious.
Meanwhile across town, at the same Chinese restaurant that Pod, Tycho, Drac and I went to on Wednesday night, a group of borders were enjoying what they describe as the funniest dinner ever! Any time you have either Pebble or Limecat involved a good time is going to be had and having both together guarantees laughs. Lany and Pebble laughed so hard they had trouble breathing! Much of the hilarity seems to stem from a piece of beef that Limecat discovered, it was shaped like a little man, a gingerbread man made of beef if you will, and Limecat felt he just could not eat him. And so he not only left the beef gingerman un-gobbled he decided to keep him and used a safety pin to attach the gingerman to his glo-stick neck-tie. Limecat loved that little beef gingerman and he kept that poor little guy round his neck all night long.
I don’t know what happened to the little beef gingerman. Did Limecat finally eat him? Did he get binned? Is he preserved in fine vinegar for posterity? I don’t know. But what I do know is that brave little soldier will live on in the hearts of those who witnessed his triumph. Yes.

Brotherhood Without Banners Party
I hurried back to the party to make sure I was there before it started at 8 pm. Already there was a queue for the elevators so I took the service elevator and got up to the 28th floor nice and quickly. I was thinking about all the things I needed to organise to get the raffle tickets sale started but I need not have worried because Mormont had thankfully taken care of everything while I was gone. He noticed I had included the word “free” by mistake on the sign and since we were trying to raise money for charity and selling tickets at $1 each it was definitely not free. Mormont had also found the ticket book and pens in the upstairs storage cupboard and had found volunteers in Paedar and Chataya to sell the tickets – two outstanding choices and what an incredible job they both did! One with his cheeky Irish banter and friendly manner simply charmed the money out of our guests, while the other was dressed like this. Men could not give their money to Chataya fast enough. One guy told me “she kept saying buy another and I just kept looking at her and saying yes.” [image: image17.png]


 Some men have no willpower…
Several other people had dressed up for the occasion including Lany, Lucky Pierre, Tenalpia and Mich in her awesome corset – doesn’t George look happy in that picture?
At the start of the party there were only BWBers milling around, talking and enjoying the drinks from the bar. Mr X, Luga, Mich and Drac did an incredible job working on the bar all night long. Tycho, Scott and myself all made ice runs and probably some others did as well.
Lucky Pierre did an incredible job on the door giving out beads and BWB badges which Kat had made again this year. In Denver we were making those badges on the night but this time Kat had left the badge machine at home and done all the work producing them before making the trip. The 2009 BWB badges are much sharper and better quality than the 2008 ones and Kat also managed to fit the BWB name, the website address and convention name and year around the edges of the badge – very impressive, thank you Kat. All through the Con Kat had been carrying her bag of badges around making sure everyone of us had one and now we were giving them away to the first hundred or so guests at our party. We kept back a few for special people which would prove handy and since I had pockets I ended up carrying them for Kat. Other people who did door duty through the night included Kat, Lany, Luga, Regina, Tyria and probably a whole bunch more people that I am forgetting. You all did an amazing job of making people feel welcome at the party.
There was one last emergency to fix - the twin bin bag setup had become untapped from the container carton! Scott was on rubbish [US translation: garbage] duty and he performed his sacred duty proudly. Scott with assistance from Limecat repaired the downstairs bin and then Scott with assistance from Pod repaired the one upstairs. Seemingly everyone took pictures of them hard at work much to their bemusement and our amusement.
Shortly after 8 o’clock George and Parris arrived signally the true start of the party. George took the sofa seat by the window with a full view of the room so he could survey the party like a King. We brought down a sturdy chair from the lounge area upstairs for Parris. It was about this time Pebble and Mina had a measure off and discovered that Mina is only 1.5 inches taller than Pebble.
So for the first couple of hours of the party I was free to chat and mingle with the various people who came in, which included the Finnish translator of ‘A Song of Ice and Fire’ and her beautiful little girl who loved the beads we gave her. Kyle Cassidy was also there wearing a special self made t-shirt bearing the slogan “George R.R. Martin is not your bitch”. I took this picture of Kyle with George which was later posted on the Conreporter blog with a note that they were directed to it by a certain Mr Neil Gaiman. Fortunately it seems my picture gallery survived the 24,576 hits it received over a two day period after that was posted, unlike the website of Steven R. Boyett which after being mentioned on Neil’s blog was so inundated with traffic his hosting provider deleted the site to stop it taking down their servers. He did not even have a backup and lost a lot of material. Oops!
Speaking of authors we had a few at the party including a couple of very dedicated ones who deserve a special mention for staying for several hours. Daniel Duguay has written a book called ‘The Motley Man’ which is a mythical fantasy about a melancholic Earth-Golem. Unfortunately it has not been published yet and the deal he had with Macmillan’s (the parent company I work for) fell through because the editor who was going to publish it retired and nobody else has picked it up since. He seems like a really nice guy and he and his girlfriend/wife/fiancé (not sure which) spent the whole evening at our party because George told him he should come and I think they had a great time.
While I was chatting with Daniel, Kat came over to introduce a familiar face from our last Worldcon party in Denver, “Real Author” Tim Akers who Kat is quite taken with. Last year Tim was in Daniel’s position with his book kind of accepted but not released yet. Well fast forward to one year later and Tim’s book ‘Heart of Veridon’ has just been published. At the time of Worldcon in August it was only out in the UK but has since gotten a small scale US release in October. I found copies of the book in my local Waterstones but ordered myself a copy from Amazon, cos ya know, it was cheaper. I have not read it as of typing this but it definitely looks interesting, a steampunk/new weird kind of novel about a disgraced pilot turned criminal on the run in the streets of the city of Veridon.
I managed to get this great pic of Kat, Tim and his girlfriend/wife/fiancé (not sure which) Jennifer, with Daniel and his girlfriend/wife/fiancé (not sure which) (sorry don’t know her name). We gave them all BWB badges from the special supply held in my pocket. As we said to Daniel hopefully he will be in Tim’s position next year. Perhaps this will become a new tradition with struggling writers coming to the BWB Worldcon party one year and becoming real published authors by the next?

At this point I took over selling raffle tickets from Chataya who fully deserved a break to enjoy the party. I promptly sold tickets to both Daniel and Tim. I also sold tickets to Mark Gascoigne and the other guys from Bad Robot who stopped by our party. I told them we would have loved to have that incredible robot at our party but Mark said “if you knew how much he cost you wouldn’t”. [image: image18.png]


 Mich got a break from the bar and offered to sell more raffle tickets for me and did a great job selling a lot of tickets in a short space of time before returning to working on the bar. Such a hard worker – thanks Mich.
Another author I saw in our party was Mary Robinette Kowal enjoying the last night of wearing the Best Newcomer Award tiara. I think it was shortly after that when Fitheach arrived (who will probably not be happy about this picture of her that Pebble took). Fitheach got one of the last few BWB badges that we had left. We had a little chat before I introduced her to Mormont and a few other boarders. Unfortunately I got very busy after that and did not see much of her for the rest of the party and alas we did not get to say goodbye.
The BWB Charity Prize Draw Raffle

The reason I was busy is that it was fast approaching midnight and the first drawing of The BWB Charity Prize Draw Raffle. I was sorting out the tickets, tearing them off into individual tickets and putting them into Lucky Pierre’s hat which he kindly lent us. LP was at the same time doing an incredible job of loudly shouting out for last minute buyers and managed to sell a bunch more in those last few minutes.

As I was writing the contact details for some entries onto the back of several tickets I handed the hat to Mentat to hold for a moment. He promptly turned the hat the wrong way up dumping all the tickets onto the floor! Doh! He claimed that it was not his fault because I did not tell him there were tickets in the hat. Details, details, whatever. I think we managed to get them all picked up again and at least it did mix them all up which was something that needed doing. Thanks for the assistance Mentat!
Parris managed to get George back into the party suite just in time to make the draw for us, he had wandered off about half hour before to check out the other parties going on that night. There was actually quite a crowd gathered to hear the results. It was all going great. Then I realised I really needed to be upstairs sorting out the prizes so the winners could pick them. I dashed upstairs and got the bags out of the storage closet and began spreading the books out on the tables upstairs.

I had asked Blue to help me with recording who won what and she was there to lend a hand during those chaotic 10-15 minutes. George was downstairs picking winners with Lucky Pierre right beside him to shout the number out loudly. The winners then came up the stairs and queued up in order so the first person picked gets first choice of book and so on and on. Anyone who was not there we kept their ticket so we could contact them later but they would only be able to pick from the few prizes that remained at the end.
The problem was George and LP did not know exactly how many winners to pick and I was kind of flustered with people picking prizes and trying to record the details and Blue was having trouble with the pen and then she won a prize herself. It was chaos, but a fun kind of chaos. LP shouted up how many more, so I just shouted down to pick another five because I did not know how many they had picked, how many tickets for winners not present they were holding and I also did not realise that they took that to mean the end of the draw. Thus the hat was put away, George sat down and relaxed and people left. It later transpired that we were actually four winners short. So Lucky Pierre picked out four more tickets quickly and luckily enough three of those four were BWB members who were right there to make their choices.
Here is the complete list of winners with the prize they chose. Books are paperbacks unless stated otherwise. The column marked “D.” stands for “Donated by”. Obviously Pat gets books sent to him by publishers for him to review on his excellent blog ‘Pat’s Fantasy Hotlist’ and he kindly donated 8 books to the cause. The 9 books I donated were bought from the staff bookshop at Macmillan Publishers in Basingstoke where I work. I actually work in web production for ‘Nature Magazine’ but the parent company is Macmillan’s which means I get to go and buy good quality returned books at the price of 50p for paperbacks, £1 for hardcover. This money also goes to a worthy charity ‘Macmillan Cancer Support’ so I don’t feel in any way bad about losing money on this. My luggage was under the weight limit so it did not cost me anything to bring the books over for this event.
	Winner’s name
	BWB?
	Prize chosen
	D.
	Comments

	Frederick
	No
	‘A Feast For Crows’ (hardcover) – George R.R. Martin
	Pat
	A very good first choice, 
I believe he took it straight downstairs and got it signed

	Mike
	No
	‘The City & The City’ (hardcover) – China Mieville
	MG
	I also gave away a copy of this in York to williamjm

	The Pebble that Hides
	Yes
	‘Empire in Black and Gold’ – Adrian Tchaikovsky
	MG
	First BWB winner of the night

	Blue Rose
	Yes
	‘Edge of the World’ – Kevin J. Anderson
	Pat
	This came with a CD, more about that later

	Lisa Germino
	No
	‘Your Hate Mail will be Graded’ – John Scalzi
	Pat
	

	Tim Anderson
	No
	‘Rite’ (hardcover) – Tad Williams
	Pat
	I so wanted to win this one...

	Chris Collins
	No
	‘This Is Me, Jack Vance!: Or, More Properly, This Is "I"’ – Jack Vance
	Pat
	GRRM’s favourite author

	Annabel Seraton
	No
	‘The City at the End of Time’ – Greg Bear
	Pat
	

	Allen Jette
	No
	‘The Hitchhiker’s Guide to the Galaxy’ and ‘Mostly Harmless’ – Douglas Adams
	MG
	Omnibus edition of books 
1-4 plus the 5th book

	Regina
	Yes
	‘Perdido Street Station’ – China Mieville
	MG
	First of the extra four winners picked by LP

	Mandy
	Yes
	‘Vellum’ – Hal Duncan
	MG
	So glad Mandy won a prize!

	Fenryng
	Yes
	‘Crimson Shadows’ – R.A. Salvatore
	Pat
	Last winner to pick a prize at the Party on Saturday


After this I had five prizes left which thankfully matched the five tickets I had for winners who were not present. This included one person staying in the Delta who I had a room number for, one winner staying at La’ Hotel Centraville, one who had left a mobile phone number and two people whose names I knew – Daniel Duguay and Mark Gascoigne.
I spent much of the following day trying to track down these five winners, leaving messages at the hotels and calling the mobile number I had, but I did not get any replies. I went along to Daniel’s reading on Sunday morning so he had first pick of the remaining prizes. He was so surprised and happy that I made that effort and chose ‘Un Lun Dun’ for his son who was there. I left a note on the messageboard for Mark Gascoigne but he did not pick it up till Monday. He sent me a text message while I was in Patrick Rothfuss’ reading but Mark did not fancy any of the books I had left. So not wanting to take the last four books home I gave them away to some lucky BWB members who were in the right place at the right time to say “yes”.

	Winner’s name
	BWB?
	Prize chosen
	D.
	Comments

	Daniel Duguay
	No
	‘Un Lun Dun’ – China Mieville
	MG
	Daniel picked this after his reading on Sunday

	Mormont
	Yes
	‘The Dragons of Ordinary Farm’ – Tad Williams, Deborah Beale & Greg Swearingen
	Pat
	The following books were picked on Monday after no luck finding the real winners

	Katran
	Yes
	‘Shriek’ – Jeff VanderMeer
	MG
	

	Scott E. Ellison
	Yes
	‘The Last Colony’ – John Scalzi
	MG
	

	Dracarys
	Yes
	‘Dog of the North’ – Tim Stretton
	MG
	The last book which nobody else wanted…


Back to Saturday night and after the excitement of the prize draw I left the party to take the money we had raised back to my hotel room to count it. I am pleased to announce that we raised a total of $204 Canadian Dollars for our chosen charity Teachers & Writers Collaborative (www.twc.org), a children’s literacy charity in New York City. As I mentioned earlier in this review BWB member BJT works for them as an administrator and if we had not met at the New York meet on Tuesday night… well then we would have just had to find another charity to give to, but it would not have been so appropriate. Fate, destiny, coincidence? You decide.

The problem I had now was that most of the money we had taken was in coins and coming back to the UK I would only be able to exchange notes back into British Pounds. Thanks go to Mich who offered the use of the petty cash from her workplace to change the notes into coins the following Friday in Toronto. After getting back to the UK I got the money exchanged, paid into my account (“it was only resting in my account, honestly!” - Father Ted) and then once I had gotten my PayPal account active again (don’t ask, it was a lot of trouble) I finally made our donation of $180 US Dollars to TWC on 5 September 2009. I received an email thanking us for our donation from Amy Swauger, director of TWC.
Thanks to everyone who bought a ticket and helping to make this such a great success. No doubt we will do the same again next year at Octocon 2010 in Ireland where George is the guest of honour. That is unless I win the lottery and can afford the trip to Worldcon in Australia of course.
EHK Tribute
Back at the party now and about half hour later a call rang out for silence, the door to the party suite was closed to keep the noise out and everyone gathered in the lounge area or on the stairs or balcony looking down as X-Ray took to the stairs, glass in hand to give a speech. She started out by thanking everyone for coming and making this such a great party, but this was in some ways a sad event because just over a month ago we lost a member of our community, Tom Wilcox better known as EnlightenmentHK or EHK, who tragically died at the age of 29 on the 4th July 2009. X-Ray also mentioned Manwoody who we lost in June 2003.
X-Ray said “Tom was such a huge character in our community, always with a strong opinion to give but also a great friend to all. We found a place here in Montreal that makes its own microbrews and it is only fitting that we toast his memory with this now because that was Tom’s favourite drink.” Various people passed round cups with a little of the microbrew for everyone, including dajamieson captured in this picture where you can also see George’s sombre expression.

“To EHK”

There were more than a few people with something in their eye right then. After X-Ray stepped down I called out that I have been putting together a website collecting Tom’s best posts and rants at www.enlightenmenthk.net. Sadly I have not been working on this as much as I should have recently but once this accursed long review is done I promise I will get back to work on the site.
The Quest

George now took to the stairs to address the crowd. “On a less sombre note,” he said “it is time now to continue a tradition that has been going on at Worldcon’s for some years. This began at Worldcon 2001, Philcon in Philadelphia. About 2 in the morning a group of us are out getting late night food and one of my fans says “my liege, let me get your food” and dropped to his knees before me, and there was someone else who just happened to be carrying a sword with him and so I took the sword and knighted him there and then on the sidewalk, a Knight of the Cheesesteak. Since then it has become tradition that newbies at the con will be sent forth to gather food for the Lords and Ladies of the party. This year I think we should have some of this famous poutine that I have been hearing so much about. Go forth prospective knights and bring us poutine!”
If you have ever wondered about the knightly orders of the past here is a quick list:
	Year
	Con
	City
	Knightly Order

	2001
	Philcon
	Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
	Knights of the Cheesesteak

	2002
	ConJosé
	San Jose, California
	The Knights that say “hint”

	2003
	TorCon 3
	Toronto, Canada
	Knights of the Lamprey Pie

	2004
	Noreascon 4
	Boston, Massachusetts
	Knights of Ye Olde Roaste Beefe

	2005
	Interaction
	Glasgow, Scotland
	Knights of the Haggis
and The Sullied Knights of the Dumpster

	2006
	L.A. Con IV
	Anaheim, California
	Knights of the Pink Dog

	2007
	Nippon
	Yokohama, Japan
	Samurai Warriors of the Godzilla Suicide Squad, Order of the Bear (knighted by Pod)

	2008
	Denvention 3
	Denver, Colorado
	Knights of the Mile High Tomato Pie

	2009
	Anticipation
	Montreal, Canada
	Les Chevalier de Poutine


And so the six BWB noobs departed on their quest accompanied by five non-boarder con-goers who wanted to join the fun. I believe they had quite a journey to find someplace serving poutine at 1.30 am. When they got to the place they were told it would be half an hour to prepare the food and so they went into a bar close by and had a drink. The food was ready a bit quicker than expected and so Scot ended up having to chug down almost an entire pint of Guinness. This caused him to be very drunk for the rest of the night leading us to discover the awesome sight of Scot laughing uncontrollably for the first time. This also occurred a couple more times on Sunday, one occasion of which Pebble filmed and posted on Youtube. Watch Scot attempting to relay a story called ‘Act III: Oedipus Hex’ while giggling uncontrollably.
In the Worldcon thread John revealed the following story from the quest and I have only copied it here for completeness, at least that’s my excuse. Outside the poutine place the now very drunk Scot asked John and Limecat who they thought was the cutest girl at the party. They were both kind of non-committal on the subject but Scot told them that he really loved his wife, and he was really drunk, but there was definitely one girl at our party cuter than anyone else. The clue he gave was that she wasn't wearing a dress. Further probing revealed she wasn't wearing a catsuit either, although Chataya was "really really pretty". For those that know who Scot’s crush is this is kind of cute, but it still remains a mystery for some and I am happy to leave it that way. What happens at the Con stays at the Con.
Lords and Ladies

While the hopeful knights in waiting were away on the quest George again took to the stairs to commence the awards for Lords and Ladies. These awards are given to BWB members attending their 3rd Worldcon. Mormont had updated the records and made the list of members to be honoured. Dracarys read from the list to announce each member and Mich assisted George by holding the awards. Here then the complete list of Lords and Ladies made at Worldcon 2009 with photos of them bending the knee.
Lady Kat – Kat then gave a speech about how she would govern California and demand pretty rocks from her subjects.
Lady Regina
Lord Fenryng
Lady Kama (Filippa)
Lord John – John actually went on the quest and so missed out on his award, when he got back with the others everyone tried to get him to be knighted, including me, not realising he was in fact now a Lord.
Lord Mormont
Le Duc X – Mr X got a special title from George.
Lord JetBoyGirl – Luga chose to be a Lord rather than a Lady which is totally appropriate, huge cheers for Lord JetBoyGirl.
Lady Xray ‘The Comtesse de Cocktail’ – another special title from George and another loud cheer.
There was one final special award presented. BWB members attending their 5th Worldcon become Prince or Princess and on this night we celebrated the crowning of:
Princess Chataya
You might wonder what titles may follow this and to be honest we don’t really know. Pod was crowned as King after his 6th Worldcon in LA and he has now been to a staggering 8 Worldcons, only missing out on Denver last year, but has not received any higher title since. In Denver Caress of Cersei was made Queen at her 6th Worldcon. We don’t know whether George plans to only have one King and Queen at a time or multiple monarchs, we will just have to wait and see what the future holds.
It was shortly after this that I went out to pick up more ice and was followed back to the party by this group of friendly people who decided to hang out with us for the rest of the night.

Les Chevalier de Poutine

Prior to the party night the Lords and Ladies of the BWB had a quest of their own to perform, finding a sword for the knightings. It was Dracarys who finally managed to track down a wooden sword in a pharmacy in Chinatown of all places and purchased it on behalf of the Brotherhood. The sword has now joined the store of party gear held by the X’s and will be used again in the future.

It was a full hour after being sent out before the Chevaliers returned with the poutine. First through the door was Scot who immediately knelt before George holding the brown paper bag containing his offering of poutine. It would have made a great picture but I missed that and so asked Scot to kneel again for a picture. George was not ready with the sword right then and this led to accusations of Scot having premature genuflection. The sword was fetched and the knightings began in earnest. Here then the full list of Chevaliers de Poutine knighted by George:
Ser Scot the Swift – because he was the first one back and so prompt with his offering.
Ser Limecat – the Woeful!
Ser Tyria – amusingly named “Ser Tyrian” by some.
Ser Dean (non BWB)
Ser Tor (non BWB)
Dame Mina
Ser Mentat
Ser Kevin (non BWB)
Ser Matthew (non BWB)
Dame Pebble
Pebble then presented Silverstar’s head for knighting, George was a bit surprised by the request at first but then said “I knight you… Ser Fuzzy Thing”
Ser Ian the Tardy (non BWB) – so named by George because he arrived so long after the others. This guy was actually quite excited to be part of the group, wanted to meet everyone and know all about us. I thought he might actually join the board but true to his name, no sign of him yet.
The knightings are over – yay!
And so we began to tuck into the 12 portions of poutine, one from each quester including Ser Fuzzy Thing. Poutine is basically chips [US translation: French fries] topped with fresh cheese curds and covered in gravy. I thought it was delicious and just the sort of junk food I needed right then. Lucky Pierre also had quite a bit of it but little Mina out-did everyone eating almost a complete container by herself. She declared it “the best poutine” she has ever had and with her being a Montreal native that is quite a statement.
Worshipping Toe-ny
It was a little after 2.30 am when we ran out of alcohol and from that point people began to leave our party and drift away. It was planned that way because we did not have the money to keep the drinks flowing all night long so running out of what we had was a good thing and a sign of a successful party. Shortly after 3 am we closed the door making it a private BWB party from then on. We closed up the bar and began packing some of the stuff up which was a good job considering the trouble we would have the following morning.
It was shortly after this that Pebble and Mina decided it was time to call it a night. Just before they left Kat managed to insult them both horribly. In Kat’s defence she was pretty drunk at the time. Kat said that they were both really small and while Mina was a tiny bit taller she thinks of her as being smaller because “there is less of her”. The funny thing was that with each justification she gave for her opinion she was digging the hole deeper and deeper. Oh how we laughed.
Mina stayed with Pebble and Blue for a couple of nights and all day Mina had been carrying around a yellow plastic bag which had her four paperback copies of ‘A Song of Ice and Fire’ which she had hoped to get George to sign at Sunday’s Signing. Several times through the day Mina had almost left the bag behind when leaving places, like the restaurant earlier on and a couple of panels as well. She is kind of scatter-brained and was also kind of wasted. Well unfortunately on the way back to Pebble’s hotel she left the bag behind once too often when she left it in a bus shelter to go across the road quickly to buy a drink. Two minutes later when she got back the bag with her books and her con badge including BWB badge were gone. To be honest when I found out the day after I felt really sorry for her, so I gave Mina the last of the BWB badges from my pocket.

Back at the private party and we had separated into two distinct groups. In the lounge area was a quieter group around George discussing the future of the con and other higher thoughts. There was Luga, Scott, Ser Knight of Somerville, Mr X, Flip, John, Blue, Mormont, MG, Kat and Aoife. George talked about how Worldcons have changed over the years. He also told us that several years ago he was going to a convention and discovered an actor from a show he once worked on was travelling first class while George was in coach and the actor was also being paid more for attending. “That’s when I thought, hang on a minute here. I wrote the fucking words that that guy is saying and he gets a better deal than me? That’s not on.” So George now has a strict policy of making sure he always gets first class travel and has the same attending fee as the top guy at the con. I am not sure if that includes Guest of Honour fees, which for this con may have boosted Neil’s fee to a higher rate than George’s. If any convention turns down these terms George does not attend and most organisers know that to not have George attending is a big no-no, certainly for any self-respecting Worldcon.
The other group in the bar area were sat around on the floor and were much louder, rowdier and more fun. One of these five people discovered on the floor in the middle of our bar area – a toenail! They named him Tony and they worshipped him as a prophet. But one of the five declared that Tony was a false prophet and thought they should instead worship the discarded safety pin also found on the floor. WTF? I don’t really understand it but they were all laughing and having a good time which is all that counts.
Just after 4 am George left along with several other people and about half an hour later the rest of us called it a night. Mr X locked the suite up and we all wandered off to find our beds knowing we had to be up about 5 hours later to meet at the suite for party clear-up at 10 am.
Sunday 9 August 2009
Amazingly I managed to be up and ready to go to the clear up on time. Two people who did not make it to the clear up were Pebble and Mina. At about the time we were clearing up the party suite Mina was trying to cook some breakfast for Pebble. I should explain that Pebble was staying in a hostel which had a kitchen stocked with various things that people could help themselves to. The only rule was that they had to cook and clean up for themselves. By her own admission Mina is an awful cook and the eggs she tried to fry for Pebble eventually had to be binned. A lovely gesture, shame about the execution.
Party clear-up
The most important part of the clear-up took place before I arrived when Mormont and Mr X rescued our party gear which was perilously close to being thrown out by hotel cleaning staff. There was some kind of mix up and we believed we had till 11 am to get the room cleared up, but the staff said it should have been 9 am and thought we had left the room in an awful state. They had already called for a whole team of porters to come and put the furniture back but when we rescued our gear we told them not to bother because we had a large group of people coming right now to do that very job. And that’s what we did. We put everything back where we found it using the pictures Luga took yesterday to get stuff put back right. The sofa was carried back downstairs, the bed was reassembled and the TV sets were put back in place.

The X’s had been to ‘Tim Horton’s’ before coming here and had picked up coffee and doughnuts which was a really great idea. People helped themselves to breakfast while they worked. Someone had found a CD upstairs in the area where I had been sorting out the prizes from the raffle last night. This was the CD ‘Terra Incognita’ which accompanied the Kevin J. Anderson novel ‘The Edge of the World’ which Blue Rose had picked. At the time she did not know anything about it and had picked in kind of a hurry with lots of other people waiting, I must admit to also not having heard of him and could not properly give advise about the book. She was now aware that this was a less than smart choice and was pretty embarrassed about it. She quietly slipped the CD into her bag.
With everything back in place in the room we turned our minds to today’s programme and realised that we needed to get moving if we were going to make it to the 11 am panels we wanted to go to. As we were leaving, the door of the room opposite opened and some girl from inside screamed at us “If you’re going to talk at least close the door so some of us can get some sleep!” and slammed the door shut. Did she really try to sleep in a room on the party floor? Was she crazy? It is no wonder she was cranky, I bet she got no sleep at all. But we were leaving anyway. I think we left that room in a pretty damn neat state considering. Good work everyone who was there to help.
Reading: Daniel Duguay and Mary Robinette Kowal
Panel: Mary Robinette Kowal, Daniel Duguay, Frank Roger, Tony Pi
I spent much of Sunday and Monday carrying around a plastic bag with the five books left over from the raffle. That would be reduced to four after this reading. I did go specifically so Daniel could choose his prize but was pleased to see Mary Robinette Kowal, who I had previously seen at the Writing Excuses podcast on Friday where she was terrific, and so was really looking forward to hearing her read.
First to read was Frank Roger. He read a couple of short chapters from a very blandly generic fantasy story in the style of Mongol horde or something like that with warriors and shamans. But Frank got the chance to read a second story later on which was better. It was more of a YA novel and was quite amusingly written. It was about an ordinary man in our world who was pottering about on a quiet day, doing his gardening and enjoying the day when a strange man appears before him and starts talking like he is carrying on a conversation they have already started. The stranger was a time traveller who jumped into this man’s day to deliver a warning but he was only jumping in for a few moments before going again and when he returned it was a little bit before or after the last jump so the conversation they had was a bit jumbled up. By the last jump at the end of what he read the man had things figured out but had no idea what to do with the warning. Quite whimsical in delivery and definitely more enjoyable than the first story he read.
Next up was Tony Pi who read from a short story called ‘Sphinx!’ which is taken from a collection of stories from DAW called ‘Ages of Wonder’. The story is about a 1920s era alternate fantasy reality where a film maker is trying to make an epic movie about a sphinx that terrifies the land of Ys. The sphinx in this case is a reconstructed man-made animal. It’s a living breathing animal but it has none of the real instincts and merely follows instructions dumbly. However there is evidence that this creature might have actually killed someone during the shoot and this is being investigated as a murder. Its certainly an interesting mish-mash of ideas but I have to say it didn’t make me want to rush out and buy it.
Mary stood up next and read her Hugo nominated short story ‘Evil Robot Monkey’ which is taken from ‘The Solaris Book of New Science Fiction: Volume 2’ but you can read it for free under a Creative Commons licence on Mary’s website or better yet download this MP3 of Mary reading the 6 minute story. Sly is an intelligent monkey thanks to a chip in his head who loves pottery. He has a bucket of clay in the pen where he is kept and a potter’s wheel that is his one freedom. Sly becomes angry at the people who come to stare at him and throws clay at the window. His keeper Vern is therefore ordered to take the wheel and clay away. I know that does not really sound like it would be all that interesting but there is something special about the way Mary reads. I guess this comes from her background in puppetry which means she reads like she is acting the story for you, conveying the characters and their emotions and you get a real sense of having witnessed a performance.
Daniel was the last of the four to read, but there was some time left after so it was not the last reading. Before he read his girlfriend/wife/fiancé (not sure which) and his son (definitely sure he was their son) gave out some bookmarks with the website address of Daniel’s site on it. I had said hello to her when I came in to take my seat earlier on. Daniel read from his mythical fantasy story about a melancholic Earth-Golem called ‘The Motley Man’. It is definitely one of those stories that sweeps along and makes up its own rules as it goes along. There is a Raven who is his guide and a Moon Goddess whom he speaks to about what he must do. In terms of style the prose is kind of old fashioned and is certainly typical of the mythical genre, I did get the feeling that I had heard this sort of story before which I guess is both a good and bad thing.
Daniel read in a very serious tone throughout and I get the impression he is a very serious guy committed to his writing. I think the problem he has now is that this is a very difficult type of book to sell to a modern audience unless it really is telling a story in a completely new kind of way, which unfortunately I don’t think this is. It is very much a traditional mythic fantasy about Gods and Demons and spirit worlds. I think Daniel would really benefit from writing some short stories and working towards getting them published, building a name for himself that way first. Writing novels or a series of novels is always held up as the main goal but I think a lot of authors are finding it easier to achieve that success by first following the path of the short story format. I wish Daniel the best of luck for the future and I hope he gets a deal at some point in the near future.
As I said there was some time left at the end and so Frank Roger read his second story as I have already mentioned. The other author to read a second time was Mary who read ‘Death Comes But Twice’, a short story that was published in ‘Talebones’ Issue 35 in 2007, but again you can read this for free from Mary’s website. It is part of a Zip file together with several other short stories. The story is written in the form of a letter from a husband to his wife as he relates the events of the last few days during which he witnessed the science experiment of a friend of his who has created a medicine which after drinking allows someone to experience actual physical death in any manner and come back immediately after to tell of what they saw. The letter begins:
“My dearest Lily,

Forgive me. I would be with you now, rather than closeted in my study, but I do not wish you or our children to witness my demise. I love you. I tell you now, so that you will know that my last thought was of you.”

As the letter goes on it reveals that this medicine is not quite what it seems and has a tragic consequence which makes for a dark and horrific ending. Again this was beautifully read by Mary and really shows how she has built her career up to this point, winning the John W. Campbell Award for Best Newcomer in 2008, through simple well written short stories like this one. Mary’s first novel ‘Shades of Milk and Honey’ will be released in Spring 2010 and I am very much looking forward to what she can do with a longer format.
After the reading I went up and thanked Mary for the reading saying that I really enjoyed it. I then spoke to Daniel briefly about his reading before telling him that I was really there to tell him he had won a prize in our raffle. He was overjoyed and his wife and son came over to add their thanks for going to the effort of making sure he got his prize. Daniel chose ‘Un Lun Dun’ by China Mieville from the five books I had left especially for his son who I am sure loved it. This was much to Mich’s annoyance – she really wanted that book (I’ll get you a copy the next time we have it in the staff bookshop). I spoke to them for quite a while in the corridor outside before joining a group of other boarders to go into the tiny and overcrowded room next door for a panel which including a certain Mr George R.R. Martin.
Writing for a Living
Panel: Howard Tayler, George R.R. Martin, Catherynne Valente, Mandy Slater
This was an interesting panel with authors at varying stages of their careers, coming from very different places, so it is no surprise it was popular and really should have been in a much bigger room. I was sat on the floor at the back with Mich, Soph, Mentat, Blue Rose and Mormont. More people came in until practically all the floorspace was taken up and nobody else could get in the room. Another problem was the fact that this room was right next door to the filkers. For those unaware filking is a type of folk singing with ties to SFF culture. It can take many different forms but the group next to us were doing improvised chanting and vocal ululations and these would go on for about 10 minutes at a time. Very fucking annoying when you are trying to listen to people speak over the high pitched banshee like wails and cries coming through the partition from the room next door. One guy actually got up and left because he was sat right next to the partition and got fed up of it.
Catherynne Valente moderated this panel about the practicalities of what it takes to write for a living, dealing with financial matters, organising oneself and balancing home and family matters were all discussed at some length. Catherynne started out by asking the panel to introduce themselves, their work and what percentage of their income is from writing. Catherynne is a novelist who has written several novels including ‘Palimpsest’, ‘The Orphan's Tales’ and ‘The Labyrinth’ (not the one with David Bowie). Her husband is a programmer who lost his job six months ago and now she is supporting him. They were lucky they had some savings which has helped because novels are not a regular income. She says “you can starve by waiting for your pay check”. She also writes short stories and poetry to supplement her income between novels.
Howard Tayler is a cartoonist who produces the excellent daily online comic space opera Schlock Mercenary. He is also part of the Writing Excuses podcast team with Brandon Sanderson and Dan Wells and I had previously heard him speak during the recording of the Live Podcast of Writing Excuses on Friday afternoon. Today he spoke about how he organises his workload making sure he gets ahead with episodes so that he can take family holidays like any ordinary guy would. His wife is his business manager and personal assistant and they have four children to feed. About 60% of his income is from book sales, 20% is from other related merchandise, and the final 20% is from advertising revenue on his website. He says “if you are working for yourself it is not good to have more 40% from only one avenue”.
Mandy Slater works for the BBC in London and writes part time so writing is only about 3% of her income. Her partner is a full time writer and gets 95% of his income from writing and about 5% from teaching. She knows many friends who supplement their writing through lecturing and various other things. She says “of the people who are members of SFWA about 60% have a day time job”.
George is of course at a very different point in his career. He supports himself, his partner Parris and their cats. His writing at first was a supplement, he was a VISTA volunteer and he lived in an apartment with several apartment mates. In the 1970's he actually was occasionally affluent in his circles because he would have the extra income from his writing. He was also an organiser of chess tournaments for a long time and made some extra income from that. When he was young he did many different things such as producing and writing and he was actually employed by someone. Writing is merciless, you have to write and you have to produce the work. At one point he was working in a legal aid office, he figured out that people can show up in a regular job and not do anything. As a freelance writer you can not do that. It is tough gig. Now he says he makes 100% of his income through his writing. Some of it is from merchandise and movie rights, lecture fees and such, but everything comes directly or indirectly as a result of his writing.

Catherynne then asked the panel “What is your daily routine? What are your work habits?”
Howard says he gets up early on Mondays and loves his work. He approaches it and tries to get a week of comics done quickly, early in the week. He has to be able proceed through the work and get things done and keep the comic going. He has to do extra so that he can go to things like Worldcon. He does take on extra projects and tries to keep things flexible at the end of the week to allow for business related work as well.
George said he works daily, except on Sundays between September and January for religious reasons. Not because he believes in God, because as an atheist he doesn’t. “My religion is the NFL”. He finds he cannot work while on the road so he does all his work at home. George gets a lot of fan mail and business mail, and while he cannot always respond to his fans he must respond to the business mail and he recently took on an assistant to help with that side of things. He gets proposals for swords or games and things, “it doesn't take too long if the people are getting things correct but if things are wrong then it takes longer”. He has some very idiosyncratic methods though because he has always done things for himself and so trying to get this to work with an assistant can be difficult. For instance, George keeps printouts of his stories in a big grey filing cabinet which he filed in the order that they were printed and this was easy when he only had a few stories, but now he has many stories and has had to switch to having them filed alphabetically to make it easier to find one when he needs it.
Catherynne says she has also recently taken on an assistant who works for her part time, although she cannot afford to pay them regularly and they have an arrangement where she pays her assistant when she can. The reason she realised she needed an assistant is because she used to do all her own publicity and tours and stuff. She made a big mistake at an important show in New York thinking that they would provide books to sell and they didn't. She says “Running a career on one brain can be very difficult. If you do a good deal of indie grass roots stuff it takes a great deal of time.”

Mandy says she does some of the administrative things for her partner, but not all. She does the travel stuff. Her partner sets up three different accounts, one third of his income to each. One third to taxes, one third to business expenses such as travel, cons, and a new laptop, and one third to the house account.
The panel then spoke more about money and investments. George said that if you are making enough money to invest it you have to have a different strategy than other people and you should not listen to the financial advisers. A normal 30 year old can risk more in their investments, writers are in a very insecure position and should invest more like an 80 year old, only in very safe places, because their income is irregular and you can have off years that can seem totally devastating. The whole juxtaposition in income here is that while they are all creating art they still have to make money and pay the bills. He had a friend who was an author and they had to give up the life of writing because he had to support his family.
Howard interjects to say he actually lost money when he quit his six figure salary job, but he left not only to take on cartooning but rather to spend more time at home with his family because that’s what makes him happy. “Nothing wrong with that” replies George and relayed a story about Faulkner who more or less told his daughter that she was not as important as his writing and this was clearly wrong. Howard then joked that his daughter is already better with a marker and pencil than him. “I am planning to make a great deal of money from her.” Now that is what I call a good investment!

Mandy said that she and her husband don't have children and they are fortunate to live in a house that has been paid for in a suburb of London. Catherynne says she doesn't have children either, but she has cats and a dog which are kind of similar, right? However one day she would like to start a family and asked about how to balance work with having children. Howard says his wife helps out a great deal and not only works as his business manager and looks after the children but also finds time to write and blog herself. He says “the wrong answer is to put the children up on ebay!”
George then spoke about donating some of his old papers to a university and said that another friend of his had a different approach, depositing their papers in a safe place so the kids could sell them on ebay one day.

Catherynne then went to the audience for questions. The first question was “Any advice on dealing with publishers who don't pay?”

George says that if the publishers go bankrupt then there may be nothing you can do. One occasion where this happened to him was a game publisher he was working with. George took all their remaining stock of books in lieu of payment which he then sold via his website for a substantial amount of money.

Howard said a friend of his had also done work for a gaming publisher and when they could not pay him he was lucky enough to get the license back and that was useful. “If the publisher cannot or decides not to pay you then you have to get your rights back.”
Catherynne said “the contract really is king.” She revealed there have been two times where she had a problem getting payment. One was a problem with the press not having money and the second one was when the publisher was being a dick. She said that you cannot be nice. You have to keep sending them mail and email. Threatening to take them to small claims court is a good idea. But most publishers are not actively evil - they are kind of chaotic neutral. Howard disagrees and says they are more lawful evil because of the contract. But Catherynne is not swayed by that argument and prefers what she said.

Mandy said her husband had paid his collaborators and was trying to get the money from the publisher and couldn't. They tried to sue and sued the wrong part of the company and were out £20,000. They were finally able to get some of the books back and make some of their money back that way.

George said “don't ever believe when the publishers say that they are going to pay”. A friend of his went out and bought furniture based on the sale of a novel and the cheque was supposed to be coming. The author waited and waited not wanting to appear rude to his publisher but finally the time was coming when he absolutely needed to start paying off the furniture and so he finally inquired and discovered the cheque had been sent to the wrong place. There is a saying in New Mexico “Don't buy the couch” and this totally applies to authors, don’t buy anything until you have the money in your hand.

The next question was “What do you do after your writing crashes?”

George fielded this one because he has definitely experienced this when ‘Armageddon Rag’ did not sell. In fact it was very nearly the end of his career. After the book tanked publishers were only willing to offer him deals at the level of a newcomer again. It was like he was back to square one. “You are only as good as your last project”. George was lucky that he knew some folks in Hollywood and went to work in television for a while. When he came back to novels with ‘A Game of Thrones’ he was in a much stronger position to negotiate his own terms.
George says “never admit to weakness.” He was at a con in New Jersey and both he and John Brunner were giving speeches. Brunner's speech was very sad. He was plaintiff and asking people to please buy his books because he was close to having to sell his house. This was a mistake because Brunner was essentially telling the publishers that his books were unsaleable.

Catherynne said this is why she thinks publishers are “Demon Imps”. They come and go, in and out of lives. She has had years where she could not sell anything because one of her books did not sell well. But this year she has sold five novels, and this is despite the fact that her editor was laid off and she was assigned to someone who was not a genre editor. It is unpredictable and you can’t depend on sales.

George said that the field used to be dominated by the backlist. It used to be that you knew you were successful when your royalties from past books exceeded your advances. This is no longer the case. Catherynne interjected to say “I was told to not expect any money beyond the advances”. George continued by saying “Jack Vance and Poul Andersen were great writers, solid mid-listers. They just kept producing solid novels year after year and building up a huge body of work. That is no longer possible. You have to have a big hit best seller.”
Mandy brought up the fact that sometimes the bean counters will tell you to change your name to try and change your career. Meghan Lindholm/Robin Hobb being probably the most famous example. Catherynne said that her blog is very well trafficked and if she took on a pseudonym it would be very well known. Howard pointed out that McFarland and Wolverton are the same person and his publisher made the decision to do that consciously because one name is used for fantasy and one is for sci-fi, it was an issue of branding.

That brought this interesting panel to a close and we made our way outside into the corridor where we milled about till George came out. Since our next destination was to lunch with George and Parris we were in no hurry since nobody was going anywhere until they arrived. Eventually we made our way downstairs to the meeting spot where everyone was gathered.
Lunch with George and Parris
Mormont led everyone who was lunching on the four block walk from the convention centre to ‘Pasta a Piacere’. George and Parris took a taxi since Parris can’t really walk that far, she was using a mobility scooter to get around the convention centre. You know when I am at the point where I can no longer walk so good I am totally getting one of those things and will trick it out with all sorts of cool stuff and run all the con noobs over as I dash from place to place, yeah.
Anyway lunch, it was very nice, I had the chicken. I’m not sure there is much more to be said about it than that really. It was a kind of strange lunch because George and Parris were sat at the end of one of the tables and while Chataya and Darling were sat next to them at first, they had to finish the meal and get straight up to leave to rush to the airport. We all said goodbye to Chataya and Darling as they left. But after they were gone nobody moved to take the seat next to George so he in a strange way he was left out of all the conversation that was going on.

I was sat between Paedar and Pod, opposite Mentat and Mina. Essentially we just sat there making jokes at Mina’s expense. About leaving books at bus stops, failure to cook eggs, etc. She has a great sense of humour and gives as good as she gets though. We also talked about books. Paedar was telling me that ‘The Inferior’ is the first book in a trilogy and that while he has finished the second book, it is with the publisher now, he does not have a date yet for when it will be published.
Lany did go over and spoke to George and Parris briefly about ‘The Feasts of Ice and Fire Cookbook’ that she is going to write. Parris really loves the idea and they were supposed to be having a meeting about it some time at Worldcon to discuss it, but I think this was the only such opportunity there was to do that.  In case you are unaware Lany has been preparing recipes and experimenting in the kitchen to create some of the famous dishes from ‘A Song of Ice and Fire’. A couple of weeks before Worldcon she cooked a Pigeon Pie, the one Joffrey choked to death on at his wedding in ‘A Storm of Swords’ as I am sure you remember. Except well she did not have any pigeon so she used chicken instead, well that’s close enough isn’t it? All reports suggest it was delicious and none of those who ate it died. I am not sure if that makes this an authentic dish or not? Anyway, the very best of luck with the cookbook Lany and we are all really hoping this works out and gets published.
Shortly after that it was time for George and Parris to leave, George had to get back to the convention centre for his afternoon signing. We all stuck around for about another half hour chatting and sorting out the bill [US translation: cheque] before leaving and quickly dispersing into about half a dozen groups going in different direction to different places. I ended up in a group with Blue and Mormont, Pebble and Mina as we made our way towards the nearest Metro station where we said goodbye to Mina. She had to get home and do some revision for an exam she was due to sit the following day. It was at this point I gave her the last remaining BWB badge which I was still carrying. There is still a whole day of the con left and already people are leaving [image: image19.png]


 - I also found out that Mandy had already left and I had not said goodbye to her, that happened last year as well [Note for future: make sure to say goodbye to Mandy before she leaves next time]. So we all hugged Mina goodbye and while the other three took a right to go back to the convention centre I went left back to the Delta to pick up the GRRM books I bought in the dealers room on Thursday to take with me to the signing.
Private Passions: The Many Interests of Neil Gaiman
Not everyone went to the lunch with George and Parris and most of those who were not there were at yet another Neil Gaiman panel which I missed and rather wished I hadn’t. Luga, Scott and Mich got there early and had front row seats for this popular panel. Even though this was in the biggest room available there were still people sitting on the floor and standing at the back.
Essentially this panel was a forum for Neil to tell stories and anecdotes about himself and his life with the occasional question from uber-fan writer Cheryl Morgan to keep him going. They began by discussing Neil’s fondness for bee-keeping. He has won two blue ribbons in the county fair for his honeycomb and home-made honey. He creates special labels for the jars of honey. How awesome would it be to own a jar of Neil Gaiman honey?
He has had other hobbies in the past, like growing exotic pumpkins which is entertaining because they just grow crazily and come up everywhere. However this hobby has been discouraged by a long running battle with ground hogs. One year he planted pumpkins and the ground hogs would eat the shoots as they came up. He decided to try to combat the ground hogs and the advice he received was to sprinkle wolf or lion urine on the ground around the pumpkins. The ground hogs ate more of the pumpkins. So Neil bought the little sponge flowers that one is supposed to soak with the urine to keep the smell around for longer. And the ground hogs ate the sponges.
They went on to speak about pets and Neil repeatedly stated that he is not a dog person and never intended to own a dog. Ever. However, he became the hero of his own story and his blog readers firmly believe that he was destined to end up owning a dog. The story is that one day he was driving home and saw a large brown animal heading towards him. He stopped and hauled the incredibly large, muddy, cow-pat smelling dog into his mini. He took the dog to the Humane Society because it had a chain which meant the dog had an owner. He thought that would be the end of it, the owners would collect it maybe he would get a thank you, that’s it. But the Humane Society called the owner who was an old farmer who thought the animal was a nuisance. They told the farmer that the guy who had dropped the dog off seemed fond of him, so the farmer told them to give the dog to Neil. Neil found he could not really say no.
At first he thought he now owned a brown dog. But no, he has a white dog. A white German Shepherd. When people tell him that they did not know that there were white German Shepherds he gives them the history of the breed and smiles mischievously because he knows that is the moment he has them trapped because he can go on and on for hours about his dog.
Neil then spoke a little about his personal life. Neil is a 48 year old divorcee who has recently begun dating Amanda Palmer, former lead singer with rock band ‘Dresden Dolls’, who is now a solo artist and released the album ‘Who Killed Amanda Palmer?’ in September 2008. Neil has been a fan of Dresden Dolls for a long time and was introduced to Amanda by mutual friend Jason Webley (a folk singer from Seattle). Neil and Amanda exchanged emails for a while and she sent him the photographs of herself posed dead taken by Kyle Cassidy for her solo album and she asked Neil to write stories based on the photos. A book containing the beautiful photos and Neil’s stories has been released to accompany the album. Through working on that project they became involved and Neil announced that they were dating in June 2009 during a Q&A session at an AIDS fundraising event they were attending together.
Neil continued to talk about music and how the arrangements and sequences of tracks on an album are important because of the relationship they have to each other. His daughters only buy songs, not albums and they only see patterns in songs. I agree with Neil on this but I do hope that in this modern age of iTunes and random play being the norm that as people get older they will appreciate the artistry of a complete album and listen to it start to finish the way it is intended, much like Amanda Palmer’s solo album is.

Cheryl then changed the subject asking about Neil’s first Worldcon in 1987. Neil was put up in a hotel room by Titan who was publishing one of his comics. He stayed up all night talking to people in the bar. Then he realized people were going to have breakfast so he went and had breakfast. Around 11 am he went back to his room only to find his key did not work and a woman answered the door. What had happened is that the hotel staff thought he had left without paying and therefore had thrown all his belongings out and given his room away to another guest. Neil stood in the lobby nervously while someone with Titan spoke to the manager and straightened things out. Neil got another room but he never got his belongings back including items that he had personally purchased from the dealer. He said that to this day he hates that hotel, can’t say I blame him.
Cheryl pointed out that that was when he started wearing black. Neil agreed. He has always liked monochrome but his grandmother told him he couldn't wear all black because of the black shirts of the 1930's. It was five years after her death before he bought his first black t-shirt and this has now become his defined style.
Neil then spoke about ‘Doctor Who’ and how the show changed his perspective of the universe and taught him of the fragility and optimism of life. He always felt that ‘Doctor Who’ was uniquely his even though it first came out when he was around three. He can remember drinking his school milk and walking around saying “exterminate” like a Dalek. Patrick Troughton was Neil’s doctor, the others were actors playing the doctor.
They then went on to the subject of sushi. Neil said that he and Terry Pratchett survived the ‘Good Omens’ signing tour on sushi and he loves it. However, the first time he had sushi was a bad but memorable experience. He was taken along on a double date to pretend to be someone's boyfriend. Neil figured his job was to not embarrass his friend at the sushi restaurant. He started with the most unfamiliar and worked towards the most familiar. He ate different things and was doing well until he came to the “avocado bowl”. He took a large ball of wasabi thinking it was an avocado roll and “saw the face of God” until he could spit it out. This story prompted gales of laughter from the audience, Luga, Scott and Mich were in tears because they were laughing so hard.
He went back to the subject of ‘Good Omens’ and said that when signing the book one of them would write a comment for the other to build off. For example one would write “Burn this book” and then the other would write: “Apply holy match here.”
The last subject they talked about was ‘The Graveyard Book’. Neil said that he knew the feel of it before he knew what the book was going to be. He talked about the next book being the ‘Lord of the Rings’ to The Graveyard Book's ‘Hobbit’. Should be interesting to see how that analogy pans out.
Reading: David Levine – Wild Cards
From here Lugajetboygirl rushed over to another panel to catch a reading by new Wild Cards writer David Levine. He's got a story that is going to be being inserted into ‘Wild Cards Volume 1’ which is being re-released with three new stories. His reading time was cut short because one of the other authors went over their time, but Luga reports that we did get to hear about some secret Aces from the CIA in the 50s. She also says that at some point during Worldcon George made a chilling comment about a certain fact in the Wild Cards universe that she had never noticed before; in the WC-verse, the World Trade Centre towers were never built because that's where Jetboy's plane crashed and where his tomb was built.
Signing: George R.R. Martin
Before going to George’s signing I took a long walk to La’ Hotel Centraville to leave a message at reception for one of the raffle winners, though they never called me back afterwards. It was quite late into the hour when I arrived and there were only a couple of people queued up ahead of me in line. I got my hardback copy of ‘A Clash of Kings’ and two ‘Wild Cards’ novels (bought from the dealer room on Thursday) signed and said to George that if I did not get the chance to speak to him again this year then I would see him next year in Ireland.

UPDATE: Turns out that was actually this year in Ireland at the signing and BWB meet up events in Belfast and Dublin which you can read about in my Ireland 2009 Report. Then just for good measure I went along to George’s London signing at ‘Forbidden Planet’ as well. But the next time I see him will definitely be at Octocon in Ireland next year. Unless I do go to Worldcon in Melbourne, Australia? Or if there is another meet up in Ireland for the ‘Game of Thrones’ TV series before October? Ah feck it I don’t know…
I wandered the dealer room again for a while but did not buy anything. Eventually I made my way down to the meeting point and found a few other boarders hanging out there. Everyone was thinking about plans for the evening, many of us intending to dress up smart for the Hugo Award Ceremony again. We decided to meet back here at 6.30 for dinner and some people left to go back to their hotels to get changed and get ready.

Mich and Tycho staying at the hostel quite some distance further on from the Delta left to walk back there but they came right back to us at the meeting point almost straight away. The reason being that Mich bumped into Cory Doctorow over near the escalators and finally found the nerve to ask him to sign her copy of ‘Little Brother’ that she had been carrying around all weekend waiting for just this opportunity. What a total fangirl! She was so happy and came skipping and dancing back towards us at the meeting point, Tycho joining in – it looked like they had choreographed and rehearsed the dance in advance, their hands flying up either side of their heads as they skipped along. So crazy! Wish someone had caught that on video. She showed off her signed book exclaiming her happiness over finally talking to Cory. I asked if she had gotten a kiss from him but she claims she would never do that kind of thing!
After that pretty much everyone decided it was time to head back to their respective hotels to get changed and ready for dinner and the Hugos.

Dinner – Chinese again!
So it’s an hour later and everyone is dressed to kill and back at the meeting point ready for dinner. Alright not everyone was dressed up for the occasion, but quite a lot of us were. We still had not decided on where to go for dinner. Somehow the decision was made to go back to Chinatown for Chinese food. Again. We tried to find somewhere different to eat other than the place we had been to before but there were no other choices so close to the convention centre. We milled about in the street waiting for someone to make a decision and so Tycho, the youngest person there, took charge and led us back to the same old place where we went to back on Wednesday night, and where a group of people had eaten last night. This became Tycho’s third visit in five days to the same Chinese restaurant. But we did not care, the food is good, the service is quick and the price was cheap. Alright we were dressed up too classy for a place with bin bag sheeting for tablecloths, but whatever.
Fenryng was not happy with the choice of Chinese food because he does not like it but I thought he found some of it was more to his liking than he at first thought. Soph and Mentat arrived late but there was still some food left on the table for them. In fact there was so much left over that we decided we did not want to waste it so Tycho asked for some takeaway containers and we took as much of the food as we could with us when we left. Tycho carried it all the way back to the convention centre and took it with him into the Hugo Awards Ceremony. Afterwards we decided it would probably be disgusting and probably not worth eating so it got ditched in a bin. Such a waste.
Schwanking at the Metal Bar
Meanwhile across town at Foufounes the Metal Bar, a new phenomenon was being born.
No doubt you’ve heard of it by now but perhaps you have not heard the story of how it came about and you would like to understand the new board in-joke. Then wonder no more! A group of boarders including Limecat, Tyria, Mr Tyria, Tenalpia, Dracarys and probably some others too (this is some quality reporting isn’t it?) spent the night at the metal bar and basically laughed at anything and everything so hard that other patrons of the bar would move away from tables next to them to get away from the raucous hilarity.
The big joke is that Limecat noticed an electric heater on the wall which had a label for its manufacturer which read “shwank”. The question was asked; “what is a shwank?” and the answer of course is a “secret wank” [US translation: masturbation] or a “sch-wank”. Am I explaining this in enough detail for you to grasp the premise of the gag?

So as these jokes often do, it grew in the telling and the repetition. Every time someone got up to go to the toilet [US translation: restroom], everyone would say “are you going for a schwank?” If someone was laughing quietly they were “schlaughing”. A secret smoke would be a “schmoke”. But of course if you are caught in the act it would be a “failed schwank” because it’s not a secret if someone else knows about it.

Please note that this is different to the definitions of “shwank” or “schwank” as described by Urban Dictionary and you really should be careful not to mix these up. I think it is pretty clear you don’t want to be caught failing to shwank-schwank while schwanking.
The Hugo Awards Ceremony
Back at the convention centre and we entered the main auditorium and took a couple of rows of seats on the far side of the room. Pebble had gone into the ladies to get changed into her beautiful green dress which she had brought with her in a bag rather than wearing to dinner. So she arrived late and could not find us. She walked past George who called out to her “Hello Pebble”. Seems she made quite the impression on our George. Eventually she found us and we all settled down as the 56th Hugo Awards Ceremony got under way.

Why is it that all awards ceremonies HAVE to be hosted by one man and one woman who against all common sense have to make an awful attempt at comedy through flirtatious comments and ridiculous stunts? Tonight’s Master of Ceremonies Julie Czerneda and co-host Yves Meynard bought each other presents and told a few Hugo Awards in-jokes to get things started. Honestly if you can’t actually do comedy why even try?

Forrest J Ackerman Big Heart Award
So the first award of the night. Just to confuse you this is not consider an “official” Hugo Award even though it is awarded at the Hugo Awards. There are several of these and it is a cause of controversy within the fandom community as reported on at the WSFS Business Meeting. This award is given to a member of the fandom community who is known for their selfless deeds and exemplifies the spirit of big-heartedness and kindness.

This year’s winner is announced as Andrew Porter and here was our reaction: “Oh my God! It’s that man from the train!” [image: image20.png]


 For those that skipped it check out what happened on Wednesday during the Party Train from New York to Montreal. This is the man who got pissed off with us being so rowdy on the train, who insulted Lany and he has just won the Big Heart Award!

To be fair to Andrew he did try to be friendly to us at first and I’m sure he has done a lot of good things for Worldcon and fully deserves the award, but at that particular moment the irony was too delicious to not enjoy.
First Fandom Awards
Next up a trio of fandom awards which I will summarise due to the fact that these are not in any way interesting.

The First Fandom Hall of Fame Award:
James Gunn and Ben Indick
The First Fandom Posthumous Hall of Fame Award:
Walt Daugherty

The Sam Moskowitz Award for Excellence in Collecting:
Joe Wrzos

This was followed by the In Memoriam list shown on the two big screens to either side of the stage. Just like the previous year in Denver the list contained hundreds of names of authors, editors, fans, fan-writers and other people associated with the SFF community who have passed away in the last year. Hard to believe we lose so many great people every year.
Another thing that is hard to believe is that the Hugo Awards has never had an official logo. Earlier this year the marketing committee announced a contest to design an official logo for the Hugo with a prize of a trip to Australia for next year’s Worldcon. They received almost 400 entries. They showed a selection of runners-up before announcing this as the winner and the new official Hugo Logo. Kat said “I could have come up with that just by looking at a vibrator.” [image: image21.png]


 

The Hugo Award Trophy always features the iconic silver rocket design but has a different base each year. The designers of this year’s Hugo Award trophy base came up to explain their inspiration for it including the Canadian maple leaf flame design which sits beneath where the rocket is taking off from. It is definitely a beautiful trophy and we got to have a good look at a couple of them later on at the Hugo Winners and Losers Parties.

The John W. Campbell Award for Best New Writer

Just one more award before the official Hugo Award begins. Why isn’t this considered an official Hugo Award?  I have absolutely no idea. We had all been given a programme guide at the door when we came in and this was the first award which had the shortlist of nominees printed in the guide which meant we could start playing the awesome game of “guess the winner”. Here is the shortlist of nominees with a list of guesses we made and the winner.

	Nominees
	Guesses
	Winner

	David Anthony Durham
	MG
	Yes

	Felix Gilman
	
	

	Tony Pi
	Mich
	

	Gord Sellar
	
	


My guess here was purely based on the one awesome panel I had seen David at. Last year’s winner Mary Robinette Kowal went onstage for the official Passing of the Tiara which has now become associated with this award. David looked very fetching wearing it!
Best Fan Writer
	Nominees
	Guesses
	Winner

	Chris Garcia
	
	

	John Hertz
	
	

	Dave Langford
	
	

	Cheryl Morgan
	Mich
	Yes

	Steven H. Silver
	
	


The first of the official Hugo Awards. I don’t remember what my guess was since I did not know any of these people but with hindsight Cheryl Morgan was the obvious choice. The amount of work she has done on the Con Report blog and her own blog is quite incredible. She even got to ask Neil Gaiman some questions during a panel with him earlier that day.
During her speech she asked not to be nominated next year which a lot of people did both this year and I recall last year as well. [Queue Hugo Rant #1] The whole “please don’t nominate me next year” thing is becoming cliché at the Hugos. It comes off as someone trying to be humble but failing because they are up there picking up the award anyway. If you’re so tired of winning every year then you do have the option to turn down the nomination. But that in itself is a disservice to the awards. Should an award only be given to someone who wants to win or should it go to the piece of art that is most deserving of being the winner?[/end rant #1]
Best Fan Artist

	Nominees
	Guesses
	Winner

	Alan F. Beck
	
	

	Brad W. Foster
	
	

	Sue Mason
	
	

	Taral Wayne
	
	

	Frank Wu
	Mich
	Yes


Frank Wu ran up on stage excited and started playing with the Hugo like a toy making rocket noises like a little kid. I have to say it was nice to see someone who was genuinely thrilled to be there and happy to have won.

Best Fanzine

	Nominees
	Guesses
	Winner

	Argentus edited by Steven H Silver
	
	

	Banana Wings edited by Claire Brialey and Mark Plummer
	
	

	Challenger edited by Guy H. Lillian III
	
	

	The Drink Tank edited by Chris Garcia
	
	

	Electric Velocipede edited by John Klima
	
	Yes

	File 770 edited by Mike Glyer
	
	


Again no guesses on this one, I think I was closing my eyes and randomly pointing at the page by this point.
Best Semiprozine

	Nominees
	Guesses
	Winner

	Clarkesworld Magazine edited by Neil Clarke, Nick Mamatas & Sean Wallace
	Mich
	

	Interzone edited by Andy Cox
	
	

	Locus edited by Charles N. Brown, Kirsten Gong-Wong & Liza Groen Trombi
	MG
	

	The New York Review of Science Fiction edited by Kathryn Cramer, Kris Dikeman, David G. Hartwell & Kevin J. Maroney
	
	

	Weird Tales edited by Ann VanderMeer & Stephen H. Segal
	
	Yes


Best Related Book

	Nominees
	Guesses
	Winner

	Rhetorics of Fantasy by Farah Mendlesohn
	
	

	Spectrum 15: The Best in Contemporary Fantastic Art by Cathy & Arnie Fenner, eds.
	
	

	The Vorkosigan Companion: The Universe of Lois McMaster Bujold by Lillian Stewart & John Helfers, eds.
	
	

	What It Is We Do When We Read Science Fiction by Paul Kincaid
	
	

	Your Hate Mail Will Be Graded: A Decade of Whatever, 1998-2008 by John Scalzi
	MG, Mich
	Yes


I guessed correctly here thanks to the copy of this book Pat donated to the BWB Charity Prize Draw Raffle that we gave away on Saturday night. John said he was pleased to win this since he is nominated for three awards tonight and he was told he had to come home with at least one trophy so the pressure is now off.
Best Dramatic Presentation, Long Form

	Nominees
	Guesses
	Winner

	The Dark Knight
	MG
	

	Hellboy II: The Golden Army
	
	

	Iron Man
	
	

	METAtropolis
	
	

	WALL-E
	Mich
	Yes


I won’t go into the full list of writers, directors, producers that the programme had in it. I was sure that ‘The Dark Knight’ would be a shoe-in for this one but Mich guessed right that Disney Pixar’s delightful animated movie ‘WALL-E’ was going to be the winner. I haven’t seen it which is why I did not guess this one, but I will definitely give it a watch some time soon. This was one of the Hugo Trophies we saw up close at the party later on.
Best Dramatic Presentation, Short Form

	Nominees
	Guesses
	Winner

	The Constant Lost
	
	

	Doctor Horrible’s Sing-Along Blog by Joss Whedon
	MG, Kat, Mich
	Yes

	Revelations Battlestar Galactica
	
	

	Silence in the Library / Forest of the Dead Doctor Who
	
	

	Turn Left Doctor Who
	
	


We all got this one right. But of course Joss was not here to pick up the award. In fact I don’t think there was anybody actually involved with the production to do so. [Queue Hugo Rant #2] Something else that annoys me with the Hugo’s is how many nominees and winners who don’t even bother to turn up for them. Alright it’s maybe not as expected for these film and TV categories because Worldcon is primarily a book and literature convention. But there were more than a few authors this year and last who were not there to pick up their award and yet sent along acceptance speeches saying how it was “the biggest thing that had ever happened” to them and the “most important night of their careers”. If it was that damned important to them then why aren’t they there in person? It just seems like another slap in the face to the award and more evidence of how the Hugo is disregarded, disrespected and just not the big-time award it is meant to be, and should be. [/end rant #2]
Best Editor, Long Form

	Nominees
	Guesses
	Winner

	Lou Anders
	
	

	Ginjer Buchanan
	
	

	David G. Hartwell
	
	Yes

	Beth Meacham
	
	

	Patrick Nielsen Hayden
	MG
	


Another pick based on hearing a nominee speak at a panel earlier at the Convention.

Best Editor, Short Form

	Nominees
	Guesses
	Winner

	Ellen Datlow
	
	Yes

	Stanley Schmidt
	
	

	Jonathan Strahan
	
	

	Gordon Van Gelder
	
	

	Sheila Williams
	
	


Best Graphic Story

	Nominees
	Guesses
	Winner

	The Dresden Files: Welcome to the Jungle written by Jim Butcher, art by Ardian Syaf
	
	

	Girl Genius, Volume 8: Agatha Heterodyne and the Chapel of Bones by Kaja & Phil Foglio
	
	Yes

	Fables: War and Pieces written by Bill Willingham
	
	

	Schlock Mercenary: The Body Politic by Howard Tayler
	MG
	

	Serenity: Better Days written by Joss Whedon & Brett Matthews
	Mich
	

	Y: The Last Man, Volume 10: Whys and Wherefores by Brian K. Vaughan
	
	


I was hoping Howard would win after hearing him talk at the Writing Excuses Podcast on Friday and the Writing for a Living panel earlier today.
Best Professional Artist

	Nominees
	Guesses
	Winner

	Daniel Dos Santos
	
	

	Bob Eggleton
	
	

	Donato Giancola
	Mich
	Yes

	John Picacio
	
	

	Shaun Tan
	
	


Best Short Story

	Nominees
	Guesses
	Winner

	26 Monkeys, Also the Abyss by Kij Johnson
	
	

	Article of Faith by Mike Resnick
	
	

	Evil Robot Monkey by Mary Robinette Kowal
	MG
	

	Exhalation by Ted Chiang
	
	Yes

	From Babel’s Fall’n Glory We Fled by Michael Swanwick
	
	


Of course I was hoping that Mary would win this having been so impressed with her reading of this short story earlier today and the incredibly interesting things she had to say during the Writing Excuses Podcast on Friday.
Best Novelette

	Nominees
	Guesses
	Winner

	Alastair Baffle’s Emporium of Wonders by Mike Resnick
	
	

	The Gambler by Paolo Bacigalupi
	
	

	Pride and Prometheus by John Kessel
	
	

	The Ray-Gun: A Love Story by James Alan Gardner
	
	

	Shoggoths in Bloom by Elizabeth Bear
	Mich
	Yes


Best Novella

	Nominees
	Guesses
	Winner

	The Erdmann Nexus by Nancy Kress
	Mich
	Yes

	The Political Prisoner by Charles Coleman Finlay
	
	

	The Tear by Ian McDonald
	
	

	True Names by Benjamin Rosenbaum & Cory Doctorow
	
	

	Truth by Robert Reed
	
	


Best Novel

	Nominees
	Guesses
	Winner

	Anathem edited by Neal Stephenson
	
	

	The Graveyard Book by Neil Gaiman
	MG, Kat
	Yes

	Little Brother by Cory Doctorow
	Mich
	

	Saturn’s Children by Charles Stross
	
	

	Zoe’s Tale by John Scalzi
	
	


More of a hope really for Mich this time, with Neil as the guest of honour bringing many of his fans to this Worldcon that might not have otherwise come, the voting was always going to go his way, and that brings me to: [Queue Hugo Rant #3] I am far from the first to rant about the disgrace that is the Hugo voting system and I won’t be the last, but really it can’t be highlighted enough how bad it is. Out of 3370 attending members at the convention only 1074 voting ballots were received and in fact that is a better than average percentage compared to some years. Click these links to see PDF records of the full nomination details and the full voting breakdown for 2009. So why do two thirds of attendees fail to use their right to vote for the Hugo Awards?

The most common reason given for not voting that I have heard is “well I have not read any of these books”. But in actual fact I think that might be a kop out and I have to admit this is something I am guilty of myself. The truth is a lot of people do not understand the nomination and voting process and so they don’t want to vote, don’t want to influence the decision, don’t want to upset the apple cart, they don’t want to be responsible. And this goes against the very nature of what it means to be a fan. Worldcon is a convention run by fans and without the fan community getting involved, wanting to run things and wanting to make a difference – it is nothing.
I think the problem is not one of people don’t care enough or they’re just too lazy (although a lot are), I think part of it could be as simple as people needing a little education on how to get involved and what to do. So if that describes you then let read on and I’ll learn ya’.
Of course that is not the complete answer as to why so few people vote. There are several significant and rather obvious problems in the voting process. Just in case you fail to spot them in the overview chart below you will find extra rants about the stupidity of each one and how things could be easily fixed. Yes it will be long – what else do you expect?
Overview
Right lets start out with a simple chart of the timeline for the entire process.

	Stage of Process
	Start Date
	Closing Date
	Who is Eligible to Vote

	Nominations
	Mid January
	End of February
	Members of previous & current Worldcons

	Voting
	Mid May
	End of June
	Members of current (next) Worldcon

	Awards Ceremony
	Early August (Sept in 2010)
	


Previous Worldcon means only the previous year’s Worldcon, not 2 years ago and older.

By current Worldcon they mean “next” Worldcon, the one coming up later that year.
Now you might have spotted a considerable problem right there and that is with how far ahead of the event these closing dates are. Nominations is quite an involved process for the organisers and there is a lot of behind the scenes work going on there so I can see why that needs to be completed early in the year, but what about the actual voting?

[Queue Hugo Rant #4] How many people plan that far in advance? Especially in this economic climate where a lot of people can’t be certain they will still have a job in 6 months time. Gauging by the way it goes on this board more than half our boarders don’t finalise their decision to go until June-July by which time it is too late to vote for the Hugo’s, which is of course totally ridiculous. 

Seriously how long does it take to count up the votes? They have a computer program that automates the process and can probably produce the results in 5 seconds flat. The tricky part is to get all of the votes into the database and thanks to the Internet that should now be completely automated as well. The rules do state that votes by traditional post will always be accepted and I agree that this option should remain and while yes, you have to give a closing date for votes by post, that is no reason to close the Internet voting so far ahead of the convention. Why not have Internet voting continue right up to Worldcon?
In fact as Stego suggests in this rant about the 2006 Hugo Awards on his blog why not have a few computers on site where people could go and privately enter their votes during the first couple of days of the Con. Close voting Friday night allowing ample time on Saturday and Sunday to validate the totals, get the winners names engraved onto the plates and attach them to the Hugo trophies. It could be done and while it would be more effort and worry to do things that way it would help to increase the number of votes that are made and promote the contributions of the community which can only be a good thing. Admittedly you would want a Plan B in case the computers let you down but perhaps the inclusion of a rule stating that in this unlikely event a preliminary result taken before the start of the convention will stand as the final result would be acceptable?[/end rant #4]
But with all that said it does not matter how long you give people to vote if they don’t understand the voting process and because of that are disinclined to get involved they will not anyway. So let’s talk about the Nomination and Voting procedures.
Nominations

The most important thing to understand about the nominations process is that you can nominate anything you want to provided it was published or appeared first in English during the preceding year. You don’t have to nominate in every category and you don’t have to have read every book released during the entire year - that would of course be impossible. It does not have to be something well known either, this especially applies to the fan awards or artist awards, but you will need to cite sources and provide examples.
[Queue Hugo Rant #5]I have just dug out my 2009 Hugo Nominations form and something that strikes me about it is that it is very non-user friendly. Everything is couched in very legal and serious sounding language which probably puts a lot of people off. Yes that stuff definitely needs to be included but perhaps it could be toned down a little? Getting involved needs to be encouraged and it should not feel like you are signing your life away by filling in the form, and on that note let me quote you something that I really don’t like from the nominations form:

“You may nominate up to five persons or works in each category. However, you are permitted (and even encouraged) to make fewer nominations or none at all if you are not familiar with the works that fall into that category.”

I so strongly disagree with this idea - nominations should not be discouraged! Is the reason for the inclusion of this sentence to improve the nominations process or to reduce the amount of work that the organisers have to do? I am not discounting the amount of work that the organisers have to go through at this stage, compiling an open ballot of nominations into something that makes sense is not easy. I agree that people should not nominate for the sake of nominating something, you should always believe that it is a work worthy of winning the award, but people should be encouraged to take part as much as possible.
The categories themselves can be confusing. How can you tell the difference between a novelette and a novel? You’re not going to sit there and count it up to see if it is more than 17,500 words now are you. Fortunately there are websites that discuss the kinds of works they think should be nominated for the Hugo and you can pick up the category definitions from there. But even if you don’t know which category something should belong to that is no excuse not to vote because the Hugo Awards website has this piece of information on its FAQ page:

“The good news is that if you nominate a work in the wrong category the Administrators will try to move it. But they can only do that if there is room. For example, if you have incorrectly nominated a story as a novelette when it is in fact a novella then the Administrator will move it, but only if you currently have less than five nominations in the novella category, because you are only allowed five. So if you are not sure where a work belongs, it is advisable to leave space for it in the other category in your nominations.”
So there you go. My advice is to ignore the legalese of the form and use your nominations as you see fit and don’t worry if you get it wrong or whatever. It isn’t life or death it is just you giving your opinion so if you have one please share it as I intend to in January.[/end rant #5]
As you might have guessed the top 5 nominated works in each category are put forward for the voting process. There are rules for ties and insufficient votes which I won’t bore you with which can change the final number of nominees down to a minimum of 3 or up to 6, 7 or potentially any number. As a courtesy the Hugo Award administrators give all nominees a chance to decline the nomination withdrawing themselves so the next highest nominee gets bumped up to take their place.

[Queue Hugo Rant #6]Why does someone withdraw themselves from the Hugo Awards? Yes it is polite to offer this option and for some there are probably good reasons, like the fan writers and artists who say “don’t nominate me next year” (see Rant #1). But what about some of the bigger names? In 2006 Neil Gaiman withdrew ‘Anansi Boys’ because he felt the Hugos is more of a Science Fiction award than a fantasy award and he wanted to give others a chance to win it. But this year, before his death in July, Charles Brown co-founder and editor of Locus Magazine, contacted Neil before the nominations were even made public to tell him not to withdraw his nomination for ‘The Graveyard Book’.
I’m no expert but most people regard ‘Anansi Boys’ as a superior work to ‘The Graveyard Book’ but the situation we have here is that the latter won a Hugo while the former did not. Is this merely an indication of how well regarded the Hugo Awards are and shouldn’t this be a worry that some people don’t want to win one because they don’t value it? Admittedly this is just speculation but you do have to wonder sometimes.[end rant #6]

Voting

If you thought the nomination process was hard to understand it is nothing compared to the actual voting process, but the Instant Runoff Voting (IRV) system (also known as an Australian Ballot) that the Hugos use is, while not without fault, better than a simple first past the post (plurality) system. In fact The Oscars have now started using a very similar system (though I doubt they did so just because The Hugos do as their news story claims).

However to simplify things all you need to understand is that you should vote for whatever you want to win. You don’t have to have read or seen all of the nominated works. If you have read only one of the nominees and you liked it/want it to win then vote for it.
Now if you have read two or more of the nominated works then you have a choice to make but the choice is not which one to mark your “X” against. The choice is to vote your favourite of the two as “Number 1” and the other as “Number 2”, and so on all the way up to “Number 5” if you want to.

The reason for this is that the voting process has several rounds and in each round the candidate with the least votes is eliminated and so if that was your favourite your vote now passes on to your second favourite for the next round. A winner is determined once they have received more than 50% of the total ballots. This ensures that a winner isn’t merely one candidate who had the most with 30-40% of the total vote but that it had a fair majority support from others even if it was not their favourite choice.

Now mathematically speaking it is possible to get strange results due to the non-monotonicity effect, the anomaly where voting for your favourite can harm their chances of winning, but the results history of The Hugos show this to not play a major part in determining the winners since it requires a very unusual combination of vote placements in order to occur.
There is an additional wrinkle which can complicate matters which is the opportunity to vote “No Award”. On the voting form you will find this given as a 6th option alongside the five nominees. You can make this your “Number 1” choice meaning you don’t believe any of the candidates are worthy of the award or that the category should be abolished and if enough “No Award” votes are received the Award will not be given at all for that year. This would presumably open a discussion about the reason why and investigate the possibility of abolishing or altering an award category for the next year.
But the “No Award” vote plays a more interesting role if placed within your hierarchy of votes because it means that those nominees placed higher than “No Award” are in your opinion worthy of the Hugo while those placed lower were not worthy. This can have a dramatic effect on the voting process so you should probably only use “No Award” in this way if you have read one (or more) of the nominated works and really did not like it and strongly feel that it is not a worthy winner.
The “No Award Test” takes place once a prospective winner is determined with more than 50% of the total ballot. To be confirmed as winner they must have received more votes higher than “No Award” than they have lower than “No Award”. A ballot which votes for the prospective winner in any position that does not vote for “No Award” at all counts for the prospective winner. If the prospective winner fails the “No Award Test” then again no award is presented that year. Obviously passing the “No Award Test” confirms the award winner.
If you want to dig deeper into the IRV system the Hugos use you can read about it on their voting system page on their website. The official Hugo website is quite well designed even if it is far too narrow by modern standards, but at least it is nowhere near as poor as the World Science Fiction Society website. Come on WSFS, that’s just embarrassing! Surely a society of geeks should be able to do better than that?

So now armed with the knowledge of how the system works hopefully you will put your vote to good use in the coming years. We all know what the problems with the system are, but despite that, if you are coming to Worldcon you should plan ahead and buy your membership early so that you can participate in the Hugo nominations and voting because it really does need your support otherwise it will become less significant when anyone who is truly a fan should want it to become more so.[/end rant #3]
With the Awards Ceremony over all of the winners took to the stage holding their trophies aloft while dozens and dozens of photographers took their pictures. In Denver we started our own tradition of doing the same thing with the BWB members who dressed up for the Hugos. We found a relatively nice wall to stand in front of this year, well nicer than the other walls we could find anyway, and would have been better if we had all stood in front of it. We then took a picture of all the finely dressed ladies and then I joined them for a photo of the TTTNE spamming crew. As we were leaving the convention centre we ran into another group of boarders who had been at the Hugo Awards but missed our first group shot so we got another one with them.
The Hugo Winners and Losers Parties
We made our way back to the Delta splintering off into smaller groups on the way. The group I was with walked at Pebble Steps pace meaning Lany, Kat, Pebble, Mentat, Soph and I were the last to arrive. We went up to the 9th floor so Pebble could drop off her enormous bag in my room and this was also where we said goodnight and goodbye to Lany. She would be up early tomorrow to catch the train back to New York missing the rest of Monday’s events. Sometimes we joke about becoming emo in these situations but Lany was genuinely upset because she had had such a good time and understandably did not want it to end knowing it might be two years before we can all get together again at Worldcon 2011 in Reno. We had a big [image: image22.png]


 and it wasn’t just Lany who was emo.

But for the rest of us the night was not over and it was time to go party, so we went up to the party floor on the 28th and back down to the 5th floor but could not find any of the BWB folks anywhere. We went back to the 28th and hung out in the same large suite where the Tor party and UK parties were held on previous nights to see who would show up. I can’t recall whose party this was but it might have been a horror themed party because there was a rubber chopped off foot on the table for no particular reason, which Pebble put inside Kat’s shoe for a Pebble-Eyed-View photo. A little while later Paedar arrived to join us and Pebble took this great photo of him gnawing on the foot.
I sent a text message to Blue Rose to find out where everyone else was and discovered they had all gathered in the X’s room. We made our way down to the 14th floor but were not sure exactly which room it was. We walked down the corridor till we found the noisiest room and sure enough that was the one. We joined the party and found ourselves some place to sit. Just about everyone was crammed into this one small room.

I believe it was Luga who had the idea that we all should write a letter to Mashiara and DalThor who sadly could not make the trip over from Greece to join us. The letter was passed round and we all took turns writing a little something about what was going on, what we had done and what they were missing out on. They received the letter a couple of weeks later and were totally shocked and thrilled to have been thought about while we were there. A really good idea, who knows perhaps another new tradition in the making?

While we were all laughing and joking around Paedar became the centre of attention giving out “Enslaved” badges to various people including X-ray and it was decided that all the ladies of the BWB should jump on a bed with him. As you can see in this photo I believe this was the best moment of the entire weekend for Paedar.

We were having a great time with lots of jokes being cracked, so much laughter and this prompted another laughing fit from Ser Scott which just had us all in stitches. At about this point Tycho announced that he had to be going because he was going to be on the same train as Lany going back to New York early in the morning so he needed to get some sleep. More emo goodbyes were in order because X-ray, Fenryng and Regina (whose room we were in) would be leaving early in the morning and needed to get some sleep so we left them in peace to go check out some of the real Hugo parties.
However some boarders (Limecat, Drac, Tenalpia and Tyria) had already decided that the parties were boring and bailed out onto the streets of Montreal to go drinking in the park next to the hotel. They invited Mich and daj to go join them and because it was such a dark seedy looking park, the type of place where you are likely to be offered drugs, they were all making jokes about it being a “crack-park”. They watched a police car circling the park for a while which apparently they should have taken as a warning that they should not be drinking there. When the policemen came over they were informed that drinking in the park was illegal as was large groups hanging around at night and so they got moved on. Because Mr Tyria was already in bed asleep they all went back to Tenalpia’s gypsy caravan to continue drinking for several more hours. 
Meanwhile back at the Hugo parties we found ourselves on the 5th floor where one of the Hugo winners was sat with their trophy on a table beside the huge dice from the Human Battleships game. We all promptly gathered round to take photos and discovered this was the trophy that ‘WALL-E’ won for Best Dramatic Presentation: Long Form.
We then wandered through into a huge and almost empty suite and took over one of the rooms which also contained the most enormous stack of cans and bottles of drink I’ve ever seen at a Worldcon party, it was ridiculous. While we were in here Lucky Pierre came in and found us, he was drunk again but a very happy drunk and he told us that he has been talking with Heather Urbanski – who you might recall from the Zombie panel on Friday – and they have drawn up a plan for saving Worldcon on the back of a napkin. I never would have believed it if I had not seen Heather stagger in just as drunk as LP and having a fine time. I think they wandered off soon after to continue their plans elsewhere.

Another of the Hugo winners wandered through carrying his trophy and he was offering folks the opportunity to hold the trophy for a few minutes for a donation of $5 to charity. Ser Scott willingly paid the money and got to hold onto a Hugo trophy prompting this awesome photo opportunity. Do ignore the unfortunate pose of Luga by Ser Scott’s crotch.

Soon after this the group broke up with everyone heading back to their hotel rooms. There were more emo goodbyes for Mr X, Aoife and LP who had returned at some point since they would all be leaving early in the morning too.

Kat, Pebble and Blue Rose came back to my hotel room because we all wanted to take a look at the scrapbook Blue had put together for last year’s Denver Worldcon. She had only recently finished it off and while it had been in her bag the whole week for some reason she had not been showing it off to people until now. Kat and I were sat on my bed looking through it, with Blue sat on Pod’s bed – I believe Pod had gone off to join the others drinking in Tenalpia’s gypsy caravan at this point.

Pebble was sat on the chair by the desk but she suddenly decided to come and join us on the bed to look at the scrapbook. As she jumped up onto the bed instead of landing in the empty space to my left she actually landed right on top of me, it was like Pebble was mounting me! Then in her embarrassment at that she jumped over to the side and ended up falling off the side of the bed and down the foot wide gap between the bed and the wall and she could not get back out! Eventually I stopped laughing long enough to help her back out of the gap and onto the bed.

The three of us then finished looking through the scrap book which contained some memorable photos, ticket stubs and hand-written details of everything Blue had gotten up to in Denver last year. It’s a really nice little memento of that convention and lovingly put together. A nice reminder of what happened, similar to what this report will be about now. I know Blue has been busy with finishing off her thesis recently but I believe she has started work on this year’s scrapbook and hopefully we will all get a chance to see that one day.

Soon after this the girls all left to walk back across town to where they were staying while I got ready for bed and I was fast-asleep long before Pod returned. I did later discover that Pebble had left Silverstar’s Head in our room and she slept in Pod’s bed all night long…
Monday 10 August 2009
I awoke to the not unpleasant sensation of Mich jumping on me. She had finally made good on her promise of jumping on me if I was still in bed when she arrived in the morning. Our reason for being awake early this morning was for going to queue for tickets for the Neil Gaiman signing. Mich had a hardcover copy of ‘Good Omens’ with her and I had a copy of ‘Neverwhere’ which would be nice to get signed. By the time we got down to the convention centre a long queue had already formed and we had to walk quite a way down it to find the end. On our way along we passed Ser Scott who had a place some 30 or 40 people ahead of us. Soon after Mormont arrived and ended up another two dozen people further back from Mich and me.
Unfortunately for all of us this was a very limited number of people because this signing was going to be Neil’s last event of the convention and he would be going straight to the airport afterwards meaning the ticket numbers were restricted and we were justifiably dismayed by the announcement that all the tickets were gone. Just then Ser Scott came back to us happy because he had been lucky enough to get a ticket – in fact he got the very last ticket. Scott had been to Neil’s previous signing on Friday and so he gave his ticket to Mich who had missed out. She was so happy and declared him her new hero giving him a big hug. I was also happy because with a two book signing limit Mich agreed to take my book and get it signed for me, which meant I could go to the Patrick Rothfuss reading instead which was on at the same time. A double result!
From here we went down to ‘Tim Horton’s’ on the ground floor shopping level for an intake of caffeine, well tea for me, I’m English don’t you know. While we were queuing up Mich captured this fabulous picture of Scott [image: image23.png]



World without the Internets – Oh Noes!
After breakfast everyone split up and went somewhere different. Mormont was not that upset about missing out on the tickets since he also had been to the Friday signing and from here he went to join Paedar to assist with his Children’s Writing Workshop. Mich went to another Cory Doctorow panel called No User Servicable Parts Inside which was about technical gadgets, while I went to this panel about how the world would cope if the Internet were to suddenly stop working.
I thought this might be an interesting panel but sadly it never really caught fire. It did get a bit more interesting when the third panellist finally arrived about 15 minutes after the start because he had once worked for Google and so had a bit more in depth knowledge about the structure of the Internet and what it would take to make the net stop working altogether. The panellists tried to come up with plausible scenarios for how and why the net would stop and what effect this would have on society. I left after about 40 minutes to go to the meeting point because I would rather not miss saying goodbye to someone just leaving instead.
Paedar’s Children’s Writing Workshop

Meanwhile in one of the small rooms down the end of the convention centre Paedar was holding a Children’s Writing Workshop where he was ably assisted by Mormont. They only had two kids dropped off by their parents, two sisters about 10-12 years of age and rather than Paedar needing to give instruction and advice they told him what they were going to write and how it would be. Paedar told me he was so impressed with their confidence and their ability. For such young kids they had a great understanding of the kind of story they wanted to write and how to go about doing it. I think he was able to give them some useful advice and who knows maybe one day these girls will grow up to be successful writers themselves.
Blue has a coffee with George and shows off her scrapbook
Back at the meeting point there was nobody leaving just yet but with not a lot else on at this time quite a few people had gathered here including Blue who had her scrapbook with her. She showed it to Luga who was very jealous saying “I totally want to start scrapbooking cons now!” You can see Pod flicking through the scrapbook here. A few minutes later George walked by and we convinced Blue to show George her scrapbook so she went over to ask if she could and he said sure but he would have to come with her to ‘Tim Horton’s’ where he would be meeting Parris for coffee. Blue picked up her stuff and went off for coffee with George and Parris.

George and Parris were both very impressed with Blue’s scrapbook and after showing it to them she stayed a while longer chatting about the HBO show where she learned that HBO are angry about the casting news being leaked before they can make a big announcement about it themselves. This is all old news by now but they talked about casting choices and the difficulty of casting Bran. George also spoke about the contracts saying that for Jaime Lannister for example the contract will state that he is to be a series regular but will have season two almost completely off with the exception of just one scene.

While they were sat having coffee the editor of the ‘True Blood’ books came by and told them that after the HBO series came out the book sales shot up 2000%! She also said that HBO are backing a big line of merchandise for the show and that if ‘Game of Thrones’ is a big success George can expect the same thing. A pretty cool moment right there for Blue Rose.

After Blue came back many of us decided it was time for lunch and went to get food which we brought back to the meeting point to eat. It was lunchtime too for the man many of us were about to go see at his reading, Patrick Rothfuss, and he sat near our meeting point and we suggested he should come sit with us but Patrick told Scott he would prefer to have a few quiet minutes before the reading.
I did not realise it at the time but one of the other authors who would be at the reading was sat near Patrick as well, that was Michelle M. Sagara and when Patrick got up to leave for the reading she joined him and Blue Rose, Drac and I followed them. We took the escalator up to the next floor and just as we neared the top there was Pebble coming down beside us and she suddenly turned and sprinted back up the escalator damn near killing herself to get back to the top! We were all in fits of laughter as she breathlessly asked Patrick to sign a piece of paper for a badge design. After such a heroic act he had to agree and so Pebble was able to go get a badge made with Patrick Rothfuss’s signature included which I believe she gave as a present to Blue Rose.

After that we were kind of flustered and so just followed Patrick as he wandered off down the corridor on this floor speaking about stuff all the time. We were a long way down past the dealers room before Patrick suddenly realised we were on the wrong floor and needed to be on the next floor up. “Where are we going?” he asked, “We were following you” I replied, “Big mistake!” he said. But I knew there was an elevator just round the corner and so we squeezed in there to get up to the next floor. I took the opportunity to tell Patrick that I really enjoyed the two panels he did on Saturday they were both just so funny and it was at this point that he realised we were part of the BWB and he said he was sorry he could not make it to our party on Saturday night and that he might come and hang out with us later on if there was time.
Reading: Patrick Rothfuss
Panel: Kari Sperring, Michelle M. Sagara, Patrick Rothfuss
Eventually we all arrived at the room where Patrick apologised for being late and making Michelle late in turn. Kari Sperring, who you might recall was the Celtic expert from the Werewolves of Brigadoon panel on Thursday, said that was perfectly OK and she was just thrilled to be reading her work on the same panel as Patrick Rothfuss. Kari also said she would be perfectly willing to just not read at all and let him do the whole thing. Michelle nodded her agreement to this plan, but Patrick graciously declined the offer saying he wanted to hear them read.
But the ladies still made Patrick go first and he got right into it reading the Prologue from the sequel to the best-selling ‘The Name of the Wind’. This is book 2 of ‘The Kingkiller Chronicles’ titled ‘The Wise Man’s Fear’ which Patrick tells us will be out …. some time after it is finished. He is still working on the book and would not be drawn into a discussion on when it will be finished. I have spoilered the below paragraph so highlight the text and change its colour to white if you want to read about the prologue.
SPOILER

The Prologue opens on day two of Kvothe’s telling of his life story to Chronicler. As the innkeep Kote he is trying to talk the Blacksmith’s boy into not joining the army and reveals his true identity to him and that if he wants to the boy can listen in to the rest of the story he is telling. Naturally the boy does not believe him but does play along with it for a few minutes before laughing it off as a joke. He says that everyone has attempted to tell him secrets or offer him a gift if he will not go join the army but he is determined to go. I suspect that by the end of Day 3 everyone will completely believe that Kote really is the legendary Kvothe. The prologue ends with Kvothe sitting down at the table after the boy is gone ready to continue the story.
It was a short reading and both Kari and Michelle were saying “do carry on, read the rest of the book please” but he said that was the only part he had with him so he turned the podium over to them but they both preferred to read sitting down.
I believe Michelle went next, she writes under the surnames “Sagara” and “West” and sometimes “Sagara-West” and has a huge bibliography of works to her name(s). I am actually ashamed to admit I had never heard of her before this because she was really lovely and is a much longer established author than say Rothfuss even if she has never received the kind of attention that his first book did. Michelle did have a few fans in the room who were pleased to hear her read from ‘City of Night’ the second book in the ‘House War’ series that she is currently working on. She read very well even if I can’t recall a single detail of what she read as I write this review four months after the event.
On her Livejournal Michelle had some nice things to say about Kari’s reading, which was next. Kari Sperring is much more than just an expert on Celtic history, she was inspired to become a fantasy writer after reading ‘The Three Musketeers’ as a teenager and has even written a non-fiction book about the history of the real Musketeers entitled ‘The Four Musketeers: the true story of d'Artagnan, Porthos, Aramis and Athos’. She recently released her first full novel ‘Living with Ghosts’ but today she read from a children’s story that she is currently working on which was entertaining and lively. The story is about two talking ferrets that are dealing with a troublesome witch whom they bite in order to steal her magic and transform themselves into humans. It was both funny and charming and, as Michelle said, very well read with cute voices for the two ferrets.
With some time to spare the ladies demanded that Rothfuss use up the remaining time with a couple more short readings. First he read a poem he has written about love and then he read a letter which was originally published in his College Newspaper about an incident that occurred when he was living in college dorms regarding Patrick keeping pets. This is the same letter he read at Worldcon last year and I recall that when George heard that Rothfuss had read something he wrote at college instead of his new book George said “and people didn’t lynch him?” But it has to be said the short stories and letters that Patrick carries around in his file for readings like this are very entertaining and one day hopefully they will be compiled into a book for everyone to enjoy. When Patrick asked the audience if they would like to hear this letter both Blue and Drac pointed out that he read it last year but it was well worth hearing again.
The letter is about one of the hall administrators who demands Patrick get rid of his pet hamsters and having no choice he agrees, and then proceeds to do nothing of the sort. When this jobsworth administrator comes back to complain that no action has been taken Patrick argues that the hamsters are gone and that these two adorable fluffy rodents in this cage are in fact “fish”, because apparently fish are allowed under the rules and Patrick argues that if fish are acceptable pets then why are hamsters not acceptable? When the administrator argues further Patrick proves they are fish by picking one up and putting it into a fish tank that has been bought for just this purpose and proceeds to hold the hamster underwater. “See it is a fish” he said. He keeps the hamster underwater, unmoving and unwavering in his conviction until the hall admin caves in and accepted that they are in fact fish. The way the letter had been written and the way Patrick read it made it clear that this cruel treatment of animals is not something he condones and perhaps never really happened in the first place. But it was very entertaining and comical and while I have completely spoilt that now for everyone you should still hear him read the letter because he puts so much dramatic effect into the way he reads that you will still enjoy it.
After the reading Blue, Drac and I go and hassle Patrick Rothfuss a bit more and he reveals that he has in fact not read ‘A Song of Ice and Fire’ at all, ever! He says he will definitely read it but not until after finishing ‘The Wise Man’s Fear’ since he fears his writing style might be influenced if he was to read it while working on his book, a wise man indeed. Patrick says he may come and join us at the bar later on and with that we leave him in peace.

Cultural Memory – aka The Blair Witch Panel
Panel: David Anthony Durham, Geoff Ryman, Blind Lemming Chiffon, Patrick Nielsen Hayden
At the same time as the reading above and the signing below there was this panel. Now I don’t believe any of the BWB was at this one and I only heard about it while researching Worldcon for this report but it will go down as one of the most surreal and bizarre panels in Worldcon history so I thought it should be included here. Some people thought it was a joke, maybe it was a set-up for a hidden camera TV show, perhaps it was just a convergence of bizarre spirits, but this panel definitely went wrong though none are sure how and so it has been nicknamed “The Blair Witch Panel”.
The biggest problem is that there was no assigned moderator for this one and nobody had prepared anything for discussion. You might think that Patrick would make a great moderator, perhaps authors David and Geoff could step in to establish order, but no what happened is that Blind Lemming Chiffon stepped in and took control. Not to be confused with ‘The Lemmings of Discord’ who distance themselves from Blind Lemming Chiffon as far as humanly possible, Chiffon is a folk singer and musician and as he himself said “I have no clue how I ended up on this panel”. And so Chiffon took it upon himself to take over the panel and invited David Kushner from the audience up to be the moderator but he wasn’t really in charge because Chiffon bogged down every attempt to get the discussion going by interjecting and attempting to sum everything up and getting it wrong.
At one point as Chiffon is trying to sum things up Patrick Nielsen Hayden appeals to a higher power for help. As they are still trying to define the topic and the terms of the discussion David and Geoff look concerned. As things get further out of control Patrick looks at Blind Lemming with a look of “is this guy for real?” Then Geoff Ryman touches his forehead before putting his head down on the table in exasperation. Despair sets in as the panellists start to look hopeless and trapped.
At this point Blind Lemming Chiffon has a grand plan to get things back on track and invites one of his friends from the audience up, she is a Filker who has written a song that he believes will clarify his argument that has so far eluded the other panellists. As the guitar comes out Patrick decides he has had enough and bolts for the door. In his defence he had been feeling ill and at that time decided he did not have enough civility to politely deal with the situation anymore. As the song goes on many audience members make their escape. There was a video of the entire song on Youtube but unfortunately it has since been deleted which is a real pity. At one point an audience member asks “is this some kind of tradition?” another replies “no this is not tradition, this is surreal!”

To their credit David and Geoff stay till the end of the panel although I believe they wish they had escaped with the others when they had a chance. Geoff tired to get some shape back to the discussion but unfortunately mentions race in the process which prompted one woman from the audience to stand up and drive things further off topic by saying she does not “see colour at all” and then proceeds to follow this up with all sorts of offensive, prejudiced comments, complete with some body jive and the mention that although she grew up in LA she has since escaped to Alaska...
There is a pretty good discussion of all this on David’s Blog and on Katherine Kramer’s Blog where she summed everything up neatly with her photos. I almost wish I had been there myself to witness the train wreck.
Signing: Neil Gaiman
Meanwhile Mich was meeting all sorts of strange and interesting people in the queue for the Neil Gaiman signing. She got her copy of ‘Good Omens’ signed with the set up line “To burn strike match here” – now she just needs Terry Pratchett to fill in the other half of the joke. When I met up with her afterwards she said that she did not get my copy of ‘Neverwhere’ signed because she had asked Neil to sign her cleavage. I actually believed her for a moment but relieved to discover she was joking.
Dealer Room Bargains

So we are all back at the meeting point, about an hour before George’s reading. Blue Rose had been intending to leave at this time but when we found out her flight was still hours away we convinced her to stay for the reading and leave straight afterwards because she would still make the flight. That was the plan for lots of people and so they went back to their hotels to finish backing and bring their luggage down here so that they could go straight outside to take a taxi to the airport.

It was at this point that Drac told me he had just gotten the most awesome deal from the one dealer upstairs who had a good selection of books. Hardcover copies of Wild Cards book 1-8 for just $80! All of them already signed by George and in good condition too. So jealous! Determined not to miss out on a potential bargain I went up to the dealers room hopeful to find a hardcover copy of ‘A Game of Thrones’ and there was one at $40 offered with 25% off. Right beside it was a hardcover copy of ‘Hunter’s Run’ at $15 and so the dealer offered me both books for $40. Bargain! I happily paid the money which now completes my set of ‘A Song of Ice and Fire’ in hardcover which makes me happy. Of the two ‘Hunter’s Run’ was not signed so I decided I would try to get it signed after the reading to save me bringing it out again some other time.
Back at the meeting point and it is time for some goodbyes. Not everyone had the time to stay for the reading and so we had to say goodbye to Drac and Kat now. More emo-ness.
Reading: George R.R. Martin
Everyone decides that we should go reserve seats ready for what the sign claims as “the Ultimate program item” – George’s reading. So we troop upstairs to the room to discover the front 2 rows are already gone. Limecat, Pebble, MG, Luga, Pat and Scott take a nice central position in the third row with Paedar, Soph, Mentat, Blue Rose and Mormont behind us. In-between Paedar and Soph sat a girl in a purple shirt that was at the reading on her own and she asked us in a scared voice “are you altogether?” to which Paedar replied “Yessss, join ussss.” I’m not sure she was amused.
A group of boarders including Mich, Tenalpia, Tyria and Mr Tyria take seats right in the back row, the “bad kids” as they put it and I will tell you about their surreal experience of the reading later.

Meanwhile down at the front we are posing for a photo opportunity for Pebble when Paedar decides to get in the frame and literally runs in from the side jumping across me, Luga and Pat. It was an awesome photo but man it really hurt! Paedar does not look it but he really weighs a lot, I guess that extreme diet he is on really is justified! (Sorry dude could not resist the dig [image: image24.png]


 )

George arrived late for the reading but the large crowd waited patiently for him. George says hello “Nice to see so many grim survivors here today.” He goes on to complain that he has not seen a single moose all weekend and that since we are in the great white north, the land of snow he has brought a very snow filled Bran chapter for us today.

Both myself and Pebble were taking notes throughout but had I known that someone else was going to do a much more thorough and better job of this than either of us I would not have bothered. I am sure most people have by now read the summary Jughead of the Round produced which you can read in the Bran 1 Spoilers Thread. I think the only detail I had in my notes that Jughead missed was that Hodor “Hodors” less often when he is cold and when he does it is more like “Hod-d-d-dor”. Anything involving Hodor just amuses me.

However something that has to be said and this applies to both Jughead and Caligula K who were both at Worldcon, both at the reading, and both failed to attend the BWB party, and both failed to say hello to any of the rest of us. Clearly you deserve negative reputation marks for this grievous error. Honestly we are a friendly bunch and not scary at all you would have been most welcome to join us. A good lesson for everyone to learn: if you are going to be there, stop by and say hello.
Something I did write notes for which Jughead did not cover is the Q&A session at the end of the reading. George fielded eight questions in all:
1. What is the title of this piece you’ve just read? Honestly can you believe someone genuinely asked this question? George was completely taken aback for a moment because he assumed that everyone would know what it was. “That would be ‘A Dance With Dragons’ book five of ‘A Song of Ice and Fire’, you know that series I’ve been working on for 37 years, the book that refuses to be completed. I will complete it in this lifetime.”

2. What is the hardest part to write? “That God damned Bran chapter” George jokes. He goes on to mention the Myreenese knot but does not give out any specific details.

3. Can you tell us about the HBO TV series? George says that the pilot show of the series will begin filming in October at the Harland & Wolff Painthall Studio in Belfast with additional shooting in Morocco and Scotland. He goes on to mention the parts already cast and that everything is going well at the moment.
4. Lugajetboygirl asks this question on behalf of Yagathai – The name Lyanna comes up several times in your work, like in ASOIAF and in ‘Hunter’s Run’ and in various other forms such as ‘A Song For Lya’, is there any reason for this? “I just don’t know many names.” George jokes. He goes on to say that sometimes he has real trouble with names and when he is writing uses placeholders like “character1” “character2” and will at a later date go through and search & replace them once he has the names figured out. Sometimes he will just sit and think “what the hell do I call these fucking mountains?” and it will take a long time to find the right name. The name of a thing is important and it has to sound right, for example George thinks “Shadowfax sounds like the name of a copy service.”

5. What will be the structure of the HBO series with regards to viewpoints? George says they will probably just cut between viewpoints as you would expect. They have not eliminated any of the major characters and plotlines which helps, but ultimately the number of episodes that HBO order will dictate how much would need to be cut. George goes on to say that this series if picked up will set a record for the number of regular actors on contract. He just hopes the “kids won’t grow up too fast” because that is something out of their control.

6. Will Arya appear in ADWD? Yes for a couple of chapters. The majority of the book features Tyrion, Dany, Jon Snow and Bran of course.

7. What will your involvement in the HBO series be? George replies “not that much but more than Ursulla Le Guin was in Earthsea”. He says that he really trusts that David and Dan know what they are doing and won’t suddenly have an episode with a guest appearance by Xena Warrior Princess or something crazy like that. “Love Xena, but not in my show” George said. Someone asks about Lucy Lawless and he replies yes maybe Lucy could be cast as someone but not Xena.

8. What do you do for fun? “Getting drunk and chasing women.” [image: image25.png]


 “Many years ago I caught one.” George goes on to say that since 1971 he has been attending conventions like this one and this is what he really enjoys, “it’s like a family reunion” and he makes new friends every year. George hopes he will see many of us again next year in Australia.
The Flosser!
Let’s take it back to the reading and to the back seats where the “bad kids” are sat watching in absolute disgust as one man is flossing throughout the reading! That’s right The Flosser is Montreal’s answer to Denver’s The Tickler, but perhaps nowhere near as funny or gross. Still it was pretty gross because he held the length of used floss above his head afterwards playing and flicking it so anyone sat close to him would have got plaque in their hair – ewww! The most amazing thing about this is that Mich was sat almost directly behind him taking photos of The Flosser in action. Tenalpia even shot a video of it but I don’t believe this has yet been posted on Youtube.
After the reading was over everyone congregated outside in the corridor while a huge queue of people went forward to speak to George and get their books signed. I waited until the queue had died down a bit and went back to get ‘Hunter’s Run’ signed. While I was there I asked George if he ever reads chapters aloud to himself at home. He said “No, but I should do really because it is a good way to pick things up that don’t sound natural.” The entire reason I had asked was because when he reads the whole thing flows together so naturally and I had been really struck by that again at this year’s reading. I was just about to make this very point when Parris said “You can read to me if you like!” You know it is quite shocking that he does not read to her, in fact I don’t think he even lets Parris read the chapters until they are finished. So you see even sleeping with the man will not get you closer to finding out what happens in the end!
Just then Pat comes over and he asks to take a photo of George and Parris together. Despite the fact that Pat’s Fantasy Hotlist is the blog George recommends as the best out there these days Pat is still just a big fan at heart. Parris offers to take the picture so Pat can be in it but I step in and take the camera so that Pat can join them instead.

Back outside the room and George comes over to speak to the group of BWB members stood in a circle to say goodbye to those leaving and to invite those staying to join him at The Intercontinental Bar across the street for drinks. He asks how many of us are coming to Australia next year and only Mich said “Yes me!” so she has no excuse and has to go now, whatever happens. While we are stood there Patrick Rothfuss wanders by heading for the main auditorium where the Closing Ceremony is just getting underway. He asks where we will be afterwards and says he will join us at The Intercontinental Bar later on.
And so more goodbyes, Blue Rose, Mormont, Paedar, Luga and Scott all left at this point to start their journeys home. Some longer and more difficult than others, Scott’s journey I think wins this year’s most nightmare travel story.

Drinks at the Intercontinental Bar
The bar was quite busy when we arrived, mostly with various people from the Con, George was in conversation with Cory Doctorow at one table. We found some empty comfortably big benches in the small lounge area adjacent to the bar. The Intercontinental Bar operates a waiting service rather than a typical bar service so we had to wait to be served and our waitress was particularly useless. She only brought drinks through one or two at a time and forgot some orders altogether so it took ages for us all to get served.
While we waited we passed the time by taking plenty of photos. Here is Mich, Mr Tyria and Tyria – you can also see Cory Doctorow to Mich’s left which makes her swoon. In this next one is Soph, Mentat and Pod, then there is MG and Pebble, and lastly Tenalpia and Ghost of Nymeria. A short time later Patrick Rothfuss arrived and in this next picture you can see him talking to Pat while Limecat is Schwanking in the foreground.

It was at this point that GoN said she “had her eye on” me because of all the things I had included in my York Report that she was unaware I had overheard. Tenalpia agreed saying “Yeah I could not believe it, “Tenalpia said this, Tenalpia said that” and I’m thinking did I? And how did you remember?”  Can I help it if you say funny and interesting things? Shortly after this GoN and Tenalpia both left so they could go and gossip somewhere I would not overhear them talking. I do hope this will not become a trend otherwise I will have nothing to write about, although given the ridiculous length of this report that might not be a bad thing…
Given the length of time it took to get the first drink we decided not to have a second and it was time for Limecat to leave to catch his train back to Toronto anyway. I would be seeing LooN again anyway at the BWB meet-up in Toronto on Wednesday but everyone else said goodbye, see you next year.

We made plans to meet up for dinner later on but before then I needed to move my bags out of the Delta Hotel and take them across town to Pebble’s Hostel so that it would make things quicker and easier for the morning. Thankfully Pod did not mind and on the way back I picked up some money from the ATM to settle up the cost of the room with him. Pebble came with me because she needed to recover Silverstar’s Head who had spent the night in Pod’s bed – the hussy! The only thing is that meant Pebble Steps all the way there, then all the way back to the old town to drop my bags off at the hostel, and then more Pebble Steps all the way from there back past the convention centre and to the downtown area where the restaurant we would be eating at was located. It will be no surprise to you that we were about half an hour late. 
Dinner at Boccacinos
Pebble and I arrived at Boccacinos to find Mich, dajamieson, Pod, Soph, Mentat and Bastard of Godsgrace sat on a table out on the pavement. Because we were last to arrive it meant we ended up right on the end so we were sitting about a foot away from the edge of the street, cars busy passing us by. Then it started to rain. Nice. Fortunately it was only a little light shower and stopped soon after.

When it came to ordering I asked for a steak but with a jacket potato [US translation: baked potato] instead of chips [US translation: fries] because I had had a lot of those this week. Now I asked for a jacket potato thinking no more of it but the waitress had no clue what I was talking about and I was not thinking straight. Pebble rescued me to say “baked potato” and Mich was quick to say “Awww, a jacket potato, a little potato with a jacket on, how cute!” Its a mistake that could have happened to any Brit abroad!
After our drinks arrived and while waiting for our starter platter we had a woman come up to our table and she said “Please…” and that was as far as she got as Mich on the other end of the table from me held her hand up to stop her and firmly said “No.” The impressive thing about it was that Mich had her back to the woman so could not have seen her coming and she just knew straight away that she was begging for money without even looking at her. The beggar went on to try another table but with no more luck so moved on down the street.

Our starter platter arrived and we made it through that before it started to rain again, a bit heavier this time. We relocated to a table inside and upstairs where nobody else was sitting to have our main course which was a much more comfortable setting I have to say. The food was good and we had a lovely last meal with friends, talking about various things we had done at the con, flights home and Pebble and I going on to Niagara Falls tomorrow. After the dinner we asked the waitress to take a photo of us all, the last of the hangers on.
Fortunately the rain had stopped by the time we walked back to the Delta Hotel. At this point we said goodbye to Bastard of Godsgrace, dajamieson, Soph and Mentat. Pebble also said goodnight to everyone because she was going to bed but it was still quite early so I would be coming back for the Dead Dog Party after walking Pebble back to the hostel, like the fine gentleman I am. I believe I only complained about the Pebble steps two or ten times on the way. We pulled out the sofa-bed and arranged some sheets for me before I left the hostel to walk at proper Mountain Goat Pace back to the Delta Hotel one last time.
The Dead Dog Party
The party on the last night of Worldcon is named The Dead Dog Party because there are only a few people left in town and they are pretty much partied out by this point so it is usually a very low key affair. There was an official Dead Dog Party on the 28th floor but we did not go to it, instead those of us left just hung out in Pod’s hotel room.

I still had my keycard so let myself in, immediately giving the keycard and my money for the room to Pod. The other hardcore hangers on were Tyria, Mr Tyria, Tenalpia, Mich and of course Pod. We talked and drank for an hour or so.

Mich and I compared the photos on our cameras, well my camera, her iPhone. She considered this one of Tyria and Mr Tyria as a strong contender for ‘Cute Couple Pic of the Con’ but I countered with this one of Turinqui Calima and Mr TC but that was disqualified due to being taken pre-con in New York. I then tried this one with Soph and Mentat but it had Kat in the frame which also made it invalid. However I finally trumped Mich with this “two-fer” cute couples shot with both Tyria & Mr Tyria and Soph & Mentat. Awwww!
While flicking through the photos I noticed something odd that made me laugh. Everyone came over to see what I was laughing at. It was these two photos of Paedar waving his arms that were taken at the Tor Party on Thursday night. Flicking quickly between the two on the iPhone made them look like a quick and funny animation. Tenalpia suggested that they should be combined into an animated gif for Mich’s avatar which is exactly what she did. The pictures did not quite line up right so it took her ages to crop and rotate them so that they sat over each other neatly to get the effect right but it was well worth the effort!

All too soon the Dead Dog Party was over and everyone said goodnight and goodbye. I would see both Mich and Tenalpia one more time before going home at the BWB meet-up in Toronto on Wednesday evening, but for everyone else it was see you next time. We all went our separate ways and I walked back across the quiet and almost deserted streets of Montreal back to the hostel. It was kind of eerie.

I had heard that Pebble and Blue Rose had been woken up by a street cleaning machine every morning while they were staying at the hostel and as I got closer I could hear the loud hum of such a machine in the area. ‘Are they cleaning the streets at midnight?’ I wondered. So I turned the corner and there it was, directly in the middle of the street right outside the hostel. This was no mere street cleaning machine – this was a huge stinking truck with an industrial vacuum directed straight down into the sewers. That’s right they were not cleaning the streets up they were cleaning the sewers out and clearly this is done on a daily basis in old Montreal. So if you’re ever thinking of staying in that part of town keep that piece of handy travel advice in mind.

I went indoors to discover that when the vacuum is on sucking up all that shit from the sewers the entire hostel shook and vibrated in rhythm with it. Frankly I was amazed that Pebble was still asleep but she did not stir when I came in. I got ready for bed but with all that noise there was no way I could sleep. I tried to close the shutters only to discover that one of the panes of glass in the windows was not there anyway so the shutter was not going to make any difference. Eventually they stopped and the truck left. Peace at last. Then the vacuum started again shaking the building, but less this time, not as noisy because they were on the next street over. This continued for about another hour or so, the noise of the shit sucker fading the further away it got. Some time after 2 am I was finally able to sleep and thus ended my Worldcon 2009.

Post Con: Niagara Falls and Toronto

Tuesday 11 August 2009

Pebble was up and showered before me. When she went down to the hostel kitchen to make some breakfast I had my shower and got dressed. We packed up our luggage and called a taxi. We got tired of waiting for it and started to make our way up the side-street to the main road to hail another when typically our taxi arrived. It is quite a long drive out to the Montreal airport and despite the roadworks we arrived in good time for our flight. I had skipped breakfast earlier at the hostel so I bought a muffin at the airport. Pebble tried to get on the Internet from the departure lounge but was not prepared to pay for the luxury since our flight was about 20 minutes away from boarding. I read some more of ‘The Scar’ on the hour long Air Canada flight to Toronto. We landed and picked up our luggage with no problems.

The only thing we did have some problems with was the hire car. Pebble hired it through some cheap Internet company and we had to guess which desk we had to ask at for it. Fortunately we guessed right first time but unfortunately they had not received the booking and so they did not have the car we ordered ready. But they did have something similar, a black Toyota Yaris, which we could take. It took a while to sort out all the paperwork and we needed to email them later on with the booking reference number for their records, but finally we got out of there.

Just so you know, yes Pebble did all the driving. I did pass my driving test way back when but have never really been able to afford a car before and well I've just never really needed one. This would not have been a good time to re-learn the art of driving. So Pebble did what she could to get comfortable: moved the seat as far forward as it goes, moved the steering wheel down to its lowest setting, unpacked her booster seat cushion and padded seatbelt shoulder strap. In this position she could just about see over the steering wheel and also still reach the pedals with no need for blocks on the bottom of her shoes. Impressive!

I was on navigation and while looking at the map to see where we needed to go once we got out of the airport Pebble took a wrong turn and we made a second circuit around the airport's one-way car park system. But after that we were fine and soon heading south-west out of the city on the 403. What amazed me was the sheer number of vineyards we passed. It felt like we went past a sign for a vineyard and winery every few hundred metres. The one that stood out was ‘Wayne Gretzky's Vineyard’. What the heck does he know about making wine? But I guess he has to spend his money on something.
Lunch at Niagara-on-the-Lake

Eventually we turned off the 403 onto the Queen Elizabeth Way, crossing the ‘Burlington Bay James N. Allan Skyway’ and heading south east along the shore of ‘Lake Ontario’. More vineyards. We were getting hungry and decided to stop somewhere along the way for some lunch before getting to Niagara Falls. Niagara-on-the-Lake sounded nice so we got off the QEW. I will admit we got lost a few times on the way there, but the map I was using did not have all these smaller roads on so it was not as easy. There were a couple of occasions I needed to remind Pebble to drive on the right-hand side of the road instead of the left. An easy mistake for a Eurocommie to make once off the highway and driving on smaller two way roads where one needs to turn at junctions. Eventually we found the main road into Niagara-on-the-Lake. Queen Street is the main high street and is a pretty place with touristy shops and a little clock tower in the middle of the road.

We assumed there might be a place to eat down by the lakeshore but when we got there we could not find anywhere like that. We parked up in one place that looked likely. There were lots of hotties wandering around in bikinis which I approved of, but sadly there was no restaurant. It was a place for Jet Ski and boat hire or something like that. Anyway, the funny thing was that when we went to get out of the car Pebble accidentally set the car alarm off in the middle of the car park making everyone turn around and look at us like we were weird. We were laughing too hard to figure out the problem straight away but quickly figured out that it was something to do with the key not being removed properly. Then as we pulled out the car park and turned at the next crossroads I had to again remind Pebble to drive on the right as we were heading towards an oncoming car! She did not need any further reminding after that.

We drove back the way we came and parked up in a little street just off Queen Street. We were really hungry by this time so we just went into the first place we came to and luckily it turned out to be a good choice. ‘Shaw Café Bar & Grill’ has had some bad reviews on Google but we both thought it was a really great place to eat. Lovely food, pretty good service and a nice patio area. Alright the lunch menu was quite a limited selection and we both chose the chicken breast on spinach and potato salad, but it was delicious, hot chicken with a yummy cold sauce. It was just what we needed and really hit the spot.

After that we wandered up the street a bit and went in a few touristy shops. We didn't buy anything in the end but there were some things which caught my eye a little. We went back to the car and then accidentally drove round a housing estate for a bit before finally finding the main road back out of the town. Eventually we found our way back to the QEW and it wasn't long after that when we arrived in Niagara Falls itself.
Niagara Falls

Funny thing about the city of Niagara Falls, at first its like you are driving through a normal bland urban sprawl and then you turn a corner and suddenly its like you are in Disneyland or Las Vegas. We drove past elaborately garish casinos, restaurants and shops on the way along the road that takes you right past the Falls. So our first view of this incredible natural wonder was while driving slowly past on the road maybe 40 or 50 metres away to our left. A completely breathtaking sight I assure you.

However, before enjoying it fully we needed to find our hotel. We had thought we could get to it from this road but did not realise that the hotels are actually at the top of a steep hill on the opposite side of the road to the Falls. So we drove quite a distance around to find a way back onto the hill but after that had no trouble finding the ‘Days Inn’ motel we would be staying at. After checking in Pebble set up her laptop and we managed to steal some Wi-Fi Net access from the unsecured network of the hotel across the street so that we could send an email with our booking details to the car hire company. While online we could not resist logging onto the board to let everyone know we were in Niagara Falls and well to be honest what happened is that we got distracted by reading everyone's fabulous Worldcon reports. For about two hours. Yup, that's right, instead of walking down to see one of the most breathtaking sights in the natural world we sat in a hotel room reading stuff on the Internet. But in our defence I say that this board really can be quite addictive at times. Therefore I have decided that in future I will not organise extra trips after Worldcon, I will get all my touristy stuff over and done with before the con and that way I can get home and get stuck into writing up my own report sooner. This way maybe I will not be still writing it four months later...

Around 7 pm we decided it really was time to go down to the Falls and maybe find some dinner. Because of the steep hillside there are two ways to get from the hotels to the Falls on foot. You can either walk a mile or so around using a footpath or pay to ride the Vernicular Train. If I had been on my own I would have probably walked it but using Pebble Steps this would have taken a long time. So we paid the money and rode the train down to the bottom getting some great views of the Falls from this height. From here there is a bridge which takes you over the road and straight into the Visitors Centre.

We both bought Niagara Falls Adventure Passes for $40 which give you free access to four of the major attractions, plus money-off vouchers for several other places and also free use of the train and bus service for two days. Would have been nice to find that out at the top of the hill. It was definitely worth the cost and if you go this is definitely what you want to do rather than paying for everything separately. Even with the adventure pass you still need to book for a couple of the attractions because there is a limit on numbers for them at any one time. It was too late for ‘Maid of the Mist’ or ‘Journey behind the Falls’ so we had a choice of ‘Whitewater Walk’ or ‘Niagara’s Fury’. The ‘Whitewater Walk’ is actually a couple of miles down the river from the ‘Horseshoe Falls’ while ‘Niagara’s Fury’ is an attraction built right inside the visitors centre so we went for that one tonight, planning to do the other three tomorrow. In the end we never did make it to the ‘Whitewater Walk’.

We had about half an hour to wait before our booked time for ‘Niagara's Fury’ so we walked out the back of the visitors centre and witnessed the real fury up close for the first time. We also got soaked in the fine spray that is constantly in the air over the Falls. When the sun is shining there is almost always a rainbow in the sky which is why the bridge that connects Canada to the USA is called ‘The Rainbow Bridge’. The Canadian side definitely has the better view because you have the complete view of the ‘Horseshoe Falls’ and the ‘American Falls’ which is to the left of ‘Goat Island’ which sits between the two. Goat Island is on the US side so we did not visit to see if there are any actual goats there. From the US side you only have a side on view of both waterfalls. Check out this beautiful image I found which shows all of this in a view from the top of one of the hotels on the Canadian side.
Niagara’s Fury

Eventually our booked time drew close and we went back into the visitors centre and into ‘Niagara’s Fury’ where we were given plastic raincoats, so we knew we would be getting wet at some point in here. But in the first room we were shown a 10 minute cartoon which tells the story of the creation of The Falls through the eyes of a lazy beaver doing a class assignment for school. The wise owl teacher gives him a hard time for never finishing his work on time but luckily for the beaver he finds a magic book in the library which transports him back in time to the last ice age where he meets a herd of friendly woolly mammoths playing ice hockey on the frozen river. What have you never seen a mammoth playing ice hockey before or something? Just then the ice splits beneath their feet and while the mammoths are whirled away in the water (presumably to drown, nice eh?) but the beaver escapes thanks to the book which is being carried by an owl that is telling the story for him. I wish my school days had been that exciting.

The beaver is now a few thousand years later and meets a friendly bear. The owl explains that they are standing right where the Falls will be but at this point in time the river is flat and slopes gently down to Lake Ontario. However, a catastrophic collapse took place during an earthquake, something that would have only lasted a few hours but this carved out the channel that becomes the Horseshoe Falls and also redirects the course of the river causing a further landslide a couple of miles downriver which forms the ‘Whirlpool’. “Oh that will never happen” declares the bear just as the earth starts shaking and rumbling. “Is it happening now?” says the bear stupidly. Again the beaver is running but this time the bear escapes with him through the magic book and ends up just a couple of hundred years ago to see the Falls pretty much how they look today. The Falls are constantly eroding the rocks around the rim and constantly moving it further back. They have actually moved back a surprisingly long distance in just the few hundred years that man has been observing them in fact. The beaver leaves the friendly bear behind and is transported back to the present where he finishes writing his assignment on the Niagara Falls and earns the approval of his teacher the wise owl. Awesome fun, yeah...

But the second room was genuinely awesome fun.

The second room was circular with a black metal grille platform in the middle of the room suspended six inches over a pool of shallow water which fills almost the entire floor of the room. The platform has hand rails for supporting oneself due to the fact that the platform moves a little bit by pneumatic motors. There is a moot of water around the edge of the room and the walls themselves have a 360 degree wrap around screen which starts at about 7 foot off the ground and is about 7 or 8 feet high itself. Pebble and I took our places and secured our ponchos wondering just what we had let ourselves in for.

The lights dim and the show starts. The screens show the hills around Niagara and a caption tells us this is 20,000 years ago and then we fast forward to the start of the Ice Age, snow covering the landscape all around us. Fans in the ceiling blast freezing cold air down on us and there is snow. It is fake snow to be sure but a fake snow of very fine ice that looks and feels right. The children in the room with us are delighted.

As we know from the video in the previous room the next big event that shaped the Falls is the end of the Ice Age. The platform shakes and the sound of breaking ice and roaring water fills the room. Water is pouring from an opening just beneath the 360 degree screens and is pouring down the walls into the moot. Water is sprayed from above covering the crowd to screams of shock and laughter. Then peace returns for a brief while until we reach the final event, the earthquake that causes the collapse forming the Horseshoe Falls we know today. Again the platform shakes and masses of water, much more than before, pour down the walls and in fact come from higher up this time, pouring down over the screen as if we are stood inside our very own Niagara Falls. Without the ponchos we would have been absolutely soaked! The platform shakes hard and it is as though we really can feel the fury of Niagara. Totally awesome!

After the show the doors on the opposite side we entered from open and we leave, depositing our wet ponchos into bins just outside. We are back in the shop and exit out the back of the centre to have another good look at the real thing itself.

It is dark now and so we get to experience Niagara in a whole new way. When the sun goes down dozens of huge searchlights are switched on and these are directed onto both the Horseshoe and American Falls. Colour filters over the lights change every few minutes lighting the falls up in a beautiful rainbow of colours. It really is absolutely spectacular and we both took dozens of photos trying to capture the moment but I don't think the pictures are really able to do it justice. This is one of those you need to see it for yourself things. We walked slowly along the path downriver from the visitor’s centre stopping regularly to look at the new selection of colours and taking pictures of the best combinations.

Eventually we realised we were absolutely starving and in need of food so we went to pretty much the first restaurant we found on the opposite side of the road. It was an all-you-can-eat buffet style place with foods from around the world. I have to admit it certainly was a wide selection of food and we could have as much as we wanted for a ridiculously cheap price. A pity then that the food was disgusting. Full of fat, you could literally taste the fakeness. It did fill the hole in our stomachs but I do wish we had found somewhere better to eat that night.

We walked back towards the visitors centre using Pebble Steps, taking some more photos along the way. It was quite late by this time so we went back through the centre passing this display of a Mountie’s uniform – this was as close to a Mountie as we came all holiday. There was quite a long queue for the Vernicular Railway and we had to wait 20 minutes or so to take our two minute train ride up to the top of the hill. Back at the motel we could not resist checking the board again to see what others were saying about Worldcon. Everyone was still emo about the end of the con and missing everyone. Eventually we settle down to sleep because we wanted an early start in the morning.
Wednesday 12 August 2009

An early start which did not materialise but not because we failed to get up on time. In fact we were up, showered and off to breakfast well before 10 am. We went next door to Perkins Diner since we could get part of our breakfast free due to a deal the motel has with the diner. We were more than a little greedy having pancakes, full cooked breakfast, toast and tea, oh and I also had a milkshake. The sausage, bacon and tea were free. The problem was our waitress was an older lady who, as she admitted herself, had a bad memory and forgot to put our order in straight away. We also had to ask her three times for some maple syrup once our pancakes finally arrived. As a result breakfast took way longer than it should have done and we had to rush back over to the motel, pack our stuff and check out. We should have checked out at 11 but it was about 15 minutes late when we did, but fortunately that was not a problem for the friendly receptionist who she said that in fact it helped her out because it was so busy around 11 when everyone else was checking out.

We packed our luggage into the boot [US translation: trunk] of our rental car which we left parked in the motel car park while we made our way back down to the Falls with the intent to fit in as much as possible while we were there. I think we arrived at the Vernicular Railway right at the busiest time as well so we had to queue up and wait for the train to take us down to the bottom. The first thing we did was sign up for ‘Journey Behind The Falls’ but the soonest we could get on that was about two hours time so we decided to take the bus downriver to check out ‘Maid of the Mist’ before that. When we got there we discovered you don’t need to book for the boat trip but the queue was rather long and we were not sure whether it would be possible to do that and get back to the visitor centre in time for our booked time on ‘Journey Behind The Falls’. So instead we decided to take the bus further downriver to see the Whirlpool.

The best way to see the Whirlpool is to take the cable car which travels right out across the oval shaped bowl, directly above the whirlpool itself. From the cable car you can see upriver to the Whitewater Rapids, the most deadly rapids in the world apparently and downriver to the power station and the Niagara Valley beyond. Very beautiful. The cable car does not have another station on the other side, it goes out and then it comes back. They organise the people on board so that everyone on the outside rails of the car moves around to the opposite side for the ride back so everyone gets a fair chance of seeing everything. Those people on the raised platform in the middle of the car have to stay there. While they can see over the heads of those around the side they cannot look straight down at the churning turquoise waters of the Whirlpool. During our ride we saw a big power boat with some people on it come into the whirlpool bay from downriver and spin around in the turbulent waters. Then it took off upriver battling its way up the rapids. That must be pretty fun but you would be terrified of falling in, even with a life jacket on that river is pretty dangerous.

Journey Behind The Falls

We were lucky to catch a bus immediately departing back upriver. It’s about four kilometres from the Whirlpool back to the visitors centre and we got there just a couple of minutes after our booked time for ‘Journey Behind The Falls’. Even with a booked time you need to queue up for a good 30-40 minutes in order to get into the elevators that take you down to the base of the falls level. They have four elevators and you can fit maybe 8-10 people in each one so it is kind of slow going but there really are thousands of people taking the trip every day so it is not too bad when you consider that fact. While queued up they take every group's picture in front of a green screen which you can buy a print of for a vastly exorbitant fee. They also give out some nice yellow ponchos. Most people put the ponchos on straight away but there really is no need for them until after you get out of the elevator down below. The hall where we queued up was filled with the rustle of plastic ponchos.

At last we reached the front of the queue and took the elevator down deep inside the rock. From here a long damp corridor leads off towards the base of the falls. This corridor leads to a viewing platform that sits right beside the Horseshoe Falls. Before you reach the platform there is a corridor off to the right which leads to two short viewing corridors which actually open out directly behind the Falls. There is a secure fence blocking the corridor off about five or six metres away from where the roaring barrier of mist is formed by the water constantly bombarding the rocks. Along the corridors are several poster boards with various interesting facts that you can read while waiting for all these yellow ponchoed people to get out of your way.

We went down the viewing corridor first and were surprised to discover that even with all the water moisture in the air you don't really get that wet here. For a while I thought it was a bit ridiculous that they gave out the ponchos for this, but then we went out onto the viewing platform and got absolutely soaked. Viewing platform makes it sound like some flimsy temporary structure but this is actually a very solid concrete area with a think concrete balustrade which sits right next to the Falls. In fact I would say you get closer to the Falls and get wetter from this than you do on the boat trip ‘Maid of the Mist’ which we would be taking later on. Pebble had brought her waterproof plastic camera case that she uses for diving so she could get some really good photos of the Falls without her camera being destroyed.

Eventually we went back into the main corridor and queued up again to get the elevator back to the surface. We spent some time in the gift shop here and bought some souvenirs and gifts for friends and family back home. I bought a fridge magnet. This is starting to become a habit with me on holiday now. The more I travel the more fridge magnets I acquire. We left the visitors centre and while waiting for the bus took a few pictures from the riverside above the ‘Horseshoe Falls’ and someone kindly took a photo of Pebble and me together. Once the bus arrived we travelled back downriver to the ‘Maid of the Mist’ stop.

Maid of the Mist

We joined the queue for the ‘Maid of the Mist’ boat trip. The other queues we had been in so far were very orderly but this one is a bit of a scrum at first for some reason. It may have been a long queue which winds its way down the tower for a couple of levels to the elevator floor but it moves steadily. The reason for this is the sheer number of people they can cram onto each boat. Several hundred people each trip and with two boats operating on both the Canadian and American sides of the river there is a constant stream of ‘Maids’ bearing people right up into the mists of Niagara Falls. The elevators here are much newer and bigger than the ones used for ‘Journey Behind The Falls’. There are six of them and they each hold about 20 people which also helps keep the queue moving. Once out of the elevators there is another corridor leading down towards the quayside. On the way there is another green screen photograph booth and this time we had blue ponchos bearing the logo for the ‘Maid of the Mist’. Pebble kept her yellow poncho from earlier, stuffing it inside a plastic bag. This time we both decided to keep our blue ponchos as a souvenir.

We got down to the dock and were ushered towards the boat. I was hoping they would stop us before we got there because I could see all the best places on the foredeck of this one were already full but unfortunately we went straight on and had to settle for a place by the railing on the aft deck. This was a mistake and we would have been better off at the front of the lower deck because we ended up a long way from the Falls and did not experience the mist to as great a degree as those at the front. Maybe it was a good thing we did not get so wet this time, my shoes were only just drying out from the ‘Journey Behind The Falls’. From the boat we got our best look at the American Falls and the ‘Maiden’s Veil Waterfall’ where couples traditionally propose marriage and in fact you can also get married there if you so desire. The boat then heads into the mists of the Horseshoe Falls where it holds its position for a few minutes, fighting against the waters with its engines on full throttle. I thought the rear of the boat might be swung around at the end but when the engines cut out the boat just drifts around and back downstream to be guided around into place behind the next ‘Maid’ leaving to bear people into the mists. Before disembarking a kind couple took this great picture of me and Pebble with the American Falls in the background. Before leaving our Maid I noticed this smaller ‘Little Maid’ boat, so cute!
We climbed back up the hill to the elevators where we had to queue again for a few minutes. There is a lovely big map on the wall here that shows all the attractions that Niagara Falls has to offer. I like maps. We were still kind of full from our big breakfast this morning but decided it would be nice to have an ice cream about now so after we got back to the top we found a cafe and bought ourselves a nice treat. But it took quite a while to queue up and get what we wanted. While eating the ice creams we walked back to the bus stop and there was a bus waiting but we could not get on with food so we decided to wait for the next bus, after all they had been pretty timely all day long, right?  Wrong as it turned out in this instance. We ended up waiting a full 45 minutes for the next bus. It was about 5 pm and the traffic was bad and unfortunately they had less buses on today than normal. Those ice creams cost us well over an hour in time and to make matters worse Mich sent me a text message while we were waiting there to say she was leaving work now and was on her way to the place we were meeting tonight in Toronto! We were definitely going to be late...
Race against time to get back to Toronto

At long last the bus arrived and it was slow going through all the traffic back to the visitors centre. This was one time where I really wished to go faster than Pebble Steps pace but there is only so fast that Pebble can go without her Heeleys on. It didn't matter much because there was an enormous queue for the Vernicular Railway. Another 40 minutes slip away while we are waiting. Finally at the top we hurry back to the motel. I take the keys and go on ahead of Pebble to open the car, use the toilet in the motel and refill my water bottle for the journey. When I get back Pebble is settled in the driver’s seat and we are ready to go.

We miss our junction on the way out of Niagara Falls thanks to the innovative idea of having the road sign pointing to the QEW being right on the point of the junction and being very small too so it cannot be seen from a distance. Has the idea of a road sign 300 yards before a junction never occurred to Canadians or something? We have to drive around the block to come back to the junction and finally we are heading out of Niagara Falls. It is just after 6 pm. Tenalpia and Mich are already at the bar waiting for us to arrive and Pebble is on a charge. We were going at about 120kph the whole way back along the QEW and 403, the 200 kilometres distance passing by in a blur. We keep getting text updates from the bar “where are you?” “Limecat has arrived now.” “When are you going to get here?” We keep on motoring.

As we started to get closer to downtown Toronto I look at the map and try to figure out how to get to our hotel. I know it is very close to the ‘CN Tower’ so we follow directions there and drive right past the base of the tower. A couple of minutes later we drive right by our hotel, ‘The Caledonian Hotel’ and lo and behold there is a parking garage right there too. We know it will cost but it is the closest car park to the hotel and unfortunately they don’t offer free parking. We get our luggage out of the boot and find our way to the exit. Back on street level we are a bit turned around and it takes a couple of minutes to find our way back to the hotel. No problem checking in. We get to our room on the 3rd floor and literally just dump our stuff inside, closing the door and going straight back out the front door.

Across the street from our hotel we take a taxi because it is the quickest way to get there since neither of us knows the city. The taxi driver gets us on to Yonge Street and at this point we are at about address number 40 or so and we need to get to 1180 for the bar we are meeting at. Man this is a long road, in fact we later learn that Yonge Street is the longest road in the entire world at a staggering 1,896 km. Well that is not entirely true since a large part of it is a cross country freeway but it is certainly a bold claim to make and I don't blame the Torontonians from making it. Fortunately we only needed to go 3 or 4 kilometres down the road but it took about 10 minutes or so and cost about $20 Canadian Dollars, but nevermind we were finally here. Two and a half hours late but we're here.
Mini BWB Meet up in Toronto
Tenalpia, Mich and Limecat were nicely drunk when we find them sat out the back on the very nice patio and are laughing so hard they barely notice Pebble and I standing there. After saying hello we gratefully take our seats and relax. Apparently we nearly lost the seats. The staff did not believe we were going to show up and Mich and Tenalpia had to work hard to convince them we would. Food and drink is ordered and we share stories of what we have done since the con in Niagara Falls, getting back to Toronto and for the unlucky two, Mich and Limecat, their return to work. Mich tells us that people have been making fun of her for failing to find the railway station in Montreal on Tuesday morning. She had to ask for Pod’s help in the end because she could not find it! But I told her that was not that bad, after all those of us on the Party Train struggled to find our way out of the station when we first arrived last Wednesday!

I can't remember all of the funny things Limecat said that night but he was great company as always. Tenalpia was drinking a clear whiskey drink served in a jar with a straw. It looked like pure moonshine and there was lots of it. We did talk about some of the nightlife in Toronto and both Limecat and Mich mentioned this crazy club which has a bar with built in mood lighting that changes as you touch it. The entrance to the place has glass boxes to either side in which performers dance for everyone coming into the club, it is by all accounts “freaky.” For a joke I said “Excellent, I need something to do tomorrow night.” To which Mich said “Yay! We're going clubbing!” I think she actually meant it [image: image26.png]


 

It was after 11 pm when we eventually left the place. We said goodbye to Limecat who was parked close by and the rest of us walked two blocks down to the metro station. Pebble and I agree to walk the rather drunk Tenalpia back to her hotel and Mich stays on the subway to get back to Union Station where she has to catch a train that will take her back to the town where she lives. She is keen to point out that she does not actually live in Toronto and only works there. It will be 1.30 am by the time she gets home and 6.30 am when she gets up to come back for work the next day, but Mich barely sleeps anyway so she will be fine.

As we are walking back to Tenalpia’s hotel we notice the ‘CN Tower’ all lit up, it looks beautiful against the backdrop of the night sky. Tenalpia's hotel is right in the heart of a busy nightlife district and I ask her how she will get to sleep amidst all this noise. She replies that she has had six or seven jars of whiskey and will sleep like a baby. We say goodnight and she promptly turns around and almost walks straight into a parked car! Damn, that must have been some good moonshine! She walks unsteadily across the street and Pebble and I continue our Pebble Steps walk back to our hotel. Again we follow the beacon of the ‘CN Tower’ and after what seems like hours we find ourselves back in our hotel room where we settle down for the night with absolutely no intention of getting up early in the morning.
Thursday 13 August 2009

For once we stuck to our intentions and it was about midday when we left the hotel in search of breakfast, well more lunch than breakfast to be honest. We went to a place just down the street called ‘Cassey’s Restaurant’ where we took advantage of their “Burger Thursday” specials. Very enjoyable. The previous night Mich had recommended that we don’t go on the ‘CN Tower’ tour because it is expensive and there really isn't much to see except the lake and the city which are both kind of flat and uninteresting - great tourist advice there! Instead she suggested we go on the ‘Hippo Tour’ of Toronto because it is fun and we would see much more of the city. We asked our waitress in ‘Cassey’s Restaurant’ where the office is because we knew it was somewhere close by and she said asked around and nobody else on the staff there knew where it was. When we left the restaurant we turned left and the Hippo Tours office was less than a block down on the same side of the street. How on earth could they have not noticed it there before?

Anyway we bought the last two tickets for the next tour and we had just under an hour to kill before the tour started so we went back to our hotel room to drop stuff off, pick up cameras and stuff. By the time we got back to the office the Hippo Bus had arrived and we were at the back of the queue and the last to get on. This meant we had to take the front seat on the right hand side which did not have the best view out of the side windows but we did get a good view out of the front window, or I did at least, not sure Pebble could see past the seat where the guide would be speaking from. Our guide was a cute and funny girl who really did a good job of making the tour fun, despite the obviously lame jokes she frequently told. I could see a copy of “1001 Jokes” sitting on the dashboard so I knew where she got them all from. I believe she was either married to or at least dating the driver, or Captain as he became out on the water, and together they made a good team. Captain Kassey both looked and sounded like Otto from ‘The Simpsons’! [image: image27.png]



The Hippo Tour of Toronto
The tour starts of on Front Street and passes the ‘Fairmount Royal Hotel’ which we learned has a floor specifically reserved for the Queen of England to stay in when she is in the city (which can’t be that often). Further up the street we went past the ‘Ice Hockey Hall of Fame’ where we turned onto Yonge Street. This is where we learned that Yonge St. is the longest road in the world and was originally intended as an escape route out of the city that leads directly away from the lake and as far inland as possible. These days Yonge Street is mostly shops and bars and clubs offering ‘escapes’ of a different kind if you take my meaning. Further down the street towards the centre of the city the shops became more typical of what you would see in the city centre with fashion boutiques and chain restaurants. We went past the popular and busy Dundas Square where concerts and performance artists regularly appear. This is where Melissa Auf der Maur performed recently as I mentioned during the section on her concert at Worldcon.

We turned left off Yonge Street onto Gerrard Street and then onto University Avenue where there are three very highly respected hospitals, ‘Toronto General’, ‘Princess Margaret Hospital’ and the ‘Hospital for Sick Children’. Our guide went through some of the breakthrough medical treatments pioneered at these institutions and while I can't recall a single one of them now I do know that Toronto has a lot of great medical achievements to be proud of. The Hippo Bus features an hydraulically operated hatch over the engine cover which is designed to let some air in to cool the engine a little but since it has been painted to look like a hippo’s mouth the driver can use it to effectively wave at people on the street and whenever we drove past a group of kids the driver would happily wave the Hippos mouth at them in greeting.

We then drove around ‘Queens Park’ where our guide tells us that they have annual rallies in support of the legalisation of certain herbal substances which both she and the driver attend. They both simultaneously raise their fists in salute on the two or three times she mentions their support of this cause. Past the park we go past the ‘University Faculty of Toronto Law’ and next door to that the ‘Royal Ontario Museum’ where they currently have a special exhibition of the ‘Dead Sea Scrolls’. I promptly decide that’s what I will be doing with my last day of the holiday tomorrow morning. As we drive past the front of the museum our guide tells us about the awesome angled windows. They had originally intended to use glass but they found this was not good for the exhibits inside and so at enormous expense they constructed the panes of these windows from crystal and trace amounts of diamond to protect the valuable artefacts inside. An impressive sight indeed!
We turned on to St George Street at the ‘Bata Shoe Museum’ where they have thousands of pairs of shoes on display from some of the oldest shoes in the world right up to some of the latest fashions and styles. We went straight on into Beverley Street going past the ‘Ontario College of Art & Design’ which has an interesting looking building and then turned right onto Queen Street. This is the fashion district of the city and as you would expect there are lots of small high end fashion boutiques and brand name outlets. We drove past the world famous ‘Horseshoe Tavern’, the scene of many legendary concerts from bands like ‘The Rolling Stones’, ‘The Police’, ‘Etta James’ and ‘The Ramones’.

We turned off Queen Street going south on Strachen Avenue heading towards the lake. We go past the ‘Canadian National Exhibition’ which is the park where the hold ‘The Ex’ one of the largest annual fairs in Canada, and head on down to the lake shore. This is where the Hippo Bus turns into a boat and goes for a short voyage into Lake Ontario. We only go out into an area behind the breaker walls around ‘Ontario Place’ and the ‘Molsom Amphitheatre’ so there is no danger of choppy waters. Captain Kassey takes his bus driver hat off and puts his Captains’ hat on. They run through a checklist while we sit on the slipway facing the water after which the guide tells us we need to “encourage the hippo to get in the water” - yes we rolled our eyes but joined in the chant of “Go, Hippo, Go!” anyway. The captain drove the bus at speed into the water sending a wave of water up over the bonnet and the front windscreen earning a “wooo!” from all the passengers. There is a large jet of water being sent up into the air here and we saw many people kayaking beneath these strange cubelike buildings which are built right out over the water. While we were in the water here we saw a big black sailing ship go by heading for the harbour and the guide joked saying it was a pirate ship. She also said that since Kassey is now officially a captain he can preside over marriage ceremonies on his boat but nobody takes them up on the offer.

While the Hippo Boat made its tour of the waterway the guide got off the mic and came around to take pictures for everyone and chat with the passengers. She took this nice pic of Pebble and me. It was quite amusing when she asked a large group of folks whether they were on holiday here - they said “yes”, the guide asked “so where have you travelled from?” and they said “nowhere”. It turns out they are a large group of retired Torontonions who had never taken the local Hippo Tour before, quite unusual I should think. We soon turned around and went back the way we had come going back past the ‘Molsom Amphitheatre’ which has a balcony out the back of where you can often see the music performers and artists hanging out before and after their shows there. On our way out of the water we pass another Hippo coming the other way and I caught this great picture of it passing by. As we exit the water we stop for a few minutes looking across towards ‘Alexandria Yacht Club’ and we can see this fantastic view of the Toronto skyline.

We are on the way back to the Hippo Tour Office now but not before going past the ‘CN Tower’ and the ‘Rogers Centre’ or the ‘Skydome’ as it used to be called. The guide tells us about the hotel attached to the ‘Rogers Centre’ and relates a well known story about a couple who were staying there and thought that the suite had one way mirrored glass. During a nationally broadcast baseball game they were in the bedroom, without closing the curtains, having what they thought was a very private good time, I mean really going for it by all accounts, but one of the cameramen zoomed in and the “action” was shown for the whole world to see. Days later after that incident a man was viewed masturbating in full view of the public and so now the hotel makes patrons in the rooms with field view windows sign a contract stating they will not perform “any lewd acts in view of the stadium”. Someone on the hippo bus joked that maybe our guide and the driver were the couple involved but they laughed and said “we wish, we would be rich by now after suing the TV station!”
So back where we started we get off the Hippo and thank our driver and guide for the good job they’ve done. At this point we should have probably gone and done the ‘CN Tower’ tour anyway but instead Pebble said she had to leave soon for the airport so we went and sat in the hotel bar for a bit. Pebble sent Blue Rose a text message while I enquired whether Mich would be coming over to join us soon. She said yes in about an hour and so Pebble and I went upstairs so that I could have a nice hot shower and Pebble could pack her bags and read some of ‘The Inferior’ which she was greatly enjoying. Unfortunately that shower was very hot and I was still really sweaty when I came out, too sweaty to put a shirt on to be honest and so I sat on my bed trying to cool down. Which is when Mich knocked on our hotel room door, nice timing. Both Mich and Pebble decided to take photos of me sat there on the bed which is where the rumours of topless photography came from. Sadly I was the only one topless though! I did manage to talk Mich into deleting her copy of the offending photograph but I believe I may need to raid Pebble's home to ensure her copy is also obliterated from existence...

It turns out Pebble had loads of time left before her flight so Mich talked us into going out to a bar or restaurant for a while and we decided a drink and some dessert would be nice since we were both still full from the big dinner we had earlier on. The first place we tried was ‘Loose Moose’ which was obviously a big mistake, we were not impressed with their menu or the huge array of bras hanging from a rail above the bar (some of us less so than others I should point out). I imagine later in the evening that the place becomes very loose indeed. Instead we went to a place just a bit further down the block past the Hippo Tours office – ‘East Side Mario’s’ which Mich tells us serves some of the finest desserts in the city. Why didn't you tell us that in the first place! Pebble has a three scoop ice cream sundae, I have a vanilla pannacotta while Mich goes for the huge and insanely delicious Funnel Cake. Basically this is doughnut mix that has been forced through a funnel into a big lattice shape, covered with ice cream and fresh cream. It was huge so I helped finish it off and man it was so good [image: image28.png]



Goodbye to Pebble

And now it was time to say farewell to Pebble. We went back to the hotel, picked up her luggage and took it down to the car. We all got in so that we could point Pebble in the right direction and Mich and I would walk back a few blocks afterwards. The car park was expensive and I paid for that, but Pebble would likely have to pay as much to refill the car's fuel tank. I believe when she reached the airport she failed to find a fuel station and so took the hire car back not fuelled up so I suspect they billed her for it at a later date. From the car park we turned right on to Front Street and went past the Hippo Tours Office and ‘East Side Mario's’ before we arrived at Spadina Avenue where Pebble needed to turn off to reach the freeway that would take her to the airport. We said goodbye as Mich and I jumped out and waved from the curb as she pulled away.

Despite her threat of taking me clubbing tonight Mich was not really dressed for it and so we walked. And walked. And walked. And walked some more. We walked all along the lakeside promenade, past the boats and yachts tied up along the harbour, through a couple of parks before eventually turning back towards the city. We talked about a whole bunch of stuff, nothing that needs repeating here, except that we talked for a bit about going to Australia for Worldcon next year. I teased Mich about the fact that she has already told George that she will definitely be going even though she can't be 100% sure she can afford it. I have to say that I would like to go as well so if I can afford the flight then I will make the trip. Would be nice to catch up with Stubby and Laoise (who I met in Denver last year) and meet the other Aussie and NZ boarders who will be at AussieCon. I would also like to visit Sydney, Ayres Rock, The Great Barrier Reef and maybe a few other places too. Mich wants to visit New Zealand as well but I am not sure my budget will stretch that far. We'll see I guess but I think anyone who is planning to go needs to start making plans now and have everything booked up as early as possible.

UPDATE: I met a few other Aussie boarders when I was in Ireland recently, Jamie Heron, Ace Jones and his girlfriend. Ace actually offered me a place to stay in Melbourne having only known me for about half an hour! Ace says he lives only 10 minutes away from the Convention Centre which sounds pretty handy. Might well take you up on that offer Ace, will let you know.

Back in Toronto we are still walking. Eventually we found a bar where we could sit down and I definitely needed to. I don't usually walk that far non-stop without even stopping for a drink of water. After having a drink we realised it was quite late and Mich had just missed a train so we would have to keep walking around till her next train at midnight. We wandered into the city and passed the time with a little more walking and talking. We had already arranged to meet for lunch tomorrow afternoon so I could drop by her work and get all the coins I had picked up from the BWB Book Raffle Prize Draw Thing exchanged into notes from their petty cash, so it was only goodnight and not goodbye when we reached Union Station. I was tired when I got back to my hotel room so I pretty much went straight to sleep.
Friday 14 August 2009

Up early again one last time to make the most of my last day in Toronto. I had breakfast in the hotel café, packed up my luggage clearing out the hotel room. I left my luggage in the hotel’s storeroom and I would pick it up later in the day. I asked about the airport bus service and discovered it goes from right across the street outside the ‘Fairmount Royal Hotel’ and went across the street to buy a ticket before heading down to Union Station to take the Metro to the Museum. Toronto's Metro system is basically a huge U shape with Union Station at the bottom of the U. The line we took back from the BWB meet on Wednesday is the right side of the U and today I took the left side up past the Universities and Hospitals to The Royal Ontario Museum. As I mentioned during the Hippo Tour coverage the front of the building is actually crystal not glass which protects the artefacts better.

When I got in I discovered that I needed to book a time for the Dead Sea Scrolls exhibit and the next available slot was at 11 am, so I had about an hour to wander through the rest of the museum and decided to start with the Japanese exhibits on the ground floor. They had swords and suits of armour, huge beautiful screens and this very long lovely scroll drawing of an Emperor's army on the march. They did not even have enough room in the long cabinet to display the entire thing. I was quite taken with this reconstructed Chinese pagoda and with this transported stone archway.
The Dead Sea Scrolls

Way before 11 am I noticed that there was a huge queue of people forming in the main entrance area for the Dead Sea Scrolls. I joined the queue at about 10.50 but was a long way back so it was more like 11.30 by the time I made my way down the stairs to the basement level where the exhibition is kept at very low light and temperature levels. Understandably there are very strictly enforced rules for not using photography of any kind around the scrolls but I think I would have liked to take some pictures of the exhibition of artefacts, maps, models and stories about the finding of the scrolls and what they mean that visitors must pass through to reach the area where the scrolls are actually displayed.

The extra entrance fee for the Dead Sea Scrolls exhibit did include a fairly substantial book about the scrolls which I was impressed with, usually these things are more like pamphlets but this was a proper book with a lot of interesting information in it.

For those unaware the Dead Sea Scrolls consist of around 900 documents, including texts from the Hebrew Bible, discovered between 1947 and 1956 in eleven caves in and around the Qumran Wadi near the ruins of the ancient settlement of Khirbet Qumran, on the northwest shore of the Dead Sea. The texts are of great religious and historical significance as they include some of the only known surviving copies of Biblical documents made before 100 BCE. Around 40% of the manuscripts are termed as “biblical” because they were later included in the canonized bible, while 30% are “Apocryphal” non-canonized psalms, and the remaining 30% are “Sectarian” writings that speak to the rules and beliefs of various groups of people. Many of the scrolls are controversial because of their dramatic differences in language and content from that which appears in the canonized Bible which has prompted scholars to reconsider the once-accepted theories for the development of the modern Biblical text.

There were a lot of people moving slowly through the exhibition so it took well over an hour to get to the area where the scrolls are but it certainly was not a dull hour by any means. As I said there were plenty of information and artefacts from the archaeological digs and the discovery of the caves, or should I say rediscovered since it was clear that someone had found them many years before and ransacked them. Many of the scroll cases were damaged and the scrolls themselves torn apart and scattered. Over the course of many months and years archaeologists carefully sifted the caves picking up all the pieces they could find which were painstakingly reassembled by Hebrew, Aramaic and Greek language experts, like the most difficult jigsaw puzzle you can possibly imagine with shapes that don't match and no picture on the box lid to guide you.

Unfortunately during the early days of the reconstruction period the language experts they called in were working in very hot sunny rooms and were smoking while they worked all of which contributed to further damage to some pieces. It was from this experience that scientists learned not to expose delicate parchment to such harsh conditions and quickly developed the technology and guidelines for appropriate care that we take for granted these days. It might seem obviously stupid to us now but at the time they just did not know what they were doing. Work still continues today on identifying and reconstructing the scrolls which takes place in hermetically sealed temperature controlled environments.

The Royal Ontario Museum had 9 scrolls on display at the time of my visit, each in its own separate display case laid out haphazardly within a darkened circular room which was definitely cooler to the rest of the exhibition. Each display case had thick glass over its delicate contents illuminated by soft light inside. One of the things that really struck me about the scrolls is the size of each piece, they are very small and some of the fragments are tiny, some only a few millimetres across. They are so delicate and brittle it is easy to see why many pieces were so easily damaged and lost. The amount of effort that has gone into their restoration and care is obvious to see when you look at them and very impressive.

The other thing I noticed about the scrolls is that the writing itself is so small and delicate and in some of the best examples is still really bold and colourful on the parchment. Other pieces are faded and can barely be seen and sometimes you get a combination of vivid and faded text together where they were separated and subjected to different levels of exposure. As for the content of the writing itself well I can’t read Aramaic but thankfully they have English (and French) translations for each scroll on the backboard above the heavy glass display case. The board also details which cave the scroll is from and when it was found. I am no expert on Biblical texts so can't really give an opinion on that, but it is still quite an amazing thing to look upon the oldest known writings of their kind and you can't help but wonder what the writers knew then that we don't know now.

In some ways there was not actually that much to see of the actual scrolls since this was only a small sampling of the complete collection but I did think it was a good exhibition well worth seeing. It was about 12.40 at this point so I realised I had maybe another hour or so to look around the entire rest of the museum so I trooped up the stairs to the second floor because I wanted to make sure I got to see their Egypt displays since anything Egyptian fascinates me. It was at this point that I received a text message from Mich asking me to “come and rescue her from a boring meeting she was stuck in”. Unfortunately for her I did not want to leave so soon because I knew there would not be time to come back to the museum later in the afternoon so I replied to say I would be about another hour or so. It was closer to two hours in the end but ya know these things happen.

The centrepiece of their Egyptian display is a long case containing a copy of ‘The Egyptian Book of the Dead’ which is a funerary text of hymns, spells and instructions for passing into the afterlife which would be placed within the coffin or burial chamber of the deceased. It should be noted that the name is a modern term for it (well 1842 is quite modern compared to how old these documents are) and that most copies of these ancient manuscripts differ greatly in their content. This copy was in very good condition with some sections retaining strong vibrant colours, though I don't know if they were brought out by restoration or not. There are fragments that are missing or illegible but the helpful descriptions in English beneath help to explain the significance of the images and text displayed.

From here I turned left into the Greek collection which featured lots of statues and marble friezes. I know it was lunchtime in the middle of the week but there was absolutely nobody else up here, not even a member of staff so I had the place to myself which was both nice and eerie at the same time. From here I wandered back across to the other side of the first floor where they had some medieval armour and weaponry on display.
Next I approached the front of the building where their dinosaur skeletons are displayed. Always cool to see the bones of some ancient beastie like this Stegosaurus, Triceratops, Pterosaur, Plesiosaur, Giant Turtle, Woolly Mammoth, Sauropod and of course a Tyrannosaurus Rex. I had a quick look through their South American and Pacific rooms before going down to the first floor where they have large nature displays with stuffed animals including a Rhinoceros, a Stag, a Wolf, all manner of birds and fish. I loved their woodland setting complete with deer and foxes. They also have a lovely bat cave with a huge colony of (fake) bats.

I was determined to check out the last two galleries on the ground floor with Canadian history and art. I took the Totem Stairs back down to the ground floor, admiring the two enormous totems standing in the middle of the two stairwells as I went. The ceiling of the ground floor area between the two galleries has this magnificent ceiling. The Canadian art gallery contained some lovely paintings of various scenes including these ones of Niagara Falls. The last gallery was about the Inuit natives of Canada and included this enormous roof beam support that had been hand carved and this piece of modern Inuit art.
My last Con Contact

I sent a text message to Mich to let her know I was now leaving the museum and on my way but it was too late to rescue her from the horrid meeting. I was not too sure where her office was but we arranged to meet outside ‘Chapters’ which I kind of knew how to find, even so I ended up going the wrong way once and having to backtrack to find it. Mich was stood outside the bookstore, nonchalantly leaning against the wall looking at her iPhone and did not notice me until I waved a hand under her face. Of course being this close to a bookstore we could not ignore it and so we went in. Mich wanted to see if they had the book which contained Neil Gaiman’s creepy love story that he read on Saturday. I was just looking and did not plan on getting anything but still walked away with two books, the second and third books in the ‘Mistborn’ trilogy by Brandon Sanderson which I had been meaning to get for some time having enjoyed the first one. My excuse is that they were still cheaper buying them here than from Amazon back in the UK.

After this we made the short walk to the office where Mich works and I was finally able to change all the coins I had taken at the BWB Charity Book Raffle Prize Draw Thing on Saturday night. A big thank you to Mich for her help here because otherwise I would have needed to go to a bank in Canada which would not have been as easy. I actually started throwing all my coins into the pile because of course you can only get notes changed at home. However, I discovered that my local Post Office would not accept the single $2 Canadian Dollar note someone had bought raffle tickets with in Montreal so this is now a souvenir of mine until such time as I return to Canada, provided it is actual real money of course and not a fake note…
We went down into the underground shopping precincts of Toronto to look for somewhere to have lunch. Mich made me pick a place and since I was feeling lazy I pretty much picked the first place we came to which was a plain old salad bar of some kind. Very strange for my meat eating self. But I had chicken with mine which was nice even if I did not eat much of the salad. Mich has been ripping on me ever since for that choice so she has decided that I am not allowed to choose where to eat ever again. Fair enough I suppose.

After we finished eating it was back to my hotel. I was completely lost when we exited the underground shopping tunnels and did not realise we were pretty much right by the hotel. I collected my luggage from the storeroom and went across the road to wait for the airport bus to arrive. Mich could have left me to go back to work but she decided to wait for me to leave saying that it was sad “my last con contact is leaving, it’s like the con is really over after this”, awwww, I'm getting all emo again. She took this last picture of me at this point and shortly after my bus arrived. We said farewell and talk to you on the Board soon. On the hour long bus journey to the airport, stopping briefly at a couple of other hotels en-route, I continued reading ‘The Scar’ which I did not quite manage to finish on my journey home.

The airport in Toronto is huge and it took me ages to walk from one end of the check in desks all the way to the opposite end to find desk 600 and something where I needed to check in for my British Airways flight. Once again I could not be seated straight away but thankfully this time instead of waiting around for over an hour as I did at Gatwick they were able to sort things out quite quickly and I was able to go through to the departure lounge with none of the hurry I had to back in London.

The flight home was okay apart from the toddler who decided that three hours into the flight would be a good time to start experimenting with his vocal chords. He was not crying, just shouting and enjoying himself mainly. Regardless this made it difficult to sleep or read so I watched a movie instead and chose ‘Wolverine’ from the vast selection available. What a God awful stinking movie, but anyway it passed an hour and a half. The kid had quietened down by this point and so I was able to read again until breakfast was served.

After landing I was able to retrieve my luggage, get through customs and make my train journey home without any difficulty. Needless to say when I got home around 9.30 am on Saturday 15 August I just collapsed into bed soon after and spent almost the entire remainder of the day asleep.

Postscript

And so finally I have reached the end of this monstrously long report. It was summer when I started work on it and now it is winter and there is snow on the ground outside. Some people might wonder why I invested so much of my time and effort writing this. All I can say is that it helps me to remember the good times and hopefully someone out there will appreciate the reminder of what we did in the summer of 2009. If you read through every page of this document you are a true hero and I salute you.

In conclusion I have to say it was a great convention and I can’t wait to do it all again next time. Maybe that will be in Australia if I can afford it, but if not definitely at Octocon 2010 in Dublin, Ireland and at Worldcon 2011 in Reno, Nevada. See you there!






